#### Elliptic and parabolic equations for measures

# V.I. BOGACHEV, N.V. KRYLOV, M. RÖCKNER

The article gives a detailed account of recent investigations of weak elliptic and parabolic equations for measures with unbounded and possibly singular coefficients. The existence and differentiability of densities are studied, and lower and upper bounds for them are discussed. Semigroups associated with second order elliptic operators in  $L^p$ -spaces with respect to infinitesimally invariant measures are investigated.

Bibliography 181 items.

AMS Subject Classification: 28E99, 46N30, 60H30, 60J60

#### Contents

Introduction	1
Chapter 1. Invariant and infinitesimally invariant measures	5
1.1. Elliptic equations for measures and existence of densities	5
1.2. Local properties of solutions	9
1.3. Some a priori estimates	18
1.4. Existence of solutions	21
1.5. Associated $L^1$ -semigroups	24
1.6. On non-uniqueness of solutions	33
1.7. Uniqueness problems	40
1.8. Global properties of densities	45
1.9. Lower estimates	51
Chapter 2. Parabolic equations for measures	57
2.1. A priori estimates	57
2.2. Local regularity	62
2.3. Upper estimates for densities	67
2.4. Harnack's inequality for parabolic equations	71
2.5. Lower bounds for densities	72
2.6. Fokker–Planck–Kolmogorov equations	77
Chapter 3. Infinite dimensional case	81
3.1. Equations for measures on infinite dimensional spaces	81
3.2. Properties of solutions	87
References	89

## Introduction

The goal of this survey is to give a systematic presentation of the results obtained over the last 10–15 years for elliptic and parabolic equations for measures, typical examples of which are the Fokker–Planck and Kolmogorov equations. This direction goes back to Kolmogorov's works [104], [105]. One of our principal objects is a second order elliptic operator

$$L_{A,b}f = \operatorname{trace}(Af'') + (b, \nabla f), \quad f \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega),$$

where  $A = (a^{ij})$  is a mapping on a domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  with values in the space of nonnegative symmetric linear operators on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $b = (b^i)$  is a vector field on  $\Omega$ . In coordinate form,  $L_{A,b}$  is given by

$$L_{A,b}f = a^{ij}\partial_{x_i}\partial_{x_j}f + b^i\partial_{x_i}f,$$

where we always assume that summation is taken over all repeated indices.

With this operator  $L_{A,b}$ , we associate the weak elliptic equation

$$L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0 \tag{1}$$

1

for Borel measures on  $\Omega$ , which is understood in the following weak sense:

$$\int_{\Omega} L_{A,b} f \, d\mu = 0 \quad \forall f \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega), \tag{2}$$

where we assume that |b|,  $a^{ij} \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ . If  $\mu$  has a density  $\rho$ , then  $\rho$  is sometimes called "an adjoint solution" and the equation is called "an equation in double divergence form".

Similarly, one can consider parabolic operators and parabolic equations for measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, T)$ .

A typical feature of the direction discussed in this survey is that equation (1) is meaningful under very broad assumptions on A and b: only their local integrability with respect to a solution  $\mu$  is needed. These coefficients may be quite singular with respect to Lebesgue measure even if the solution admits a smooth density. For example, for an arbitrary infinitely differentiable probability density  $\rho$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  the measure  $\mu = \rho dx$  satisfies the above equation with A = I and  $b = \nabla \rho / \rho$ , where we set  $\nabla \rho(x) / \rho(x) = 0$  whenever  $\rho(x) = 0$ . This is obvious from the integration by parts formula

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} [\Delta f + \langle \nabla \varrho / \varrho, \nabla f \rangle] \varrho \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varrho \Delta f \, + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle \nabla \varrho, \nabla f \rangle \, dx = 0.$$

Since  $\varrho$  may vanish on an arbitrary proper closed subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , the vector field b can fail to be locally integrable with respect to Lebesgue measure, but it is locally integrable with respect to  $\mu$ . Note also that in general our solutions cannot be more regular than the coefficients (unlike the case of usual elliptic equations). For example, if d = 1 and b = 0, then for an arbitrary positive probability density  $\varrho$  the measure  $\mu = \varrho \, dx$  satisfies the equation  $L_{A,0}^* \mu = 0$  with  $A = \varrho^{-1}$ ; in particular, for Hölder continuous A, our solution may be just Hölder continuous and nothing more (and for discontinuous A it may be discontinuous).

In this general setting, a study of weak elliptic equations for measures on finiteand infinite-dimensional spaces was initiated in [36], [37], [31], [32], [4], [38], [33], [39], [46], [47]. Actually, the infinite-dimensional case was even a starting point, which was motivated by investigations of infinite-dimensional diffusion processes and other applications in infinite-dimensional stochastic analysis; for example, related problems arose in stochastic quantization in the approach developed by A.I. Kirillov [99], [100], [101], [102] and in the theory of Dirichlet forms (see [125]). It was realized in the course of these investigations that even infinite-dimensional equations with very nice coefficients often require results on finite-dimensional equations with quite general coefficients. For example, we shall see in §3.2 that the finite-dimensional projections  $\mu_n$  of a measure  $\mu$  satisfying an elliptic equation on an infinite-dimensional space satisfy elliptic equations whose coefficients are the conditional expectations of the original coefficients with respect to the  $\sigma$ -algebras generated by the considered projection operators. As a result, even for smooth infinite-dimensional coefficients the only information about their conditional expectations is related to their integrability with respect to  $\mu_n$ , not with respect to Lebesgue measure; in particular, no local boundedness is given. The theory of elliptic and parabolic equations for measures is now a rapidly growing area with deep and interesting connections to many directions in real analysis, partial differential equations, and stochastic analysis.

Suppose that  $\xi_t$  is a diffusion process in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  governed by the following stochastic differential equation:

$$d\xi_t = \sqrt{2A(\xi_t)}dW_t + b(\xi_t)dt.$$

Then any invariant measure  $\mu$  of  $\xi_t$  satisfies (1) and the transition probabilities of  $\xi_t$  satisfy the corresponding parabolic equation. We draw the reader's attention to the fact that for the diffusion governed by the stochastic equation

$$d\xi_t = \sigma(\xi_t)dW_t + b(\xi_t)dt,$$

the generator of the transition semigroup has the form  $L_{A,b}$ , where  $A = \sigma \sigma^*/2$ . The vector field *b* is called the *drift coefficient* or just the *drift*. The matrix  $A = (a^{ij})$  in the operator  $L_{A,b}$  will be called the *diffusion matrix* or *diffusion coefficient*; this differs from the standard form of the diffusion generator by the absence of the factor 1/2 at the second order derivatives.

Measures satisfying (1) are called *infinitesimally invariant* because this equation has deep connections with invariance with respect to corresponding operator semigroups.

Let  $(X, \mathcal{B})$  be a measurable space and let B(X) be the space of all bounded  $\mathcal{B}$ measurable functions on X equipped with the sup-norm. We recall that if  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a semigroup of bounded linear operators on the space B(X), then a bounded measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathcal{B}$  is called invariant for  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  (or  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ -invariant) if

$$\int_{X} T_{t} f \, d\mu = \int_{X} f \, d\mu \quad \forall f \in B(X).$$
(3)

Such semigroups extend naturally to  $L^1(\mu)$  and are strongly continuous there in many cases, e.g., when they are given by transition probabilities of solutions to stochastic equations. Let L be the corresponding generator with domain D(L). Then (3) is equivalent to the equality

$$\int_X Lf \, d\mu = 0 \quad \forall f \in D(L).$$

Under reasonable assumptions on A and b, the generator of the semigroup associated with the diffusion governed by the indicated stochastic equation coincides with  $L_{A,b}$  on  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . As we shall see, invariance of the measure in the sense of (3) is not the same as (2). The point is that the class  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  may be much smaller than D(L). What is important is that the equation is meaningful and can have solutions under assumptions that are much weaker than those needed for the existence of a diffusion, so that this equation can be investigated without any assumptions about the existence of semigroups. On the other hand, there exist very interesting and fruitful relations between the two equations; such relations will be one of the central topics in this work.

In the first two chapters we shall consider the following problems on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (or, more generally, on finite-dimensional Riemannian manifolds).

1) Regularity of solutions of equation (2), for example, the existence of densities with respect to Lebesgue measure, the continuity and smoothness of these densities, and certain related estimates (such as  $L^2$ -estimates for logarithmic gradients of solutions). In particular, we shall see in §§1.1 and 1.2 that the measure  $\mu$  is always absolutely continuous on the set {detA > 0} and has a continuous density from the Sobolev class  $W_{\text{loc}}^{p,1}$  with p > d provided that the coefficients  $a^{ij}$  are in this class,  $|b| \in L_{\text{loc}}^p(dx)$  or  $|b| \in L_{\text{loc}}^p(\mu)$ , and the matrix A is positive. The assumptions  $|b| \in L_{\text{loc}}^p(dx)$  or  $|b| \in L_{\text{loc}}^p(\mu)$  on the drift are not at all always equivalent. For example, the first yields the positivity of densities of nonnegative solutions, and the second can hold even when the density has zeros (the case of a singular drift); it is interesting, however, that the local  $\mu$ -integrability of exp(c|b|) already ensures the positivity of the density. Global properties of solutions of equations with unbounded coefficients are studied in §§1.8 and 1.9, where certain global upper and

lower estimates for densities are obtained. We shall also obtain analogous results for parabolic equations; with respect to applications to diffusion processes, this means regularity of transition probabilities. The results about a priori regularity of solutions play an important role in many other problems related, for instance, to uniqueness and existence of solutions. Since we are interested in singular coefficients or coefficients of low regularity, we do not discuss at all the regularity problems for degenerate operators with smooth coefficients.

2) Existence of solutions to elliptic equation (2) and existence of invariant measures in the sense of (3) as well as the relations between the two concepts. In particular, we shall see in §§1.4 and 1.5 that under rather general assumptions, for a given probability measure  $\mu$  satisfying our elliptic equation (2) one can construct a strongly continuous Markov semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  on  $L^1(\mu)$  such that  $\mu$  is  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ invariant and the generator of  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  coincides with  $L_{A,b}$  on  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . For this, a condition simple for verification is the existence of a Lyapunov function for  $L_{A,b}$ . In the general case (without such additional assumptions), a bit less is true, namely,  $\mu$  is only sub-invariant for  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ . We shall see examples where this really occurs, i.e., where  $\mu$  is not invariant.

3) Various uniqueness problems; in particular, uniqueness of invariant measures in the sense of (3) and uniqueness of solutions to (2) in the class of all probability measures. Related interesting problems concern uniqueness of associated semigroups  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  and the essential self-adjointness of the operator  $L_{A,b}$  on  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ in the case when it is symmetric. These topics are considered in §§1.5–1.7.

First we concentrate on the elliptic case, to which we devote the whole first chapter. In the second chapter similar problems are studied for parabolic equations. The last chapter is devoted to a brief discussion of infinite-dimensional analogs of problems 1)–3). Unlike the finite-dimensional case, where most of the results presented are obtained in great generality (sometimes in maximal generality), there does not (and maybe cannot) exist any general infinite-dimensional theory. The results obtained so far in the infinite-dimensional setting apply to various particular situations, but it is very important that they cover many concrete examples arising in applications such as stochastic partial differential equations, infinite particle systems, Gibbs measures, and so on. Some of the finite-dimensional results are not valid in infinite dimensions, and the validity of some others (when suitably formulated) is still unknown. The infinite-dimensional case will be the subject of a separate survey; the purpose of the last chapter is mainly just to comment on some developments of infinite-dimensional methods, results, and techniques.

In this survey, we have used our own work (including our joint papers with a number of other authors, in particular, [24], [26], [30], [41], [42], [43], [48], [49]), as well as works of many other authors. Due to limitations on the size of this article, the list of references contains less than a quarter of the bibliography we collected. A number of new results are given with proofs. We are grateful for useful discussions to S. Albeverio, G. Da Prato, A. Eberle, D. Elworthy, B. Goldys, A.I. Kirillov, V.A. Kondratiev, Yu.G. Kondratiev, G. Leha, V.A. Liskevich, P. Malliavin, G. Metafune, D. Pallara, E. Pardoux, A. Rhandi, G. Ritter, S.V. Shaposhnikov, I. Shigekawa, W. Stannat, N.S. Trudinger, A.Yu. Veretennikov, F.Y. Wang, J. Zabczyk, M. Zakai, T.S. Zhang, and V.V. Zhikov. This work was supported by the RFBR projects 07-01-00536, 08-01-91205-JF, 08-01-90431-Ukr, 09-01-12180-ofim, and the SFB 701 at Bielefeld University.

# CHAPTER 1

# Invariant and infinitesimally invariant measures

## 1.1. Elliptic equations for measures and existence of densities

Throughout we shall use the following standard notation. The class of all smooth functions with compact support in an open set  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is denoted by  $C_0^{\infty}(U)$ . The class of all bounded functions on U with bounded derivatives of all orders is denoted by  $C_b^{\infty}(U)$ ; classes like  $C_b^2(U)$ ,  $C_0^2(U)$ , and so on are defined in an analogous way.

The term "a Borel measure  $\mu$ " will normally mean a finite (possibly signed) countably additive measure on the  $\sigma$ -algebra of Borel sets; the cases where infinite measures (say, locally finite measures) are considered will always be specified, except for Lebesgue measure. The integrability of a function with respect to such a measure is understood as its integrability with respect to the total variation  $|\mu|$  of the measure  $\mu$ ; the corresponding classes will be denoted by  $L^p(\mu)$  or by  $L^p(\Omega, \mu)$  in the case where  $\mu$  is considered on a fixed set  $\Omega$ . The notation  $L^p(U)$  always refers to Lebesgue measure; sometimes we write  $L^p(U, dx)$  in order to stress this. As usual, for  $p \in [1, +\infty)$  we set p' := p/(p-1).

The class of all Borel probability measures on  $\Omega$  will be denoted by  $\mathcal{P}(\Omega)$ .

Given an open set  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $p \in [1, +\infty)$ , we denote by  $W^{p,1}(U)$  or  $H^{p,1}(U)$ the Sobolev class of functions  $f \in L^p(U)$  whose generalized partial derivatives  $\partial_{x_i} f$ belong to  $L^p(U)$ . This space is equipped with the Sobolev norm

$$||f||_{p,1} := ||f||_{L^p} + \sum_{i=1}^d ||\partial_{x_i}f||_{L^p}.$$

In some places we also use higher-order Sobolev classes  $W^{p,k}(U) = H^{p,k}$  with  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , consisting of functions whose partial derivatives up to order k belong to  $L^p(U)$ , and fractional Sobolev spaces  $H^{p,r}(U)$ ; the notation with H will normally be used in the case of fractional or parabolic Sobolev classes. In a few places we use similarly defined Sobolev spaces  $W^{p,1}(\mu)$  with respect to a measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (in such cases the measure  $\mu$  has some additional properties, e.g., has a continuous positive density or a weakly differentiable density, so that the weighted Sobolev classes are well-defined, see, e.g., [22]).

The symbols like  $W_{\text{loc}}^{p,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $W_{\text{loc}}^{p,1}(U)$ ,  $L_{\text{loc}}^p(U,\mu)$  etc. denote the classes of functions f such that  $\zeta f$  belongs to the corresponding class without the index "loc" for every  $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(U)$ .

In expressions like  $a^{ij}b_i$  the standard summation rule with respect to repeated indices is meant. The inner product and norm in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  are denoted by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  and  $|\cdot|$ , respectively. The identity matrix is denoted by I.

Suppose we are given a locally finite Borel measure  $\mu$  (possibly signed) on an open set  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , a Borel vector field b on  $\Omega$ , and a matrix-valued mapping  $A = (a^{ij})_{i,j \le d}$  on  $\Omega$  such that the functions  $a^{ij}$  are Borel measurable. Let us set

$$L_{A,b}\varphi := \sum_{i,j \le d} a^{ij} \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} \varphi + \sum_{i \le d} b^i \partial_{x_i} \varphi, \quad \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\Omega).$$

Given a function c on  $\Omega$ , we set

 $L_{A,b,c}\varphi = L_{A,b}\varphi + c\varphi.$ 

We shall also consider the divergence form operators

$$\mathcal{L}_{A,b}\varphi := \sum_{i,j \le d} \partial_{x_i} (a^{ij} \partial_{x_j} \varphi) + \sum_{i \le d} b^i \partial_{x_i} \varphi, \quad \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\Omega)$$

and the correspondingly defined operators  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b,c}$ .

1.1.1. DEFINITION. We say that  $\mu$  satisfies the equation

$$L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0 \tag{1.1.1}$$

in  $\Omega$  if  $a^{ij}, b^i \in L^1_{loc}(|\mu|)$  and one has

$$\int_{\Omega} L_{A,b}\varphi(x)\,\mu(dx) = 0 \quad \forall \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega).$$

For a given measure  $\nu$  on  $\Omega$  the equation

$$L_{A,b}^*\mu = \nu$$

is defined similarly. Finally, for a given function  $c \in L^1_{loc}(|\mu|)$  the equation  $L^*_{A,b,c}\mu = \nu$  is defined in the same sense.

The equation

$$\mathcal{L}_{A,b}^*\mu = 0$$

is defined similarly, but it requires additional assumptions either on  $a^{ij}$  or on  $\mu$  (which will be made in appropriate places).

For a fixed domain  $\Omega$  we set

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b} := \Big\{ \mu \in \mathcal{P}(\Omega) \colon L_{A,b}^* \mu = 0 \Big\}.$$
(1.1.2)

In what follows we shall deal with the case where the matrix A is symmetric and nonnegative, but this is not needed for the definition (unlike for most of the results).

In general, equation (1.1.1) can fail to have nonzero solutions in the class of bounded measures (take  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^1$ , A = 1, b = 0), it can have many solutions even in the class of probability measures, and its solutions can be quite singular (e.g., if A = 0 and b = 0, then any measure is a solution). However, even in the generality under consideration some positive information is available.

The one-dimensional case is much simpler than the multidimensional case.

1.1.2. PROPOSITION. Let d = 1 and let  $\Omega$  be an interval. Suppose that A > 0on  $\Omega$ . Then, any measure  $\mu$  satisfying the equation  $L^*_{A,b,c}\mu = \nu$  is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure and has a density  $\rho$  of the form  $\rho = \rho_0/A$ , where  $\rho_0$  is absolutely continuous on every compact subinterval in  $\Omega$ .

If A = 1, c = 0,  $\nu = 0$ ,  $\Omega = (-1, 1)$ , and b is locally Lebesgue integrable on (-1, 1), then

$$\varrho(x) = \left(k_1 + k_2 \int_0^x \exp\left(-\int_0^s b(t) \, dt\right) ds\right) \exp\left(\int_0^x b(t) \, dt\right)$$

where  $k_1$  and  $k_2$  are constants.

PROOF. We have the identity

$$\int_{\Omega} (A\varphi'' + b\varphi' + c\varphi) \, d\mu = \int_{\Omega} \varphi \, d\nu \quad \forall \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega),$$

which can be written as the equality

$$(A\mu)'' - (b\mu)' + c\mu = \nu$$

in the sense of distributions. Hence the distributional derivative of  $(A\mu)' - b\mu$ is a locally bounded measure. This shows that the distributional derivative of  $A\mu$  is a locally bounded measure as well. Hence  $A\mu$  is absolutely continuous and has a density  $\rho_0$ . Therefore,  $\mu$  is absolutely continuous. Now it is seen from our reasoning that  $(A\mu)' - b\mu$  is a function of locally bounded variation, hence the distributional derivative of  $A\mu$  is a locally integrable function, so that  $\rho_0$  admits a locally absolutely continuous version. In the case A = 1, c = 0,  $\nu = 0$ , we arrive at the equation  $\mu'' - (b\mu)' = 0$ , whence  $\mu' - b\mu = k_2$  for some constant  $k_2$ . If b is locally Lebesgue integrable, this equation can be explicitly solved.

Even in this simplest one dimensional case we observe that a solution  $\mu$  can fail to have a continuous density if A is positive but not continuous. We actually see that in the case of nondegenerate A (i.e., det  $A \neq 0$ ) the regularity of solution is essentially the regularity of A. We shall see below that in higher dimensions the picture is similar, although the proofs involve much deeper techniques. Another simple observation is that without any assumptions of nondegeneracy on A we obtain that the measure  $A \cdot \mu$  is absolutely continuous. A highly nontrivial analogue of this is valid also in the multidimensional case.

Let us consider one more instructive example.

1.1.3. EXAMPLE. Let  $\varrho \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and let  $\mu = \varrho \, dx$ . Then  $\mu$  satisfies the equation  $L^*_{1b}\mu = 0$  with

$$b := \frac{\nabla \varrho}{\varrho}$$
, where  $b(x) := 0$  whenever  $\varrho(x) = 0$ .

Indeed, |b| is locally  $|\mu|$ -integrable. For any  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , by the integration by parts formula we have

$$\int \left[\Delta \varphi + \langle b, \nabla \varphi \rangle\right] \varrho \, dx = \int \left[-\langle \nabla \varphi, \nabla \varrho \rangle + \langle b, \nabla \varphi \rangle \varrho\right] dx = 0$$

since  $b\rho = \nabla \rho$  almost everywhere due to the fact that  $\nabla \rho$  vanishes almost everywhere on the set  $\{\rho = 0\}$ .

The mapping  $\nabla \varrho / \varrho$  is called the *logarithmic gradient* of the measure  $\mu$  or the density  $\varrho$ ; it is defined if  $\varrho \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

In this example, we can even choose  $\rho$  to be infinitely differentiable, but b can be quite singular with respect to Lebesgue measure. For instance, given a proper closed subset  $Z \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , we can find a probability density  $\rho \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $Z = \{\rho = 0\}$ ; in this way one can even obtain b that is not Lebesgue locally integrable on a closed set of positive Lebesgue measure. The simplest example of a singularity is this:

$$\varrho(x) = x^2 \exp(-x^2/2)/\sqrt{2\pi}, \quad b(x) = x + 2/x.$$

Now we formulate our main results on the existence of densities; see [33] for the proofs.

1.1.4. THEOREM. Suppose that the matrices A(x) are symmetric and nonnegative. Let  $\mu$  be a locally finite Borel measure on  $\Omega$  such that  $a^{ij} \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega, \mu)$ , and for some C > 0 one has

$$\int_{\Omega} a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \varphi \, d\mu \le C(\sup_{\Omega} |\varphi| + \sup_{\Omega} |\nabla\varphi|) \tag{1.1.3}$$

for all nonnegative  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . Then the following assertions are true.

(i) If  $\mu$  is nonnegative, then  $(\det A)^{1/d}\mu$  has a density in  $L^{d'}_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$ .

(ii) If A is locally Hölder continuous and det A > 0, then  $\mu$  has a density which belongs to  $L^r_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$  for every  $r \in [1, d')$ .

We do not know whether assertion (i) remains true for signed measures.

1.1.5. COROLLARY. Let  $\mu$  be a locally finite signed Borel measure on  $\Omega$  and let  $a^{ij}, b^i, c \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, \mu)$ . Assume that

$$\int_{\Omega} (L_{A,b}\varphi + c\varphi) \, d\mu \le 0 \quad \text{for all nonnegative} \quad \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega). \tag{1.1.4}$$

Then the following assertions are true.

(i) If  $\mu$  is nonnegative, then  $(\det A)^{1/d}\mu$  has a density in  $L^{d'}_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$ .

(ii) If A is locally Hölder continuous and det A > 0, then  $\mu$  has a density which belongs to  $L^r_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$  for every  $r \in [1, d')$ .

In particular, the above statements are true if (1.1.1) holds.

In assertion (ii) of this corollary one cannot expect the density of  $\mu$  to be Hölder continuous since for d = 1 and A = 1 one can take  $\mu(dx) = \exp(\int_0^x b(t) dt) dx$  with a suitable function b.

The previous corollary has the following important generalization.

1.1.6. COROLLARY. Let  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  be two locally finite signed Borel measures on  $\Omega$  and let  $a^{ij}$ ,  $b^i$ ,  $c \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega, \mu)$ . Assume that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ L_{A,b} \varphi + c\varphi \right] d\mu = \int_{\Omega} \varphi \, d\nu \quad \text{for all nonnegative} \quad \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega). \tag{1.1.5}$$

Then the following assertions are true.

(i) If  $\mu$  is nonnegative, then  $(\det A)^{1/d}\mu$  has a density in  $L^{d'}_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$ .

(ii) If A is locally Hölder continuous and det A > 0, then  $\mu$  has a density which belongs to  $L^r_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$  for every  $r \in [1, d')$ .

1.1.7. REMARK. (i) Assertions (i) of Theorem 1.1.4, Corollary 1.1.5, and Corollary 1.1.6 for nonnegative measures extend to the case when  $\mu$  is a  $\sigma$ -finite nonnegative Borel measure on  $\Omega$  (not necessarily locally bounded). Indeed, (1.1.3), (1.1.4), and (1.1.5) make sense also for  $\sigma$ -finite  $\mu$  provided that  $a^{ij}, b^i, c \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, \mu)$ . One can find a probability measure  $\mu_0$  such that  $\mu = f \mu_0$ , where f is a positive Borel function. Let

$$a_0^{ij} := fa^{ij}, \ b_0^i := fb^i, \ c_0 := fc, \ A_0 = (a_0^{ij})_{i,j \le d}, \ b_0 = (b_0^i)_{i \le d}.$$

Clearly,  $a_0^{ij}, b_0^i, c_0 \in L^1_{loc}(\mu_0)$  and  $\mu_0$  satisfies the hypotheses of the above mentioned assertions with  $A_0$ ,  $b_0$ , and  $c_0$  in place of A, b, and c. Hence the measure  $(\det A_0)^{1/d}\mu_0$  has a density  $\varrho \in L^{d'}_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$ . Since  $(\det A_0)^{1/d} = f(\det A)^{1/d}$ , this means that  $(\det A)^{1/d}\mu$  has the same density.

(ii) Assume that the hypotheses of Corollary 1.1.5(ii) are fulfilled. Let  $B_{R_1}(x_0)$  be a ball in  $\Omega$  of radius  $R_1 > 0$  centered at  $x_0$ . Then, for every  $R < R_1$  and r < d',

there exists N depending only on  $R_1, R, r, d$ ,  $\inf_{B_{R_1}} \det A$ ,  $\sup_{i,j} \sup_{B_{R_1}} |a^{ij}|$ , and the Hölder norm of A on  $B_{R_1}$  such that the density  $\rho$  of  $\mu$  satisfies

$$\|\varrho\|_{L^r(B_R)} \le N \|1 + |b| + |c|\|_{L^1(B_{R_*},\mu)}.$$

In addition, for fixed d, the number N is a locally bounded function of the indicated quantities. This follows from the proof of Theorem 1.1.4 in [33].

# 1.2. Local properties of solutions

We now proceed to the regularity results. Throughout the rest of this section we assume that A(x) is symmetric and positive and A(x) is continuous in x. By the Sobolev embedding theorem, the continuity assumption is automatically satisfied for some version of A if  $a^{ij} \in W_{loc}^{p,1}$ , where p > d. We do not discuss here the case of smooth coefficients and possibly degenerate A under Hörmander's condition and its analogs in the Malliavin calculus (see references in [22]).

First of all we recall a classical result.

1.2.1. THEOREM. Suppose that the functions  $a^{ij}$ ,  $b^i$ , c are infinitely differentiable and det A > 0 in  $\Omega$ . If  $\nu$  has a infinitely differentiable density, then any solution of the equation  $L^*_{A,b,c}\mu = \nu$  possesses an infinitely differentiable density.

Next we consider the case where the coefficients are only Hölder continuous. The following result was proved in [165].

1.2.2. THEOREM. Suppose that the coefficients  $a^{ij}$ ,  $b^i$ , c are locally Hölder continuous in  $\Omega$  and det A > 0. Then any solution  $\mu$  of the equation  $L^*_{A,b,c}\mu = 0$  has a locally Hölder continuous density.

Note that the solutions in [165] were a priori locally integrable functions, but by the above results the theorem remains valid for measures. It would be interesting to study the case where only the coefficients  $a^{ij}$  are Hölder continuous. The continuity of all coefficients does not guarantee the Hölder continuity of a solution even if d = 1and A > 0. However, it is not clear whether densities of solutions are continuous in the case where the coefficients are just continuous and A is nondegenerate.

We now proceed to the most difficult case where the diffusion coefficient is somewhat better than Hölder continuous, but is not smooth, and we want to have some Sobolev regularity of the density of solutions. One of the reasons why this is important is that, having established the Sobolev regularity of our solution, we can rewrite the equation  $L^*_{A,b,c}\mu = 0$  for  $\mu$  as a classical equation for its density  $\rho$  in the sense of weak solutions: indeed, integrating by parts we find that

$$\int_{\Omega} [a^{ij}\partial_{x_i}\varrho\partial_{x_j}\varphi + \partial_{x_i}a^{ij}\partial_{x_j}\varphi\varrho + b^i\partial_{x_i}\varphi\varrho + c\varrho] \, dx = 0$$

for all  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ .

1.2.3. THEOREM. Let  $d \geq 2$ ,  $p \geq d$ ,  $q \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $R_1 > 0$ , let  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}(B_{R_1})$ and let  $A \geq \lambda I$ , where  $\lambda > 0$ . Then there exist numbers  $R_0 > 0$  and  $N_0 > 0$  with the following properties. Let  $R < R_0$  and let  $\mu$  be a measure of finite total variation on  $B_R$  such that for any  $\varphi \in C_0^2(B_R) := C^2(\overline{B_R}) \cap \{u: u|_{\partial B_R} = 0\}$  we have

$$\left| \int_{B_R} a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \varphi \, d\mu \right| \le N ||\nabla \varphi||_{L^q(B_R)} \tag{1.2.1}$$

with N independent of  $\varphi$ . Furthermore, assume one of the following:

a) p > d or

b) p = d > q' and  $\mu \in \bigcup_{r>1} L^r(B_R)$ .

Then  $\mu \in W_0^{q' \wedge p, 1}(B_R)$  (where we identify  $\mu$  with its density) and  $||\mu||_{W_0^{q' \wedge p, 1}(B_R)} \leq N_0.$ 

In addition, the radius  $R_0$  depends only on  $p, q, d, \lambda, R_1$ ,  $||a^{ij}||_{W^{p,1}(B_{R_1})}$ , and the rate of decrease of  $||\nabla a^{ij}||_{L^d(B_R)}$  as  $R \to 0$ , and  $N_0$  depends on the same quantities and N.

1.2.4. REMARK. The proof of this theorem actually shows that if  $\mu$  has compact support in  $B_{R_1}$  and (1.2.1) holds for all  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(B_{R_1})$ , then  $\mu \in W_0^{q' \wedge p, 1}(B_R)$  for some  $R < R_1$ . Moreover, even without the assumption of compactness of support, one can show that  $\mu \in W_{\text{loc}}^{q' \wedge p, 1}(B_R)$ , but this requires some extra work.

This theorem at once yields a certain low regularity of solutions to our elliptic equations.

1.2.5. COROLLARY. Suppose that  $p > d \ge 2$ ,  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ , det A > 0, and  $\mu$  satisfies the equation  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$ , where  $b \in L^r_{\text{loc}}(\mu)$  for some r > 1. Then  $\mu$  has a density in the class  $W^{\alpha,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  for each  $\alpha < dr/(dr - r + 1)$ .

More can be obtained if b better integrable.

1.2.6. THEOREM. Let p > d,  $r \in (p', \infty)$ ,  $\mu = \varrho dx$ ,  $\varrho \in L^r_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$ , and  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ , and let either  $\beta \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$  or  $\beta \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega, \mu)$ . Suppose that  $A^{-1}$  is locally bounded. Assume that for every  $\varphi \in C^\infty_0(\Omega)$  we have

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \varphi \, \mu(dx) \right| \le \int_{\Omega} (|\varphi| + |\nabla \varphi|) |\beta| \, |\mu|(dx).$$

Then  $\varrho \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ .

We shall say that A is locally uniformly nondegenerate if  $A^{-1}$  is locally bounded.

1.2.7. REMARK. It should be noted that the assertion of Theorem 1.2.6 is valid under the following alternative assumptions on  $a^{ij}$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\mu$ :  $\mu$  is a locally bounded Borel measure on  $\Omega$  (without assumptions on its density),  $A^{-1}$  is locally bounded,  $\beta \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, \mu)$  or  $\beta \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, \mu) \cap L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, dx)$ . This follows by Theorem 1.1.4.

1.2.8. COROLLARY. Let  $\mu$  be a locally finite Borel measure on  $\Omega$ . Let  $A^{-1}$  be locally bounded in  $\Omega$  with  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ , where p > d, and let either (i)  $b^i$ ,  $c \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, dx)$  or (ii)  $b^i$ ,  $c \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, \mu)$ . Assume that, for every  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}_0(\Omega)$ , one has

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \varphi + b^i \partial_i \varphi + c \varphi \right] d\mu = 0,$$

where  $b^i$  and c are also assumed to be locally  $\mu$ -integrable in case (i). Then  $\mu$  has a density in  $W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  that is locally Hölder continuous.

The following result, proved in [43], is a useful modification of the previous theorem.

1.2.9. THEOREM. Let p > d,  $r \in (p', \infty)$ , and let  $\mu$  be a measure on  $B_R$  with a density  $\varrho \in L^r_{\text{loc}}(B_R)$ . Let  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(B_R)$ ,  $\beta_1 \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(B_R)$ , and  $\beta_2 \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\mu)$ , where  $A^{-1}$  is locally bounded on  $B_R$ . Assume that, for every  $\varphi \in C^\infty_0(B_R)$ , we have

$$\left| \int_{B_R} a^{ij} \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} \varphi \, d\mu \right| \le \int_{B_R} \left( |\varphi| + |\nabla_x \varphi| \right) (|\beta_1 \varrho| + |\beta_2 \varrho|) \, dx.$$

Then  $\rho \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(B_R)$ , hence  $\rho$  has a locally Hölder continuous version.

10

1.2.10. COROLLARY. Let  $\mu$  be a locally finite Borel measure on  $B_R$ . Let  $A^{-1}$  be locally bounded on  $B_R$  with  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(B_R)$ , where p > d,  $\partial_{x_i} a^{ij} \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\mu)$ , and let  $b^i$ ,  $c \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\mu)$ . Suppose that

$$\int_{B_R} \left[ a^{ij} \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} \varphi + \partial_{x_i} a^{ij} \partial_{x_j} \varphi + b^i \partial_{x_i} \varphi + c\varphi \right] d\mu = 0 \quad \forall \, \varphi \in C_0^\infty(B_R).$$

Then  $\mu$  has a density in  $W_{\text{loc}}^{p,1}(B_R)$  that is locally Hölder continuous.

Bensoussan [16, Ch. II, Theorem 5.5] proved  $W_{\text{loc}}^{p,1}$ -regularity for probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfying the equation  $L_{\mathbf{I},b}^*\mu = 0$  with  $b = b_1 + b_2$ , where  $b_1$  is Lipschitzian and  $b_2$  is bounded, under the additional assumption of the existence of a certain Lyapunov function.

The classical Harnack inequality yields the following.

1.2.11. COROLLARY. In the situation of Corollary 1.2.8, let  $b^i \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$ , let  $\mu$  be nonnegative, and let  $\varrho$  be its continuous density. Then, for every compact set K contained in a connected open set U with compact closure in  $\Omega$ , one has

$$\sup_{K} \varrho \le C \inf_{K} \varrho,$$

where the constant C depends only on  $\|a^{ij}\|_{W^{p,1}(U)}$ ,  $\|b\|_{L^p(U)}$ ,  $\inf_U \det A$ , and K (if K is a ball, then the dependence on K is through the distance from K to  $\partial U$ ). In particular,  $\rho$  does not vanish in U if it is not identically zero in U.

The dependence of C on the indicated quantities will be studied below in §1.9.

1.2.12. COROLLARY. Suppose that in the situation of Corollary 1.2.8 one has  $b^i \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$  and that  $c \leq 0$ . Assume also that the continuous density  $\rho$  of  $\mu$  is strictly positive on the boundary of a bounded open set  $U \subset \overline{U} \subset \Omega$ . Then  $\rho$  is strictly positive on U.

Clearly, the assumption that  $b^i \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, dx)$  in Corollary 1.2.11 and Corollary 1.2.12 cannot be replaced by the alternative assumption that  $b^i \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, \mu)$  from Corollary 1.2.8. Indeed, it suffices to take  $b = \nabla \varrho / \varrho$  such that  $\varrho$  is a probability density which has zeros, but  $|b| \in L^p(\mu)$  (for example, we can take  $\varrho$  which behaves like  $\exp(-x^{-2})$  in a neighborhood of the origin).

Corollary 1.2.8 can be generalized as follows.

1.2.13. COROLLARY. Let p > d, let  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ ,  $b^i$ ,  $f^i$ ,  $c \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$ ,  $i, j = 1, \ldots, d$ , and let  $A^{-1}$  be locally bounded in  $\Omega$ . Assume that  $\mu$  is a locally finite Borel measure on  $\Omega$  such that  $b^i$ ,  $c \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega, \mu)$  and, for every function  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}_0(\Omega)$ , one has

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \varphi + b^i \partial_i \varphi + c\varphi \right] d\mu = \int_{\Omega} f^i \partial_i \varphi \, dx.$$

Then  $\mu$  has a density in  $W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ .

1.2.14. REMARK. It is easily seen that in Corollary 1.2.8 one cannot omit the hypotheses that  $A^{-1}$  is locally bounded and  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}$ . Indeed, if A and b vanish at a point  $x_0$ , then Dirac's measure at  $x_0$  satisfies our elliptic equation. In particular, if it is not given in advance that  $\mu$  is absolutely continuous, then one cannot take an arbitrary Lebesgue version of A. In order to see that  $\mu$  cannot be more regular than A (which has already been noted in the introduction), let us take a probability measure  $\mu$  with a smooth density that satisfies  $L^*_{I,b_0}\mu = 0$ , e.g., let  $\mu$  be the standard Gaussian measure and  $b_0(x) = -x$ . If now g is any Borel function with  $1 \leq g \leq 2$ , then the measure  $g \cdot \mu$  satisfies the equation  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$  with  $A = g^{-1}I$  and  $b = g^{-1}b_0$ .

In particular, we obtain an example, where A and b are Hölder continuous and A is uniformly nondegenerate, but the density of  $\mu$  is not weakly differentiable. Also, the condition p > d is essential for the membership of  $\mu$  in a Sobolev class even if A = I (see the example below). However, if  $\mu$  is a probability measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , then the condition  $|b| \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mu)$  implies that  $\mu = \rho dx$  with  $\rho \in W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $|\nabla \rho|^2 / \rho \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (see §1.8).

1.2.15. EXAMPLE. Let d > 3 and

$$L^*F = \Delta F + \alpha \partial_{x^i} (x^i |x|^{-2}F) - F,$$

where  $\alpha = d - 3$ . Then the function  $F(x) = (e^r - e^{-r})r^{-(d-2)}$ , r = |x|, is locally Lebesgue integrable and  $L^*F = 0$  in the sense of distributions, but F is not in  $W^{2,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Here

$$b(x) = -\alpha x |x|^{-2} = \nabla(|x|^{-\alpha})/|x|^{-\alpha}$$

and  $|b| \in L^{d-\varepsilon}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ . In a similar way, if the term -F is omitted in the equation above, then the function  $F(x) = r^{-(d-3)}$  has the same properties.

PROOF. Observe that  $\partial_{x^i} F$ ,  $\partial_{x^i} \partial_{x^j} F$  are locally Lebesgue integrable. Hence the equation  $L^*F = 0$  follows easily from the equation

$$f'' + \frac{(d-1+\alpha)}{r}f' + \alpha \frac{d-2}{r^2}f - f = 0$$

on  $(0, \infty)$ , which is satisfied for the function  $f(r) = (e^r - e^{-r})r^{-(d-2)}$ . It remains to note that  $F, \nabla F$ , and  $\Delta F$  are locally Lebesgue integrable, since  $f(r)r^{d-1}$ ,  $f'(r)r^{d-1}$ , and  $f''(r)r^{d-1}$  are locally bounded, but  $\nabla F$  is not Lebesgue square-integrable at the origin. If  $d \ge 6$ , then F is also not Lebesgue square-integrable at the origin. In the case without the term -F in the equation similar calculations show that  $F(x) = r^{-(d-3)}$  has the same properties.  $\Box$ 

The following theorem is helpful in the study of local properties of densities, in particular, for control of various constants that appear in local estimates. It precises a particular case of a more general result which was formulated by Morrey in his book [136, p. 156] in a way that is not completely correct (with  $\Omega' = \Omega$ ). The statement below with  $\Omega' = \Omega$  would be false, for example, for the Laplace equation in a ball. A proof of Morrey's estimate with an investigation of the dependence of the constant on the coefficients was given in [155] with the same inaccuracy as in [136]. In fact, the reasoning from [155] yields the estimate given below as explained in [157], but an estimate with  $\Omega = \Omega'$  is possible only for solutions with zero boundary condition on a domain with a sufficiently regular boundary. We note that in the existing applications of Morrey's theorem, only the correct assertion proven below is actually used, although in some papers it is formulated with the indicated inaccuracy (see, e.g., [38] and [33]). For the proof, see [42] or [157], where a more general fact is established.

1.2.16. THEOREM. Suppose that  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is a bounded domain,  $A \in C^{0,\delta}(\Omega)$ , where  $\delta > 0$ , and there is a number  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $A(x) \ge \alpha \cdot I$  for all  $x \in \Omega$ . Let  $h^i \in L^q(\Omega)$ , where q > d. If a function u from  $W^{q,1}(\Omega)$  satisfies the equation  $\partial_{x_i}(a^{ij}\partial_{x_j}u + h^i) = 0$  in the weak sense on  $\Omega$ , then for every domain  $\Omega'$  with closure in  $\Omega$  the following estimate holds:

$$\|u\|_{W^{q,1}(\Omega')} \le C(\|u\|_{L^q(\Omega)} + \|h\|_{L^q(\Omega)}), \quad h := (h^1, \dots, h^d),$$

where the number C depends only on  $d, q, \alpha, \Omega, \Omega'$ , and  $||A||_{C^{0,\delta}}$ .

Moreover, if  $u \in W^{q,1}(\Omega)$  and  $\partial_{x_i}(a^{ij}\partial_{x_j}u - b^iu + h^i) = 0$  in the weak sense and  $b^i \in L^q(\Omega)$ , then a stronger estimate

$$||u||_{W^{q,1}(\Omega')} \le C(||u||_{L^1(\Omega)} + ||h||_{L^q(\Omega)})$$

holds, where C depends only on  $d, q, \alpha, \Omega, \Omega'$ ,  $||A||_{C^{0,\delta}}$ , and  $||b^i||_{L^q(\Omega)}$ .

1.2.17. REMARK. Let a Borel measure  $\mu$  on a ball  $B_{R_1}$  of radius  $R_1 > 0$  in  $\Omega$  satisfy the equation  $L^*_{A,b}\mu + c\mu = f \, dx$ , where  $a^{ij}, b^i, c \in L^1(B_{R_1}, \mu), f \in L^p(B_{R_1})$ , and

$$A \ge \lambda_1 \mathbf{I}, \quad \|a^{ij}\|_{W^{p,1}(B_{R_1})} \le \lambda_2, \quad \|b^i\|_{L^p(B_{R_1})} + \|c\|_{L^p(B_{R_1})} \le \lambda_2, \ p > d.$$

Then it follows from the above results that, for any  $R < R_1$ , the measure  $\mu$  has a continuous density  $u \in W^{p,1}(B_R)$  that satisfies the equation

$$\partial_i (a^{ij}\partial_j u + \partial_j a^{ij} u - b^i u) + cu = f.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{W^{p,1}(B_R)} &\leq \Lambda_{d,R_1}(\lambda_1,\lambda_2,R) \Big[ \|u\|_{L^1(B_{R_1})} + \|f\|_{L^p(B_{R_1})} \Big] \\ &\leq \Lambda_{d,R_1}(\lambda_1,\lambda_2,R) \Big[ \operatorname{mes}(B_{R_1}) \sup_{B_{R_1}} |u| + \|f\|_{L^p(B_{R_1})} \Big], \end{aligned}$$
(1.2.2)

where  $\Lambda_{d,R_1}(\lambda_1,\lambda_2,R)$  is a locally bounded function on  $(0,+\infty)^2 \times (0,R_1)$  and is independent of u.

1.2.18. PROPOSITION. Let  $A_k = (a_k^{ij})$  be a sequence of continuous mappings on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with values in the space of symmetric matrices and let  $b_k = (b_k^i)$  be a sequence of Borel vector fields on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Suppose that for every ball  $B_r \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  there exist numbers  $c_r > 0$ ,  $\alpha_r > 0$ , and  $p = p_r > d$  such that

$$A_k \ge c_r I$$
,  $\|a_k^{ij}\|_{W^{p,1}(B_r)} + \|b_k^i\|_{L^p(B_r)} \le \alpha_r$  for all  $i, j, k$ .

Assume that there exist probability measures  $\mu_k$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that  $L^*_{A_k,b_k}\mu_k = 0$ . Then the measures  $\mu_k$  have continuous strictly positive densities that are uniformly Hölder continuous on every ball. If, in addition, the sequence  $\{\mu_k\}$  is uniformly tight, then it has compact closure with respect to the variation norm, and every measure  $\mu$  in its closure has a continuous strictly positive density that belongs to  $W^{p,1}(B_r)$  for every r > 0.

PROOF. It follows from our hypotheses and Theorem 1.2.6 that the measures  $\mu_k$  have continuous densities  $f_k$ . Since the functions  $f_k$  are probability densities, we obtain by (1.2.2) that, for every r > 0, the sequence  $\{f_k\}$  is bounded in  $W^{p,1}(B_r)$ . By the Sobolev embedding theorem (see, e.g., [17]),  $\{f_k\}$  is uniformly Hölder continuous on  $B_r$ , in particular, has compact closure with respect to the sup-norm. If  $\{\mu_k\}$  is uniformly tight, then some subsequence  $\{\mu_{k_i}\}$  converges weakly to some probability measure  $\mu$ . Passing to a subsequence once again we may assume that the functions  $f_{k_i}$  converge uniformly on compacts and are uniformly bounded in  $W^{p,1}(B_r)$  for each r > 0. Hence  $\mu$  has a density  $f \in W^{p,1}(B_r)$ . Then we obtain a continuous and strictly positive version of f. Therefore, the probability measures  $\mu_{k_i}$  converge to  $\mu$  in the variation norm. This reasoning applies to any subsequence in  $\{\mu_k\}$ , whence we obtain the desired conclusion.

1.2.19. REMARK. The above proposition can be generalized as follows. Let  $\Omega$  be an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and let  $\Omega$  be a union of increasing open sets  $\Omega_k$  such that the closure of  $\Omega_k$  is compact and contained in  $\Omega_{k+1}$ . Let  $\mu_k$  be probability measures

on  $\Omega_k$  satisfying the equations  $L^*_{A_k,b_k}\mu_k = 0$  on  $\Omega_k$ , where each  $A_k$  is a continuous mapping on  $\Omega_k$  with values in the set of nonnegative symmetric matrices, the mappings  $A_k$  are uniformly bounded on compact sets in the  $W^{p,1}$ -norm with some p > 1, the mappings  $A_k^{-1}$  are uniformly bounded on compact sets, and Borel vector fields  $b_k$  on the sets  $\Omega_k$  are uniformly bounded in the  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -norm on compact sets. Then the analogue of the statement of the previous proposition is true. Moreover, the same is true for Riemannian manifolds of dimension d.

In the case where the diffusion matrix A is infinitely differentiable a somewhat more special result holds. In its proof we use the following well-known lemma.

1.2.20. LEMMA. Suppose that  $a^{ij} \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and det A > 0.

(i) Let  $r \in (-\infty, \infty)$  and p > 1. If u is a distribution such that  $L_A u \in H^{p,r}_{loc}(\Omega)$ ,

(1) Let  $r \in (-\infty, \infty)$  and p > 1. If u is a distribution such that  $L_A u \in H^{i}_{loc}(\Omega)$ , then  $u \in H^{p,r+2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ ; also if  $u \in H^{p,r}_{loc}(\Omega)$ , then  $\partial_{x_i} u \in H^{p,r-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ ,  $1 \le i \le d$ . (ii) We have  $H^{p,1}_{loc}(\Omega) \subset L^{dp/(d-p)}_{loc}(\Omega)$  and  $L^p_{loc}(\Omega) \subset H^{dp/(d-p),-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  whenever  $1 , and <math>H^{p,1}_{loc}(\Omega) \subset C^{1-d/p}_{loc}(\Omega)$  if p > d, so that in the latter case elements of  $H^{p,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  are locally bounded. In addition, for q > p > 1 we have  $L^p_{loc}(\Omega) \subset T^{a,d/q-d/p}_{loc}(\Omega)$  $H^{q,d/q-d/p}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega).$ 

(iii) If  $\mu$  is a locally bounded Radon measure on  $\Omega$ , then  $\mu \in H^{p,-m}_{loc}(\Omega)$  whenever p > 1 and m > d(1 - 1/p).

PROOF. Assertion (i) is well-known. Specifically, its first statement is a wellknown elliptic regularity result and the second statement follows from the boundedness of Riesz's transforms. Assertion (ii) is just the Sobolev embedding theorem. Assertion (iii) follows from this embedding theorem, since for regular subdomains U of  $\Omega$  one has  $H^{q,m}(U) \subset C(\overline{U})$  if qm > d whence by duality the space  $H^{q/(q-1),-m}(U) = [H^{q,m}(U)]^*$  contains all finite measures on U. 

We formulate the following result for d > 1 just because the case d = 1 is elementary and has already been discussed. In addition, we include in the formulation some assertions which follow also from the already mentioned results (the proof is direct and does not use the results above).

1.2.21. THEOREM. Under the same assumptions on A as in the lemma, let  $d \geq 2$  and let  $\mu, \nu$  be (possibly, signed) Radon measures on  $\Omega$ . Let a mapping  $b = (b^i): \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d$  and a function  $c: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  be such that  $|b|, c \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega, \mu)$ . Suppose that  $L^*_{A,b,c}\mu = \nu$ . Then the following assertions are true.

(i) One has  $\mu \in H^{p,1-d(p-1)/p-\varepsilon}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  for any  $p \ge 1$  and any  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Here 1-d(p-1)/p>0 if  $p \in [1, \frac{d}{d-1})$  and, in particular,  $\mu$  admits a density  $F \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ for any  $p \in [1, \frac{d}{d-1})$ .

(ii) If  $|b| \in L^{\gamma}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega,\mu)$ ,  $c \in L^{\gamma/2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega,\mu)$  and  $\nu \in L^{d/(d-\gamma+2)}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  where  $d \ge \gamma > 1$ , then  $F := d\mu/dx \in H^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  for any  $p \in [1, d/(d-\gamma+1))$ . In particular,  $F \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  for any  $p \in [1, d/(d-\gamma))$ , where we set  $\frac{d}{d-\gamma} := \infty$  if  $\gamma = d$ .

(iii) If  $\gamma > d$  and either

- (a)  $|b| \in L^{\gamma}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  and  $c, \nu \in L^{\gamma d/(d+\gamma)}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ ,
- (b)  $|b| \in L^{\gamma}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, \mu), c \in L^{\gamma d/(d+\gamma)}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, \mu), and \nu \in L^{\gamma d/(d+\gamma)}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega),$ then  $\mu$  admits a density  $F \in H^{\gamma,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ . In particular,  $F \in C^{1-d/\gamma}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ .

PROOF. (i) We have in the sense of distributions

$$\Delta \mu = \partial_{x^i}(b^i \mu) - c\mu + \nu \tag{1.2.3}$$

on  $\Omega$ . Here by Lemma 1.2.20(iii) the right-hand side belongs to  $H^{p,-m-1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  if m > d(1-1/p). By Lemma 1.2.20(i) we conclude  $\mu \in H^{p,-m+1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ , which leads to the result after substituting  $m = d(1 - 1/p) + \varepsilon$ .

Before we prove (ii) and (iii) we need some preparations. Fix  $p_1 > 1$  and assume that  $F = d\mu/dx \in L^{p_1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ . Such a number  $p_1$  exists by (i). Set

$$r := r(p_1) := \frac{\gamma p_1}{\gamma - 1 + p_1} \tag{1.2.4}$$

and observe that owing to the inequalities  $1 < \gamma$  and  $p_1 > 1$ , we have  $1 < r < \gamma$ . Next, starting with the formula

$$|bF|^r = (|b||F|^{1/\gamma})^r |F|^{r-r/\gamma}$$

and using Hölder's inequality (with  $s = \frac{\gamma}{r} > 1$  and  $t := \frac{s}{s-1} = \frac{\gamma}{\gamma-r}$ ) and the relations  $|b||F|^{1/\gamma} \in L^{\gamma}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  and  $F \in L^{p_1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ , we obtain that  $b^i F \in L^r_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 1.2.20(i) one has

$$b^{i}F \in H^{r,0}_{loc}(\Omega), \quad (b^{i}F)_{x^{i}} \in H^{r,-1}_{loc}(\Omega).$$
 (1.2.5)

(ii) Set

$$q := q(p_1) := \frac{\gamma p_1}{\gamma - 2 + 2p_1} \lor 1, \tag{1.2.6}$$

and note that  $q > 1 \Leftrightarrow \gamma > 2 \Leftrightarrow q < \frac{\gamma}{2}$ , in particular,  $q < \gamma$  in any case. Hence repeating the above argument with the triple  $c, \gamma/2, q$  in place of  $|b|, \gamma, r$ , we obtain that

$$cF \in L^q_{\text{loc}}(\Omega).$$
 (1.2.7)

Fix  $p_1 > 1$  such that  $F := \frac{d\mu}{dx} \in L^{p_1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  and let r, q be as in (1.2.4), (1.2.6), correspondingly. Since  $\gamma \leq d$ , we have q < d, which by (1.2.7) and assertions (ii) and (iii) of Lemma 1.2.20 implies that  $cF \in H^{dq/(d-q),-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  if q > 1 and that  $cF \in H^{s,-1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  for any  $s \in (1, d/(d-1))$  if q = 1. It turns out that if  $p_1 < d/(d-\gamma)$ , then

$$cF \in H^{r,-1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega). \tag{1.2.8}$$

Indeed, if q > 1, then (1.2.8) follows from the fact that if  $p_1 \in (1, d/(d-\gamma))$ , then the inequality  $r \leq dq/(d-q)$  holds. If q = 1, then  $\gamma \leq 2$  and (1.2.8) follows from

the inequality  $r \leq uq/(u-q)$  notes. If q = 1, then  $\gamma \leq 2$  and (1.2.8) follows from the fact that  $r < d/(d-\gamma+1) \leq d/(d-1)$  for  $p_1 < d/(d-\gamma)$ . Finally by Lemma 1.2.20 (ii) we have  $\nu \in H^{d/(d-\gamma+1),-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  if  $\gamma > 2$  and  $\nu \in H^{s,-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  for any  $s \in (1, d/(d-1))$  if  $\gamma \leq 2$ . In the same way as above,  $\nu \in H^{r,-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  whenever  $1 < p_1 < d/(d-\gamma)$ . This along with (1.2.5) and (1.2.8) shows that the right-hand side of (1.2.3) is now in  $H^{r,-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 1.2.20(i) we have

$$\mu \in H^{r,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega) \tag{1.2.9}$$

and by Lemma 1.2.20(ii) we have  $F \in L^{p_2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ , where

$$p_2 := \frac{dr}{d-r} = \frac{d\gamma p_1}{d\gamma - d + (d-\gamma)p_1} =: f(p_1).$$

Thus, we obtain

$$p_1 \in \left(1, \frac{d}{d-\gamma}\right) \text{ and } F \in L^{p_1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega) \Longrightarrow F \in L^{f(p_1)}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega).$$

One can easily check that  $p_2 = f(p_1) > p_1$  if  $p_1 < d/(d - \gamma)$ , and that the only positive solution of the equation q = f(q) is  $q = d/(d - \gamma)$ . Therefore, by taking  $p_1$ in (1, d/(d-1)), which is possible by (i), and by defining  $p_{k+1} = f(p_k)$  we obtain an increasing sequence of numbers  $p_k \uparrow d/(d-\gamma)$ , which implies that  $F \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  for any  $p < d/(d-\gamma)$ .

But as  $p_k \nearrow d/(d-\gamma)$ , the sequence of numbers  $r(p_k)$  defined according to (1.2.4) increases to the limit

$$\frac{\gamma d/(d-\gamma)}{\gamma - 1 + d/(d-\gamma)} = \frac{d}{d-\gamma + 1} \; .$$

By (1.2.9) this proves (ii).

(iii) First we consider case (b). By the last assertion in (ii) we have  $F \in L^{p_1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  for any finite  $p_1 > 1$ . Let  $r := r(p_1)$  be defined as in (1.2.4). Then  $1 < r < \gamma$  and (1.2.5) holds. Set

$$q := q(p_1) := \frac{\frac{d\gamma}{d+\gamma} p_1}{\frac{d\gamma}{d+\gamma} - 1 + p_1} .$$
 (1.2.10)

If  $2 \leq d < \gamma$ , then  $\frac{d\gamma}{d+\gamma} > 1$ . Therefore, since  $p_1 > 1$ , it follows that  $1 < q < \frac{d\gamma}{d+\gamma}$ . Hence repeating the arguments that led to (1.2.5) with the triple c,  $\frac{d\gamma}{d+\gamma}$ , q in place of |b|,  $\gamma$ , r we obtain  $cF \in L^q_{loc}(\Omega)$ , thus  $cF \in H^{dq/(d-q),-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  by assertion (ii) of the lemma. Observe that as  $p_1 \to \infty$  we have

$$r\uparrow\gamma, \quad q\uparrow d\gamma/(d+\gamma), \quad dq/(d-q)\uparrow\gamma$$

Therefore, combining this with our assumption that  $\nu$  is contained in the class  $L_{\rm loc}^{d\gamma/(d+\gamma)}(\Omega)$ , which by assertion (ii) of the lemma is contained in  $H_{\rm loc}^{\gamma,-1}(\Omega)$ , and by taking  $p_1$  large enough, we see that the right-hand side of (1.2.3) is in  $H_{\rm loc}^{\gamma-\varepsilon,-1}(\Omega)$  for any  $\varepsilon \in (0, \gamma - 1)$ . By Lemma 1.2.20(ii) we conclude that  $F \in H_{\rm loc}^{\gamma-\varepsilon,1}(\Omega)$ . Since  $\gamma > d$ , the function F is locally bounded. Now we see that above we can take  $p_1 = \infty$  and therefore the right-hand side of (1.2.3) is in  $H_{\rm loc}^{\gamma,-1}(\Omega)$ , which by assertion (i) of the lemma gives us the desired result.

In the remaining case (a) we take  $p_1 > \gamma/(\gamma - 1)$  and assume that  $F \in L^{p_1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ . Then instead of (1.2.4) and (1.2.10) we define

$$r := r(p_1) := \frac{\gamma p_1}{\gamma + p_1}, \quad q := q(p_1) := \frac{\frac{d\gamma}{d + \gamma} p_1}{\frac{d\gamma}{d + \gamma} + p_1} \vee 1$$
(1.2.11)

and observe that since  $p_1 > \gamma/(\gamma - 1)$  we have r > 1, which (because of the relation  $p_1^{-1} + \gamma^{-1} = r^{-1}$ ) allows us to apply Hölder's inequality starting with  $|bF|^r = |b|^r |F|^r$  to conclude that (1.2.5) holds. Since  $c \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega, \mu)$ ,

$$\frac{d\gamma}{d+\gamma} > 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \left(\frac{d\gamma}{d+\gamma}\right)^{-1} + p_1^{-1} = q^{-1},$$

we also have that  $cF \in L^q_{loc}(\Omega)$ . Obviously, q < d. As in part (ii) this yields that  $cF \in H^{dq/(d-q),-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  if q > 1 and  $cF \in H^{s,-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  for any  $s \in (1, d/(d-1))$  if q = 1. We assert that (1.2.8) holds (with  $r = r(p_1)$  as in (1.2.11)) for all  $p_1 > \gamma/(\gamma - 1)$ ,  $p_1 \neq d\gamma/(d\gamma - d - \gamma)$ .

Indeed, if q > 1, then dq/(d-q) = r. If q = 1, then  $p_1 \leq d\gamma/(d\gamma - d - \gamma)$ . But since  $p_1 \neq d\gamma/(d\gamma - d - \gamma)$ , we have  $p_1 < d\gamma/(d\gamma - d - \gamma)$ , which is equivalent to the inequality r < d/(d-1).

the inequality r < d/(d-1). Thus, since  $\nu \in L^{d\gamma/(d+\gamma)}_{loc}(\Omega) \subset H^{\gamma,-1}_{loc}(\Omega) \subset H^{r,-1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ , because  $r < \gamma$ , assertion (i) in the lemma yields the following:

$$\left(p_1 > \frac{\gamma}{\gamma - 1}, \ p_1 \neq \frac{d\gamma}{d\gamma - d - \gamma}, \ F \in L^{p_1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)\right) \Longrightarrow F \in H^{r,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega).$$
 (1.2.12)

If r < d, then the latter in turn implies by assertion (ii) in Lemma 1.2.20 that  $F \in L^{p_2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ . Let us summarize what has been shown:

$$\left( p_1 > \frac{\gamma}{\gamma - 1}, \ p_1 \neq \frac{d\gamma}{d\gamma - d - \gamma}, \ r := \frac{\gamma p_1}{\gamma + p_1} < d, \ F \in L^{p_1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega) \right)$$
$$\Longrightarrow F \in L^{p_2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega),$$
(1.2.13)

where

$$p_2 := \frac{dr}{d-r} = \frac{d\gamma p_1}{d\gamma - (\gamma - d)p_1} > \frac{d\gamma}{d\gamma - (\gamma - d)}p_1.$$

Also, note that  $\gamma/(\gamma-1) < d/(d-1) < \frac{d\gamma}{\gamma d-d-\gamma}$ , so that by (i) we can find a number  $p_1$  to start with. Then starting with  $p_1$  close enough to d/(d-1), by iterating (1.2.13) we always increase p by some factor greater than  $d\gamma/(d\gamma - (\gamma - d)) > 1$ . While doing this, we can obviously choose the first p so that the iterated numbers p will never be equal to  $d\gamma/(d\gamma - d - \gamma)$  and the corresponding numbers r will not coincide with d. After several steps we shall come to the situation where r > d, and then we conclude from (1.2.12) that F is locally bounded (one cannot keep iterating (1.2.13) infinitely because of the restriction r < d). As in case (b), we can now easily complete the proof. 

Example 1.2.15 shows that assertion (iii) of this theorem may fail if  $\gamma > d$  is replaced by  $\gamma = d - \varepsilon$ . Then F does not even need to be in  $H^{2,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ .

1.2.22. PROPOSITION. Suppose that the hypotheses of Corollary 1.2.8 are fulfilled. Let  $\mu$  be some positive measure on  $\Omega$  satisfying the equation  $L^*_{A,b,c}\mu = 0$ . Then, any other solution  $\mu_0$  can be written as  $\mu_0 = f \cdot \mu$ , where  $f \in W^{p,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ .

PROOF. Suppose first that d > 1. Then p > 2. We know that  $\mu$  and  $\mu_0$ have continuous densities  $\rho$  and  $\rho_0$ , respectively, in the class  $W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  and that  $\rho$ has no zeros in  $\Omega$ . Set  $f = \varrho/\varrho_0$ . Then  $\mu_0 = f \cdot \mu$  and  $f \in W_{\text{loc}}^{p,1}(\Omega)$ . We have  $a^i := \sum_{j=1}^d \partial_{x_j} a^{ij} \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ . Set  $a := (a^i)$ . Let us verify that f satisfies the elliptic equation  $a^{ij}$ 

$$a^{ij}\varrho\partial_{x_i}\partial_{x_j}f + \langle \nabla f, 2\varrho a + 2A\nabla \varrho - \varrho b \rangle = 0$$

in the sense of weak solutions in the class  $W_{loc}^{p,1}(\Omega)$ , i.e., in the sense of the identity

$$\int \left[-\varphi \partial_{x_i}(a^{ij}\varrho)\partial_{x_j}f - \langle \varrho A\nabla f, \nabla \varphi \rangle + \langle \nabla f, 2\varrho a + 2A\nabla \varrho - \varrho b \rangle \varphi\right] dx = 0 \quad (1.2.14)$$

for all  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . This will yield the desired inclusion  $f \in W_{\text{loc}}^{p,2}(\Omega)$ , since we have  $\varrho a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega), \ \varrho A$  is nondegenerate,  $a\varrho, b\varrho, c\varrho \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ . In order to establish (1.2.14) we observe that the equality  $L^*_{A,b,c}\mu_0 = L^*_{A,b,c}\mu = 0$  and the integration by parts formula give the identities

$$\int \left[-\partial_{x_i}(a^{ij}\varrho f)\partial_{x_j}\varphi + \langle f\varrho b, \nabla\varphi \rangle + c\varrho f\varphi\right] dx = 0, \qquad (1.2.15)$$
$$\int \left[-\partial_{x_i}(a^{ij}\varrho)\partial_{x_j}\varphi + \langle \varrho b, \nabla\varphi \rangle + c\varrho\varphi\right] dx = 0$$

for all  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . Since  $a^{ij}, \varrho, f \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  and p > 2, it follows that the second relation remains true for all functions  $\varphi$  of the form  $\varphi = f\psi$  with  $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . This yields the identity

$$\int \left[-\partial_{x_i}(a^{ij}\varrho)f\partial_{x_j}\varphi - \partial_{x_i}(a^{ij}\varrho)\varphi\partial_{x_j}f + \langle \varrho b, f\nabla\varphi \rangle + \langle \varrho b, \varphi\nabla f \rangle + c\varrho f\varphi\right]dx = 0$$

for all  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . Subtracting the last equality from (1.2.15) and differentiating the products by the Leibnitz formula we arrive at (1.2.14). In the case d = 1 this reasoning does not apply if p < 2, but in this case a simple direct proof works: we have  $(Af\varrho)' = f\varrho b + \psi$  and  $(A\varrho)' = b\varrho + k$ , where  $\psi$  is the indefinite integral of  $cf\varrho$  and k is constant. Then  $f' = (\psi - kf)(A\varrho)^{-1}$ .

We have already seen from Harnack's inequality that the continuous version of a density of a nonnegative measure  $\mu$  satisfying the equation  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$  on a ball  $\Omega$  is strictly positive provided that  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ , A is strictly positive, and  $b^i \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$  with some p > d. Unlike the Sobolev regularity result, the latter condition on b cannot be replaced by the alternative assumption  $b^i \in L^p_{loc}(\mu)$ . However, the next result of S.V. Shaposhnikov [156] gives a sufficient condition for the strict positivity of densities entirely in terms of integrability with respect to  $\mu$ .

1.2.23. THEOREM. Let  $\mu$  be a nonzero nonnegative Borel measure on a ball  $\Omega$  satisfying the equation  $L^*_{\mathrm{I},b}\mu = 0$ , where  $\exp(\varepsilon|b|) \in L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mu)$  for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then  $\mu$  has a continuous strictly positive density.

In §1.9 below we discuss lower bounds for densities under similar global exponential integrability assumptions.

Let us mention several works containing various results related to weak elliptic equations for measures (or equations for functions that are satisfied by densities of solutions to equations for measures): [120], [15], [76], [107], [108], [109], [98]. Finally, let us note that the local regularity results can be used to strengthen the results on smoothness of invariant measures with respect to a parameter obtained in [178].

#### 1.3. Some a priori estimates

In this section we establish certain general a priori estimates which will be useful in proving the existence of solutions. These estimates provide bounds on the integrals of certain given functions with respect to unknown solutions.

1.3.1. THEOREM. Let  $V \ge 0$  be a continuous function of the class  $W^{2,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , let  $U := \{V < c\}$  be bounded, and let  $\mu$  be a nonnegative Borel measure on Usatisfying the equation  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$ , where  $A = (a^{ij})$  is a mapping on U with values in the space of positive symmetric linear operators on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(U)$  for some p > d,  $b = (b^i)$  is a Borel mapping from U to  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that either  $|b| \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\mu)$ or  $|b| \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(U)$ . Suppose that there exist a Borel function  $\Psi \in L^1(\mu)$  and a Borel function  $\Phi \ge 0$  such that

$$LV \leq \Psi - \Phi$$
  $\mu$ -a.e. on U.

Then one has

$$\int_U \Phi \, d\mu \le \int_U \Psi \, d\mu.$$

If  $\mu$  is a probability measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfying the equation  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$  on the whole space, where A and b satisfy the above assumptions locally, and if  $LV \leq \Psi - \Phi$ on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , where all the sets  $\{V \leq c\}$  are compact, then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi \, d\mu \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi \, d\mu.$$

PROOF. It suffices to prove our assertion for bounded  $\Phi$ . Indeed, once this is done, we consider the functions  $\Phi_k = \min(\Phi, k)$ , for which  $LV \leq \Psi - \Phi_k$ , and then apply Fatou's theorem. Assuming that  $\Phi$  is bounded, given  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we can find a compact set  $K \subset U$  such that  $\mu(U) < \mu(K) + \varepsilon$  and

$$\int_U \Phi \, d\mu < \int_K \Phi \, d\mu + \varepsilon.$$

By the continuity of V there is a number r < c such that

$$K \subset \{V < r\} \subset \{V \le r\} \subset U.$$

We know that  $\mu$  has a continuous density  $\rho$ . Hence there is a number  $r_1 < r$  such that  $K \subset \{V < r_1\}$  and

$$\int_{\{r_1 \le V \le r\}} |\langle \nabla V, b \rangle| \, d\mu < \varepsilon.$$

In the case d > 1 this follows by the Cauchy–Bunyakowskii inequality, and if d = 1, then V' is locally bounded. Let us take the function  $\varphi$  on the real line such that  $\varphi(t) = t$  if  $t \leq r_1$ ,  $\varphi(t) = (r_1 + r)/2$  if  $t \geq r$ ,  $\varphi''(t) = -1/|r - r_1|$  on  $[r_1, r]$ , and  $\varphi''(t) = 0$  outside  $[r_1, r]$ . Then  $0 \leq \varphi' \leq 1$ ,  $\varphi'' \leq 0$ , and

$$L_{A,b}(\varphi \circ V) = \varphi''(V) \langle A \nabla V, \nabla V \rangle + \varphi'(V) L_{A,b} V,$$

which vanishes outside  $\{V \leq r\}$  since  $\varphi \circ V$  is constant outside  $\{V \leq r\}$ , and  $L_{A,b}(\varphi \circ V) = L_{A,b}V$  on  $\{V \leq r_1\}$ . Since  $\varphi \circ V \in W^{2,1}_{\text{loc}}(U)$  and  $\varphi \circ V$  is constant outside  $\{V \leq r\}$ , we have

$$\int_{U} L_{A,b}(\varphi \circ V) \, d\mu = 0.$$

Taking into account that  $\varphi''(V) \leq 0$  and  $0 \leq \varphi'(V) \leq 1$ , we obtain that s

$$\begin{split} \int_{\{V \leq r_1\}} [\Psi - \Phi] \, d\mu &\geq \int_{\{V \leq r_1\}} L(\varphi \circ V) \, d\mu = -\int_{\{r_1 < V \leq r\}} L(\varphi \circ V) \, d\mu \\ &\geq -\int_{\{r_1 < V \leq r\}} |\langle \nabla V, b \rangle| \, d\mu \geq -\varepsilon, \end{split}$$

whence

$$\int_{\{V \le r_1\}} \Phi \, d\mu \le \int_{\{V \le r_1\}} \Psi \, d\mu + \varepsilon.$$

Since  $\varepsilon > 0$  was arbitrary and the numbers r and  $r_1$  can be chosen as close to c as we like, the desired estimate is proven. The assertion concerning the whole space follows at once since we can take increasing sets  $\{V < j\}$  whose union is  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .  $\Box$ 

A function V is called compact if all the sets  $\{V \leq c\}$  are compact. For a continuous function V on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  this is equivalent to  $\lim_{|x|\to\infty} V(x) = +\infty$ . We shall call a function V quasi-compact if the space can be represented as the union of increasing compact sets  $\{V \leq c_k\}$  for some increasing sequence of numbers  $c_k$ . For example, any even continuous function on the real line which is increasing on  $[0, +\infty)$  to some number c but does not assume the value c is quasi-compact.

1.3.2. THEOREM. Suppose that we are given mappings  $A_k = (a_k^{ij})$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with values in the space of positive symmetric linear operators on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and Borel vector fields  $b_k = (b_k^i)$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that, for every R > 0, there exist  $\alpha_R > d$ ,  $\beta_R > 0$ , and  $\gamma_R > 0$  for which

$$\kappa_R := \sup_k \int_{|x| \le R} \left[ |b_k(x)|^{\alpha_R} + \sum_{i,j=1}^d \|\nabla a_k^{ij}(x)\|^{\alpha_R} \right] dx < \infty,$$
(1.3.1)

$$\beta_R \mathbf{I} \le A_k(x) \le \gamma_R \mathbf{I} \quad \forall k, \ \forall x \in \{y \colon |y| \le R\}.$$
(1.3.2)

Suppose also that there exists a continuous quasi-compact (e.g., compact) function  $V \in W^{2,1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} \sup_{k} L_{A_k, b_k} V(x) = -\infty.$$
(1.3.3)

Let  $\{\mu_k\}$  be a sequence of probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that

$$L^*_{A_k,b_k}\mu_k = 0.$$

Set  $U_R := \{V < R\}$ . Then the following assertions are true.

(i) The measures  $\mu_k$  admit continuous densities  $\varrho_k$  such that, for every fixed R > 1, the functions  $\varrho_k|_{U_R}$  are uniformly bounded, uniformly Hölder continuous, and uniformly bounded in  $W^{\alpha_R,1}(U_{R-1})$ .

(ii) One has  $\inf_{k} \inf_{x \in U_R} \varrho_k(x) > 0$  for every R > 0.

(iii) The sequence  $\{\mu_k\}$  is relatively weakly compact on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

Furthermore, suppose that for every k a probability measure  $\mu_k$  is defined on  $U_k = \{V < c_k\}$ , where  $c_k \uparrow \infty$ , and satisfies the equation  $L^*_{A_k,b_k}\mu_k = 0$  only in  $U_k$ . Then assertions (i)–(iii) remain valid with the following changes: only those k with  $c_k > R$  are considered in (i) and (ii).

PROOF. Assertions (i) and (ii) follow directly from the results in §1.2. In order to prove (iii) let us take a compact set E such that

$$L_{A_k,b_k}V(x) \le -1, \quad \forall k, \ \forall x \notin E.$$

Let  $\Psi_k := |L_{A_k,b_k}V|I_E$  and  $\Phi_k := -(L_{A_k,b_k}V)I_{\mathbb{R}^d\setminus E}$ . Then  $L_{A_k,b_k}V \le \Psi_k - \Phi_k$  and  $\Phi_k \ge 0$  since  $\Phi_k = -L_{A_k,b_k}V$  outside E. Theorem 1.3.1 yields

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi_k \, d\mu_k \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi_k \, d\mu_k.$$

It follows from our assumptions that

$$S := \sup_{k} \int_{E} |L_{A_k, b_k} V| \, d\mu_k < \infty.$$

Therefore, the previous estimate gives

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus E} |L_{A_k, b_k} V| \, d\mu_k \le S,$$

whence we find that

$$\sup_{k} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |L_{A_k, b_k} V| \, d\mu_k \le 2S$$

Therefore, given C > 0, we can find a number R such that  $L_{A_k,b_k}V \leq -C$  outside  $\{V \leq R\}$  for all k. Hence for all k we have

$$\mu(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{V \le R\}) \le 2S/C,$$

which means the uniform tightness of  $\{\mu_k\}$  and, consequently, relative weak compactness of  $\{\mu_k\}$ .

Let us prove the last assertion in which each measure  $\mu_k$  is defined only on the set  $\{V < c_k\}$ . There is no change in the proof of assertions (i) and (ii) except that now one has to consider only k with  $c_k > R$ . The same proof of (iii) works also in this case, we just consider sufficiently large k such that  $E \subset \{V < c_k\}$ .

1.3.3. COROLLARY. In the situation of Theorem 1.3.2, the sequence  $\{\mu_k\}$  is relatively compact in the variation norm.

PROOF. It follows from Theorem 1.3.2 that every subsequence of this sequence has a subsequence  $\{\nu_k\}$  such that  $\{\nu_k\}$  converges weakly to some probability measure  $\nu$  and the continuous densities  $\varrho_k$  of the measures  $\nu_k$  converge locally uniformly to a continuous limit  $\varrho_0$ . Clearly,  $\varrho_0$  serves as a density for  $\nu$ . Therefore, we have  $\|\varrho_k - \varrho_0\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)} \to 0$ , which is our claim.

1.3.4. COROLLARY. Suppose that the hypotheses of Theorem 1.3.2 are satisfied except for (1.3.3), which is replaced by

$$\lim_{|x|\to\infty}\sup_k \langle b_k(x), x\rangle = -\infty.$$
(1.3.4)

Assume, in addition, that  $\sup \gamma_R < \infty$ . Then, for every  $p \ge 1$ , one has

$$M_p := \sup_k \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle x, x \rangle^p \, \mu_k(dx) < \infty.$$

PROOF. We may assume that  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ . By (1.3.4) the function  $V(x) = \langle x, x \rangle^p$  satisfies condition (1.3.3) since

$$L_{A_k,b_k}V(x) = 4p(p-1)\langle x,x\rangle^{p-2} \sum_{i,j=1}^d a_k^{ij}(x)x_ix_j +2p\langle x,x\rangle^{p-1} \operatorname{trace} A_k(x) + 2p\langle x,x\rangle^{p-1}\langle x,b_k(x)\rangle \leq \langle x,x\rangle^{p-1} \Big[ 4p(p-1) \|A_k(x)\| + 2pd \|A_k(x)\| + 2p\langle x,b_k(x)\rangle \Big].$$

By (1.3.4) and the uniform boundedness of  $||A_k(x)||$  there is R > 0 and two positive numbers  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  such that

$$L_{A_k,b_k}V(x) \le c_1 - c_2 \langle x, x \rangle^{p-1} \quad \forall k \ge 1$$

whenever |x| > R. It follows from our assumptions and the above theorem that

$$\sup_k \int_{\{|x| \le R\}} |L_{A_k, b_k} V(x)| \, \mu_k(dx) < \infty.$$

Hence  $M_{p-1} < \infty$  by Theorem 1.3.1.

1.3.5. REMARK. (i) We observe that the proof of tightness of  $\{\mu_k\}$  only used (1.3.3). Hence assertion (ii) of Theorem 1.3.2 is valid under (1.3.3) for measures  $\mu_k$  satisfying equations  $L^*_{A_k,b_k}\mu_k = 0$  with arbitrary coefficients  $A_k$  and  $b_k$  that are locally  $\mu_k$ -integrable.

(ii) Clearly, conditions (1.3.1) and (1.3.2) can be imposed locally, i.e., for every point x there exist a neighborhood W of x and numbers  $\alpha_W > d$ ,  $\beta_W > 0$ , and  $\gamma_W > 0$  such that (1.3.1) and (1.3.2) hold with W,  $\alpha_W$ ,  $\beta_W$ , and  $\gamma_W$  in place of  $U_R$ ,  $\alpha_R$ ,  $\beta_R$ , and  $\gamma_R$ , respectively.

## 1.4. Existence of solutions

Here we present sufficient conditions for the existence of solutions expressed in terms of Lyapunov functions, hence verifiable explicitly in terms of the coefficients of our operators. This method goes back to R.Z. Hasminskii [92], [93], and the presented results are borrowed from [38] with some improvements.

1.4.1. THEOREM. Suppose that  $A = (a^{ij})_{i,j \leq d}$  is a mapping on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with values in the space of nonnegative symmetric linear operators on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and let  $b: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ 

be a Borel mapping such that, for every ball  $U_R$ , there exist numbers  $\alpha_R > d$  and  $\beta_R > 0$  such that  $\beta_R I \leq A(x)$  for all  $x \in U_R$  and

$$a^{ij}|_{U_R} \in W^{\alpha_R,1}(U_R), \quad |b||_{U_R} \in L^{\alpha_R}(U_R).$$

Assume, in addition, that there exists a quasi-compact (e.g., compact) function  $V \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$L_{A,b}V(x) \to -\infty \quad as \ |x| \to \infty.$$
 (1.4.1)

Then there exists a Borel probability measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that

$$|b| \in L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(\mu) \quad and \quad L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$$

Moreover, the measure  $\mu$  admits a continuous strictly positive density  $\varrho$  such that  $\varrho|_{U_{R-1}} \in W^{\alpha_R,1}(U_{R-1})$  for every R > 1.

PROOF. By our condition on V we have increasing domains  $U_k = \{V < c_k\}$  with compact closures of  $U_k$  in  $U_{k+1}$ , whose union is the whole space. Let us first find a sequence of nonnegative functions  $p_k$  that are not identically zero and satisfy our equation in the domains  $U_k$ . To this end, take a ball  $B_k$  containing  $U_k$ . It is known (see [172, Theorem 3.2 and the remark at the end of §3]) that, for every k, there exists a nonnegative function  $p_k \in W^{\alpha_{k},1}(B_k)$  such that  $p_k = 1$  on the boundary of  $B_k$  (in the sense explained in [172]) while in the interior of  $B_k$  one has

$$\partial_{x_i} \left( a^{ij} \partial_{x_j} p_k - b^i p_k + (\partial_{x_j} a^{ij}) p_k \right) = 0 \tag{1.4.2}$$

in the weak sense. The fact that these solutions are nonnegative follows by the weak maximum principle [173, Theorem 7]. Our case corresponds to  $\gamma = b^i = b = 0$  in the theorem cited (see also [172, Exercise 8.1]). It is worth mentioning that the existence of functions  $p_k$  with the aforementioned properties can be derived from the solvability of the boundary problem for smooth coefficients. Indeed, there exists a sequence of smooth mappings  $A_m = (a_m^{ij})_{i,j=1}^d$  on a larger ball  $B'_k \supset B_k$  with values in the space of the positive symmetric linear operators on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that the mappings  $A_m$  are uniformly nondegenerate and converge to A in the norm of the Sobolev class  $W^{\alpha_k,1}(B'_k)$ . In addition, there exists a sequence of smooth mappings  $b_m = (b_m^i)_{i=1}^d$  convergent to b in  $L^{\alpha_k}(B'_k, \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Let us denote by  $f_m$  the solution of the boundary value problem

$$\partial_{x_i} \left( a_m^{ij}(x) \partial_{x_j} f_m - b_m^i f_m + \partial_{x_j} a_m^{ij} f_m \right) = 0$$

with condition  $f_m = 1$  on the boundary of  $B'_k$ . Such solutions exist according to [89, Theorem 8.3 and the remark at the end of §8.2]. Let  $\kappa_m$  be such that the minimum of  $\tilde{f}_m := \kappa_m f_m$  on  $B'_k$  is 1. According to the results in §1.2, the sequence  $\{\tilde{f}_m\}$ is uniformly bounded on  $B_k$ . In addition, the restrictions of  $\tilde{f}_m$  have uniformly bounded norms in the space  $W^{\alpha_k,1}(B_k)$ . Choosing a subsequence from  $\{\tilde{f}_m\}$  that is uniformly convergent on  $B_k$ , we conclude that its limit after normalization can be taken for  $p_k$  since it satisfies equation (1.4.2) in  $B_k$  in the weak sense and is estimated by 1 from below. It follows from our reasoning that  $p_k \in W^{\alpha_k,1}(U_k)$ . Multiplying the solutions  $p_{n_k}$  by positive constants and letting  $p_k = 0$  outside  $U_k$ , we obtain probability measures  $\mu_k$  satisfying the elliptic equation  $L^*_{A,b}\mu_k = 0$  in  $U_k$ . According to Theorem 1.3.2, the sequence  $\{\mu_k\}$  contains a subsequence  $\{\mu_{k_i}\}$ convergent in the variation norm to a probability measure  $\mu$  with a strictly positive continuous density  $\varrho$ . In addition, for every ball B, there is  $k_0$  such that the densities  $\varrho_{k_i}$  of the measures  $\mu_{k_i}$  with  $k_i \geq k_0$  converge uniformly on B. Therefore, for any  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , we obtain by Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem that

$$0 = \lim_{i \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} L_{A,b} \varphi(x) \varrho_{k_i}(x) \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} L_{A,b} \varphi(x) \varrho(x) \, dx.$$

Therefore,  $\mu = \rho dx$  is the desired solution.

1.4.2. COROLLARY. The assertion of the previous theorem is true if A is a locally Lipschitzian uniformly bounded mapping with values in the space of positive symmetric operators on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and b is a Borel mapping such that  $|b| \in L^{\alpha}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , where  $\alpha > d$ , and  $\lim_{|x| \to \infty} \langle b(x), x \rangle = -\infty$ .

**PROOF.** It suffices to take  $V(x) = \langle x, x \rangle$ .

For example, the previous corollary applies to the situation where A = I and b(x) = -k(x)x, where  $k \in L^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is such that

 $k(x)|x|^2 \to +\infty$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ .

More generally, if A = I, then it suffices to have a weaker relation

$$\limsup_{|x|\to\infty} \langle x,x\rangle^{\gamma-1} \Big[ 2(\gamma-1) + d + \langle b(x),x\rangle \Big] = -\infty$$

for some  $\gamma \ge 1$  (then the function  $V(x) = \langle x, x \rangle^{\gamma}$  can be used).

Another example covered by Theorem 1.4.1 is this: A = I and for some  $\gamma \ge 1$ one has  $\langle b(x), x \rangle \le -r < -d + 2 - 2\gamma$  outside some ball (of course, we assume that |b| is locally integrable to a power bigger than d). Then we take the function  $V(x) = \langle x, x \rangle^{\gamma}$ . The same coercivity condition was assumed in [175] for locally bounded b (in order to get the equation from [175] one should take A = I/2 in our case). Note that, as shown in [175], one can reduce to this case the more general case where the diffusion term is continuous, nondegenerate, and satisfies certain uniform bounds, provided that the drift is locally bounded and coercive and that the corresponding stochastic differential equation has a unique weak solution.

The next result was proved in [38].

1.4.3. COROLLARY. Let  $A = (a^{ij})$  be a continuous mapping on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with values in the space of positive symmetric linear operators on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and let b be a Borel vector field on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Suppose that there exists a quasi-compact function  $V \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that (1.4.1) is fulfilled. Then the following assertions are true.

(i) If b is continuous, then there exists a probability measure  $\mu$  satisfying the equation  $L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0$ .

(ii) If det A > 0 and b is locally bounded, then there exists a probability measure  $\mu$  which has a density in the class  $L_{\text{loc}}^{d/(d-1)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and satisfies the equation  $L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0$ .

1.4.4. REMARK. It is obvious that in the case of nondegenerate A the Borel measurability of b can be replaced by its Lebesgue measurability and that our solution does not depend on a Lebesgue equivalent version of b because any solution has a density.

Let us observe that (1.4.1) holds if there are positive numbers  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  such that

 $LV(x) \le c_1 - c_2 V(x)$  and  $\lim_{|x| \to \infty} V(x) = +\infty.$ 

It should be noted that in general even for A = I the assumption that

$$\lim_{|x|\to\infty} L_{A,b}V(x) = -\infty$$

cannot be replaced by the weaker assumption that

$$L_{A,b}V(x) \le c < 0$$
 outside some ball U. (1.4.3)

Indeed, let d = 1, A = 1, and  $b(x) = -\operatorname{sign} x/(1 + |x|)$ . We have  $xb(x) \to -1$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ . Assume that  $\mu$  is a probability measure satisfying the equation  $L_{1,b}^*\mu = 0$ . Then  $\mu$  has a locally absolutely continuous density  $\varrho$  such that  $\varrho'' + (b\varrho)' = 0$  in the sense of distributions, whence  $\varrho' + b\varrho = 0$ , since  $b\varrho$  is integrable (it suffices to integrate over the intervals  $[t_k, s_k]$ , where  $t_k \to -\infty$ ,  $s_k \to +\infty$ ,  $\varrho(t_k) \to 0$ ,  $\varrho(s_k) \to 0$ ). In addition,  $\varrho > 0$ , so that  $(\ln \varrho)' = -\ln(1 + |x|)'$ , whence we obtain that  $\varrho(x) = c/(1 + |x|)$ , which is a non-integrable function. In [16], the existence of an invariant probability is established under assumption (1.4.3) and the additional assumption that  $|\nabla V|^2/V \leq c$  for some number c > 0. However, in this case we can take a new Lyapunov function  $W = (2V)^{\alpha}$ , where  $\alpha = 1 + c^{-1}$ , which satisfies (1.4.1).

It is clear that the presented existence results can be modified for divergence form operators. For example, if the functions  $a^{ij}$  are Lipschitzian and  $\langle b(x), x \rangle \leq c_1 - c_2 |x| \ln |x|$  outside some ball, then the extra term in the drift which appears when we write the equation in non-divergence form does not destroy condition (1.4.1).

For other sufficient existence conditions expressed in terms of A and b, see [50].

Note also that in the case where b is a gradient, more special sufficient conditions are available that guarantee the existence of a probability measure whose logarithmic gradient is b (see [22, §7.5]), but even in this case the general sufficient conditions presented above turn out to be very efficient.

## 1.5. Associated $L^1$ -semigroups

Here we discuss semigroups associated with solutions to our elliptic equations for measures, along with relations between such equations and the proper invariance of measures with respect to their associated semigroups. We recall that in the Introduction we defined the concept of a measure invariant with respect to a semigroup  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  of bounded linear operators on the space  $B_b(X)$  of bounded measurable functions. Similarly one defines invariance in the case where X is a topological space,  $\mu$  is a Borel measure on X, and  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is a semigroup of bounded linear operators on the space  $C_b(X)$  of bounded continuous functions. An obvious modification of the latter concept arises if the operators  $T_t$  are just operators from  $C_b(X)$ to  $L^{\infty}(\mu)$ , not necessarily forming a semigroup. If for all bounded Borel functions f and g one has

$$\int_X T_t f(x) g(x) \mu(dx) = \int_X f(x) T_t g(x) \mu(dx),$$

then the semigroup is called *symmetric* and the measure  $\mu$  is called *symmetric in*variant. It is clear that this case is characterized by the property that the generator L of the semigroup is symmetric in  $L^2(\mu)$ . If  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is the transition semigroup of a Markov process, then this process is called  $\mu$ -symmetric. A process is called symmetrizable if there is a measure  $\mu$  such that it is  $\mu$ -symmetric.

We are interested in the case where the semigroup  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is in a certain sense generated by the elliptic operator  $L_{A,b}$  for which there exists a probability measure  $\mu$  satisfying the equation  $L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0$ . However, one should be very careful with a possible interpretation of the term "generated". We shall use instead the term "associated" and this will simply mean the following: the semigroup  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  on the space of bounded Borel functions will be called associated with  $L_{A,b}$  and  $\mu$  if it extends to a strongly continuous semigroup on  $L^1(\mu)$  whose generator coincides with  $L_{A,b}$  on the class of smooth compactly supported functions. Typically, such a semigroup is not continuous on  $B_b$  or  $C_b$ . Moreover, in general it is not unique (we shall see such examples; however, a certain special associated semigroup will be singled out), and this is closely connected with the non-uniqueness of solutions to the equation  $L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0$  in the class of probability measures. On the other hand, we shall find conditions that guarantee the uniqueness of an associated semigroup, and this uniqueness turns out to be equivalent to the proper invariance of  $\mu$  with respect to its special associated semigroup in the case where the drift coefficient bis locally Lebesgue integrable to a power greater than the dimension of the space. In the latter case, the semigroup is indeed generated by  $L_{A,b}$  in the classical sense that the closure of  $(L_{A,b}, C_0^{\infty})$  in  $L^1(\mu)$  is the generator of the semigroup.

We recall that a bounded operator T on  $L^1(\mu)$  is called *sub-Markovian* if one has  $0 \leq Tf \leq 1$  whenever  $f \in L^{\infty}(\mu)$  and  $0 \leq f \leq 1$ . If, in addition, T1 = 1, then T is called *Markovian*.

In general, the operators  $T_t^{\mu}$  in the associated semigroup constructed below are sub-Markovian, not Markovian. In addition,  $\mu$  is only sub-invariant for them, i.e.,

$$\int_X T_t^{\mu} f \, d\mu \le \int_X f \, d\mu, \quad f \in L^{\infty}(\mu), \ f \ge 0.$$

We observe that if  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is a semigroup on  $L^1(\mu)$  and takes  $L^{\infty}(\mu)$  to  $L^{\infty}(\mu)$ , then by the interpolation theorem it takes  $L^p(\mu)$  to  $L^p(\mu)$  for all  $p \in [1, +\infty)$ , and its adjoint semigroup also maps each  $L^p(\mu)$  into itself.

First we discuss the case A = I studied in [4], where the proofs can be found.

1.5.1. THEOREM. Suppose that A = I,  $|b| \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for some  $p > d \ge 2$ , and  $\mu$  is a probability measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that  $L^*\mu = 0$ , where  $L = L_{I,b}$  and  $\varrho := d\mu/dx$  is such that  $|b - \nabla \varrho/\varrho| \in L^1(\mu)$ . Then the following assertions are true.

(i) There exists exactly one strongly continuous semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t>0}$  on  $L^1(\mu)$ such that its generator  $(L_{\mu}, D(L_{\mu}))$  extends L, i.e., we have  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset D(L_{\mu})$  and  $L_{\mu} = L$  on  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . In addition,  $(L_{\mu}, D(L_{\mu}))$  is the closure of  $(L, C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$  on  $L^1(\mu)$ .

(ii) The semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t>0}$  is Markovian.

(iii) If  $(G_{\alpha})_{\alpha>0}$  denotes the corresponding resolvent, then  $G_{\alpha}f$  has a unique continuous  $\mu$ -version for all  $f \in L^{dp/(d+p)}(\mu)$  and all  $\alpha > 0$ . In particular,  $(G_{\alpha})_{\alpha>0}$  is strongly Feller, i.e.,  $G_{\alpha}f$  has a continuous  $\mu$ -version for all  $f \in L^{\infty}(\mu)$ ,  $\alpha > 0$ . (iv) For every  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and t > 0, the function  $T_t^{\mu}f$  has a unique continuous

(IV) For every  $f \in C_0^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and t > 0, the function  $I_t$  f has a unique continuous  $\mu$ -version  $\widetilde{T_t^{\mu}}f$  and  $\mu$  is the only probability measure  $\nu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that

$$\int \widetilde{T_t^{\mu} f} \, d\nu = \int f \, d\nu \quad \text{for all } f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \text{ and all } t > 0.$$

1.5.2. THEOREM. Suppose that a probability measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfies the equation  $L^*\mu = 0$ , where  $L := L_{I,b}$  and  $|b| \in L^2_{loc}(\mu)$ . Let  $\varrho$  be the density of  $\mu$ .

(i) Assume that

$$|b - \nabla \varrho/\varrho| \in L^2(\mu). \tag{1.5.1}$$

Then there exists a strongly continuous semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  on  $L^1(\mu)$  with generator  $(L_{\mu}, D(L_{\mu}))$  extending L. Furthermore,  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  is Markovian and  $\mu$  is  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ -invariant.

(ii) Assume that  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$ . Then  $|b - \nabla \varrho/\varrho| \in L^2(\mu)$ , so the conclusion of (i) holds.

(iii) Assume that  $|b| \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for some  $p > d \ge 2$  and that

$$|b - \nabla \varrho/\varrho| \in L^q(\mu)$$
 for some  $q \in [1, \infty]$ .

Let  $r := 2 - \frac{2}{q+1}$ , where  $\frac{1}{\infty} := 0$ . Then, the restriction of  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  to  $L^r(\mu)$  is the unique strongly continuous semigroup on  $L^r(\mu)$  whose generator extends L. This generator is the closure of  $(L, C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d))$  on  $L^r(\mu)$ .

1.5.3. PROPOSITION. Suppose that  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  are two probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfying the equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  with  $L = L_{\mathrm{I},b}$  such that  $\mu_2$  is absolutely continuous with respect to  $\mu_1$  and |b| is  $\mu_i$ -square integrable for both measures. Let  $(T_t^{\mu_i})_{t\geq 0}$  denote the corresponding strongly continuous semigroups on  $L^1(\mu_i)$  whose generators  $(L^{\mu_i}, D(L^{\mu_i}))$  extend L, i = 1, 2, which exist by the previous theorem. Then  $T_t^{\mu_1}f = T_t^{\mu_2}f \ \mu_1$ -a.e. for all t > 0 and all bounded Borel measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

This proposition can be proved by a modification of an argument from [119] based on Duhamel's formula.

1.5.4. REMARK. (i) We would like to point out that all the strongly continuous semigroups  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  above are automatically contractions on all the spaces  $L^p(\mu)$ , since they are sub-Markovian and since  $\mu$  is  $T_t^{\mu}$ -invariant.

(ii) In the situation of Theorem 1.5.2(i) there exists a "nice" Markov process on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  whose transition probabilities are given by  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  and which is a weak solution to the stochastic equation  $d\xi_t = dw_t + b(\xi_t)dt$ . This follows from the paper [168], to which we refer for details and precise definitions.

Let us consider the symmetric case, i.e., the case where the operator  $L_{I,b}$  is symmetric in  $L^2(\mu)$ ; it turns out that this corresponds to that b is a logarithmic gradient; see Example 1.1.3 (a more precise description of this case is given below).

1.5.5. PROPOSITION. Let  $b = \nabla \varrho / \varrho$ , where  $\varrho \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is a probability density, and let  $\mu := \varrho \, dx$ . Then there exists a strongly continuous Markovian semigroup  $(T^{\mu}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  on  $L^1(\mu)$  whose generator  $(L^{\mu}, D(L^{\mu}))$  extends  $L = L_{\text{I},b}$  and which has  $\mu$  as a  $(T^{\mu}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ -invariant measure. Furthermore, the restriction of  $(T^{\mu}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  to  $L^2(\mu)$  consists of symmetric operators.

1.5.6. REMARK. (i) The uniqueness of  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  in Proposition 1.5.5 is ensured by Theorem 1.5.2(ii) provided that  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$ . However, by [151, Theorem 3.1], we can relax the last condition to  $|b| \in L^2_{loc}(\mu)$  and still have uniqueness of  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ among all strongly continuous symmetric Markovian semigroups on  $L^2(\mu)$  whose generators extend L (but we do not know whether the symmetry condition is essential here). We also note that in the present symmetric case we can take r = 2in Theorem 1.5.2(iii), which was first shown in [32, Corollary 8]). We note that without extra assumptions the measure  $\mu$  in this proposition can fail to be a unique probability measure satisfying the equation  $L^*_{I,b}\mu = 0$ , even among measures with a logarithmic gradient b (see Example 1.6.1 below).

(ii) In the situation of Proposition 1.5.5 it follows by its proof and the general theory in [125] that there exists a diffusion process on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  whose transition semigroup is  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ .

In his celebrated work [105] Kolmogorov studied the following problem. Let  $(\xi_t)_{t\geq 0}$  be a diffusion in a finite dimensional Riemannian manifold X (in Kolmogorov's case it was compact) with generator  $L = (\Delta + b)/2$ , where b is a smooth vector field on X. When is the process  $\eta_t = \xi_{T-t}$  governed by the same equation, i.e., when does it have the same generator L? The answer found by Kolmogorov says: if and only if b is the gradient of a function. Earlier this question had been considered by Schrödinger [154] in the one dimensional-case. In the paper [105], Kolmogorov

considered only solutions of the Fokker–Planck equations as densities of transition probabilities; in those days no stochastic integration was developed (the corresponding stochastic equation on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  would have the form  $d\xi_t = dw_t + 2^{-1}b(\xi_t)dt$ . Moreover, it was mostly the case of compact X that was considered, when invariant probability measures always exist. In this case the property studied by Kolmogorov is equivalent to the symmetrizability of  $(\xi_t)_{t>0}$ . Thus, Kolmogorov's result is a criterion for symmetrizability of a diffusion in a compact manifold. In the noncompact case, additional conditions are required in order to ensure the existence of invariant probability measures (see the previous section). The difference between existence of an invariant measure  $\mu = \rho dx$  and symmetrizability of the diffusion  $(\xi_t)_{t>0}$  with generator  $L = (\Delta + b)/2$  can be seen from Corollary 1.8.2 below, which extends Kolmogorov's theorem to general drifts from  $L^2(\mu)$ . According to this corollary, drifts of symmetrizable diffusions in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  are logarithmic gradients of measures (an analogous fact is valid also for manifolds, see [48]). If  $|b| \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with some p > d, then we obtain an exact analog since  $\mu$  has a positive density  $\rho$  and  $b = \nabla \ln \rho$ , i.e., b is indeed the gradient of a function.

We now consider the case of nonconstant A studied in [46], [47], where the proofs can be found. Let us fix an open subset  $\Omega$  of a Riemannian manifold M of dimension d. Up to the end of this section we assume that A and b satisfy the following conditions with some p > d:

(A1) 
$$a^{ij} \in C(\Omega) \cap W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega), \det A(x) \neq 0,$$
 (1.5.2)

(A2) 
$$b^i \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega).$$

We shall consider a measure  $\mu \ge 0$  on  $\Omega$  that satisfies the equation  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$ ; in some results we deal with the equation  $\mathcal{L}^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$ . Let  $\varrho$  be the density of  $\mu$ . Let

$$\beta_{\mu,A} := (\beta_{\mu,A}^i)_{i=1}^d, \quad \beta_{\mu,A}^i := \partial_j a^{ij} + a^{ij} \frac{\partial_j \varrho}{\varrho}.$$

Then  $\beta_{\mu,A}^i \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ . One can write

$$L_{A,b}\varphi = L_{A,\beta_{\mu,A}} + \langle b - \beta_{\mu,A}, \nabla \varphi \rangle, \quad \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega).$$

In the divergence form case, the mapping  $A\beta_{\mu}$  will be employed instead of  $\beta_{\mu,A}$ . The operator  $L_{A,\beta_{\mu,A}}$  is symmetric on  $L^2(\Omega,\mu)$ , i.e.,

$$\int_{\Omega} L_{A,\beta_{\mu,A}} \varphi \,\psi \,d\mu = \int_{\Omega} \varphi \, L_{A,\beta_{\mu,A}} \psi \,d\mu, \quad \forall \,\varphi,\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega).$$
(1.5.3)

Indeed, by the integration by parts formula, both sides of (1.5.3) are equal to

$$-\int_{\Omega} \langle A \nabla \varphi, \nabla \psi \rangle \, d\mu.$$

Similarly, for divergence form operators one has

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi \mathcal{L}_{A,A\beta_{\mu}} \varphi \, d\mu = \int_{\Omega} \varphi \, \mathcal{L}_{A,A\beta_{\mu}} \psi \, d\mu$$

Note that if A = I, then  $b_{\mu,I} = \beta_{\mu}$  and

$$L_{\mathrm{I},b}\varphi = \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{I},b}\varphi = \Delta\varphi + \langle b, \nabla\varphi \rangle.$$

If  $\mu$  is a nonnegative measure on  $\Omega$  with a density  $\rho \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ , A and b satisfy conditions (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2), and  $\beta_{\mu}$  and  $\beta_{\mu,A}$  are defined as above, then the equality  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$  is equivalent to the identity

$$\int_{\Omega} \langle b - \beta_{\mu,A}, \nabla \varphi \rangle \, d\mu = 0, \quad \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega), \tag{1.5.4}$$

or shortly,

$$\operatorname{div}_{\mu}(b - \beta_{\mu,A}) = 0.$$
 (1.5.5)

Indeed, it suffices to note that by the integration by parts formula, one has

$$\int_{\Omega} [\partial_j a^{ij} \partial_i \varphi \, \varrho + a^{ij} \partial_i \varphi \partial_j \varrho] \, dx = - \int_{\Omega} a^{ij} \partial_j \partial_i \varphi \, \varrho \, dx.$$

The divergence form analogue of (1.5.4) is

$$\int_{\Omega} \langle b - A\beta_{\mu}, \nabla \varphi \rangle \, d\mu = 0, \quad \forall \, \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega).$$

The vector field

$$\widehat{b} := 2\beta_{\mu,A} - b \tag{1.5.6}$$

is called the dual drift (in the theory of diffusion processes, this is the drift of the time-reversed process). In the divergence form case, the dual drift is defined by the equality

$$b := 2A\beta_{\mu} - b$$

Clearly, one has

$$L_{A,\widehat{b}} = L_{A,\beta_{\mu,A}} - (b^i - \beta^i_{\mu,A})\partial_i \quad \text{on } C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$$

and obviously  $L_{A,\hat{b}}$  is a formal adjoint to  $L_{A,b}$ , i.e., one has

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi L_{A,b} \varphi \, d\mu = \int_{\Omega} \varphi L_{A,\widehat{b}} \psi \, d\mu, \quad \varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega).$$

Similarly,

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi \, \mathcal{L}_{A,b} \varphi \, d\mu = \int_{\Omega} \varphi \, \mathcal{L}_{A,\tilde{b}} \psi \, d\mu, \quad \varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega).$$

We observe that by (1.5.3) and (1.5.5) one has

$$\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{ell}}^{A,\beta_{\mu,A}} \cap \mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{ell}}^{A,\widehat{b}}.$$

1.5.7. THEOREM. (i) Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and assume that conditions (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2) hold. Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$ . Then there exists a closed extension  $(L_{A,b}^{\mu}, D(L_{A,b}^{\mu}))$  of  $(L_{A,b}, C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$  that generates a sub-Markovian contractive  $C_0$ semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t>0}$  on  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$  with the following properties:

(a) the above mentioned natural extension of the adjoint semigroup to  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$ has the generator  $L^{\mu}_{A,\hat{b}}$  which coincides with  $L_{A,\hat{b}}$  on  $C^{\infty}_0(\Omega)$ ;

(b) for any bounded measurable function f with compact support, the function  $(I - L_{A,b}^{\mu})^{-1}f$  is the limit in  $L^{1}(\Omega, \mu)$  of the functions  $u_{n}$  that are solutions to the Dirichlet problems  $(I - L_{A,b})u_{n} = f$  with zero boundary conditions on domains  $B_{n}$  with compact closures  $\overline{B_{n}} \subset B_{n+1}$  and smooth boundaries  $\partial B_{n}$  such that  $\Omega = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_{n}$ . Furthermore,  $\mu$  is sub-invariant for  $(T_{t}^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ .

(ii) The same is true if  $\Omega$  is an open subset of a complete Riemannian manifold M and the operator  $L_{A,b}$  is replaced by the operator  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$  in the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{A,b}\varphi = \operatorname{div}(A\nabla\varphi) + \langle b, \nabla\varphi \rangle, \quad \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega),$$

where b is a vector field on M and A(x) is a positive operator on  $T_xM$  such that the hypotheses of (i) are fulfilled in local coordinates.

(iii) Under the hypotheses of (i) or (ii), the semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  has the following property: for every  $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and every  $t \geq 0$ , the function  $T_t^{\mu}\psi$  has a continuous modification  $\widetilde{T_t^{\mu}\psi}$  such that, for every compact set  $K \subset \Omega$ , one has  $\lim_{t\to 0} \widetilde{T_t^{\mu}\psi}(x) = \psi(x)$  uniformly with respect to  $x \in K$ .

The semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  constructed in this theorem will play a very important role below; in general, it is not the only semigroup associated with  $L_{A,b}$  in the sense explained at the beginning of this section, but it is unique among associated semigroups with property (b). Below the super-index  $\mu$  at  $T_t^{\mu}$  will indicate this concrete semigroup. Such a semigroup exists also under weaker assumptions on Aand b (see [168]).

1.5.8. REMARK. In assertion (i) of the above theorem, since  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,\hat{b}}$ , also the "formally adjoint"  $(L_{A,\hat{b}}, C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$  of  $(L_{A,b}, C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$  has a closed extension  $(L_{A,\hat{b}}^{\mu}, D(L_{A,\hat{b}}^{\mu}))$  generating a sub-Markovian  $C_0$ -semigroup  $(\widehat{T}_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  on  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$ . By [**168**, Remark 1.7(ii)] one has

$$\int_{\Omega} g T_t^{\mu} f d\mu = \int_{\Omega} f \widehat{T}_t^{\mu} g d\mu, \quad f, g \in L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mu).$$
(1.5.7)

The same relation holds for the corresponding resolvents  $(G^{\mu}_{\alpha})_{\alpha>0}$  and  $(\widehat{G}^{\mu}_{\alpha})_{\alpha>0}$ . Equality (1.5.7), in particular, immediately implies that  $\mu$  is  $(T^{\mu}_{t})_{t\geq 0}$ -invariant if and only if for every  $t \geq 0$  one has  $\widehat{T}^{\mu}_{t} 1 = 1$ . Hence, since both semigroups are sub-Markovian, this is the case if and only if  $T^{\mu}_{t} 1 = 1$  for all  $t \geq 0$ , which in turn is equivalent to the invariance of  $\mu$  for  $(\widehat{T}^{\mu}_{t})_{t\geq 0}$ . The equality  $T^{\mu}_{t} 1 = 1$  is equivalent to the inclusion  $1 \in D(L^{\mu}_{A,b})$  (or  $1 \in D(L^{\mu}_{A,\hat{b}})$ ), which is not always fulfilled in spite of the equality  $L_{A,b} 1 = L_{A,\hat{b}} 1 = 0$ .

It is worth noting that for a symmetric operator  $L_{A,b}$  (or  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$ ) the closed extension mentioned in the theorem is the Friedrichs extension. The condition of symmetry of the semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  is seen from (1.5.6). The so called time reversal for finite and infinite-dimensional diffusions (i.e., the process  $\xi_{T-t}$  for a given diffusion  $\xi_t$ ) is discussed in [94], [83], [133], [134].

We do not know whether a sub-Markovian strongly continuous semigroup whose generator extends  $L_{A,b}$  is unique (i.e., whether property (b) in (i) holds automatically). As we shall see below, this is true under certain additional assumptions.

Let us recall that an operator L on a dense domain  $\mathcal{D}$  in a Banach space X is called *dissipative* if, for every  $u \in \mathcal{D}$ , there exists  $l_u \in X^*$  such that  $||l_u||_{X^*} = ||u||_X$ ,  $l_u(u) = ||u||_X^2$  and  $l_u(Lu) \leq 0$ . A dissipative operator L is called *essentially m*dissipative if it satisfies the following additional condition:

$$(L - \lambda I)(\mathcal{D}) = X \ \forall \lambda > 0,$$

where  $\overline{E}$  denotes the closure of E. In fact, it suffices that the above condition hold for some  $\lambda > 0$ .

1.5.9. LEMMA. Let  $\mu \geq 0$  satisfy the equation  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$  with coefficients satisfying (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2). Then the operator  $L_{A,b}$  is dissipative on the domain  $C^{\infty}_0(\Omega)$  in the space  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$ . In particular, it is closable. The same is true for the divergence form operator  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$  in the manifold case. Hence  $L_{A,b}$  is essentially *m*-dissipative on the domain  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  in  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$  if and only if the set  $(L_{A,b} - \lambda I)(C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$  is dense in  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$  for some (and then for all)  $\lambda > 0$ . In this case the operator  $(L_{A,b}, C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$  is called  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$ -unique; see §1.7 for sufficient conditions for this.

Let  $(\overline{L}_{A,b}^{\mu}, D(\overline{L}_{A,b}^{\mu}))$  denote the closure of the operator  $(L_{A,b}, C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$  in the space  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$ . The closure  $(\overline{\mathcal{L}}_{A,b}^{\mu}, D(\overline{\mathcal{L}}_{A,b}^{\mu}))$  of the operator  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$  is defined analogously.

1.5.10. PROPOSITION. Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$ , where A and b satisfy (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2). The following assertions are equivalent:

(i)  $(\overline{L}_{A,b}^{\mu}, D(\overline{L}_{A,b}^{\mu}))$  generates a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ , i.e., a strongly continuous semigroup of bounded operators  $T_t$  on  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$ ;

(ii) for some (hence for all)  $\lambda > 0$ , the set

 $(L_{A,b} - \lambda I) (C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$ 

is dense in  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$  (equivalently,  $(L_{A,b}, C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$  is essentially m-dissipative on  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$ );

(iii) there exists exactly one  $C_0$ -semigroup on  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$  which has a generator extending the operator  $(L_{A,b}, C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$ .

If any (hence each) of the assertions (i)–(iii) is true, then the semigroups  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  and  $(\widehat{T}_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  are Markovian and  $\mu$  is invariant for them. Finally, the same is true for the operator  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$  in divergence form.

1.5.11. REMARK. For a bounded domain  $\Omega$  (with smooth boundary), assertion (iii) (hence also (i) and (ii)) in Proposition 1.5.10 is not valid even if A = I,  $b \equiv 0$ . So we shall be mainly interested in the case when  $\Omega = M$ . As we shall see below, assertions (i)–(iii) are equivalent to the invariance of  $\mu$  with respect to the semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ .

We shall see below that the operator  $L_{A,b}$  on  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  can have different closed extensions (even generating strongly continuous semigroups). Hence its closure can fail to generate a strongly continuous semigroup (i.e., it may not be a generator). This occurs even if A = I and b is infinitely differentiable.

The next theorem gives useful information about the domain of generator of  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  on  $L^p(\Omega,\mu)$ . It is known that, for every  $r \in [1,\infty)$ , the restriction of  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  to  $L^r(\Omega,\mu)$  is a strongly continuous semigroup on  $L^r(\Omega,\mu)$ . Its generator will be denoted by  $(L_{A,b}^{\mu,r}, D(L_{A,b}^{\mu,r}))$ . It is not difficult to verify that

$$D(L_{A,b}^{\mu,r}) = \Big\{ f \in D(L_{A,b}^{\mu}) \cap L^{r}(\Omega,\mu) \colon L_{A,b}^{\mu}f \in L^{r}(\Omega,\mu) \Big\}.$$

1.5.12. THEOREM. (i) In the situation of Theorem 1.5.7, one has

$$\left(L_{A,b}^{\mu,p}, D(L_{A,b}^{\mu,p})\right) \subset \left\{ f \in L^p(\Omega,\mu) \cap H_{\text{loc}}^{p,2}(\Omega) \colon L_{A,b}f \in L^p(\Omega,\mu) \right\}$$
(1.5.8)

and  $L_{A,b}^{\mu,p}f = L_{A,b}f$  for all  $f \in D(L_{A,b}^{\mu,p})$ . The same is true for any extension (L, D(L)) of  $(L_{A,b}, C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$  with the following property: it is the generator of a strongly continuous sub-Markovian semigroup  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  on  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$  such that the adjoint semigroup  $(T'_t)_{t\geq 0}$  on  $L^{p'}(\Omega, \mu)$  (which is defined after one extends  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  to  $L^p(\Omega, \mu)$  as explained above) has a generator which coincides with  $L_{A,\hat{b}}$  on  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . If one has an equality in (1.5.8), then  $\mu$  is invariant for  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  (equivalently,  $T_t^{\mu}1 = 1$ ).

(ii) If the operator  $(L_{A,\hat{b}}, C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$  is essentially m-dissipative on the space  $L^{p'}(\Omega, \mu)$ , i.e., the set  $(L_{A,\hat{b}} - \lambda I)(C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))$  is dense in  $L^{p'}(\Omega, \mu)$  for some  $\lambda > 0$ , then one has an equality in (1.5.8).

Finally, the same assertions are true for  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$ .

The reader should be warned that Theorem 1.5.7 does not assert that a sub-Markovian semigroup whose generator extends  $L_{A,b}$  is unique: we do not know whether this is true under the indicated hypotheses, and without the sub-Markovian property (i.e., with the only requirement of strong continuity) this is not true in general. This is why we always specify the semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ . Also, the measure  $\mu$  may be only sub-invariant for the semigroup and not invariant. We already know that these two phenomena are closely related: Proposition 1.5.10 shows that the uniqueness of an associated strongly continuous semigroup is equivalent to the essential *m*-dissipativity of  $L_{A,b}$ .

We introduce the following subset of  $\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b}$ :

$$\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell,md}}^{A,b} := \left\{ \mu \in \mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b} \colon \overline{(L_{A,b} - I)(C_0^{\infty}(\Omega))} = L^1(\Omega,\mu) \right\}.$$
 (1.5.9)

The same notation is used for the operator  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$ .

The next result from [47] gives a convenient technical characterization of the essential *m*-dissipativity of  $L_{A,b}$  and shows that it is equivalent to the invariance of  $\mu$  with respect to the associated semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  from Theorem 1.5.7. In the case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ , this result was proved in [168, Proposition 1.9], under more general assumptions on A, b, and  $\mu$  (the validity of those assumptions in our case follows from the results discussed in §1.2).

1.5.13. THEOREM. Suppose that conditions (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2) hold. Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$ . Then the following assertions are equivalent:

(i)  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{ell,md}}^{A,b};$ 

(ii)  $\mu$  is invariant for  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ ;

(iii) there exist functions  $\chi_n \in W^{2,1}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega,\mu)$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $(1-\chi_n)^+ \in L^{\infty}(\Omega,\mu)$  and  $(1-\chi_n)^+ = 0$  outside some compact sets,  $\lim_{n\to\infty}\chi_n(x) = 0$   $\mu$ -a.e., and for  $\eta = 1$  or  $\eta = -1$  one has

$$\int \langle A \nabla \chi_n, \nabla \varphi \rangle \, d\mu + \alpha \int \chi_n \varphi \, d\mu + \eta \int \langle b - \beta_{\mu,A}, \nabla \chi_n \rangle \, \varphi \, d\mu \ge 0$$

for all nonnegative  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , with the corresponding condition in the case of  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$  taking the form

$$\int \langle A\nabla\chi_n, \nabla\varphi \rangle \, d\mu + \alpha \int \chi_n \varphi \, d\mu + \eta \int \langle b - A\beta_\mu, \nabla\chi_n \rangle \, \varphi \, d\mu \ge 0;$$
  
(iv)  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{A,\widehat{b}}_{\text{ell,md}}$  (respectively,  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{A,\widetilde{b}}_{\text{ell,md}}$  in the case of  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$ ).

1.5.14. REMARK. (i) The operator  $L_{A,b}$  is not essentially *m*-dissipative on domain  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  in  $L^p(\Omega,\mu)$  for some  $p \in [1,\infty)$  precisely when there exists a nonzero function  $h \in L^{p'}(\Omega,\mu)$  with p' = p/(p-1) such that the measure  $h \cdot \mu$  satisfies the equation  $(L_{A,b}-1)^*(h \cdot \mu) = 0$ . It follows from the proof of Theorem 1.5.12 that (under our assumptions on A and b, of course) this is equivalent to the following: there exists a nonzero function  $h \in L^{p'}(\Omega,\mu) \cap W_{loc}^{p,2}(\Omega)$  such that  $L_{A,\hat{b}}h = h$  a.e.

(ii) The proof of this theorem employs some properties of our special semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ , and we do not know whether in assertion (ii) one can use any associated semigroup.

Our next goal is to study relations between infinitesimal invariance and invariance. As we shall see, these two concepts are different, but under some additional assumptions they coincide. First we mention a useful technical result which shows that any reasonable invariant measure  $\nu$  of the semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  on  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$  associated (as explained in Theorem 1.5.7 above) with a probability measure  $\mu$  satisfying the equation  $L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0$  also satisfies this equation.

1.5.15. PROPOSITION. Let  $\Omega$  be an open set in M. Assume that conditions (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2) are fulfilled and  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$ . Let  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  be the associated semigroup specified in Theorem 1.5.7. Suppose that  $\nu$  is a probability measure on  $\Omega$  such that  $\nu \ll \mu$  and

$$\int T_t^{\mu} f \, d\nu = \int f \, d\nu \quad \forall f \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega), \ \forall t > 0.$$

Assume, in addition, that  $b^i \in L^q_{loc}(\Omega, \nu)$  for some q > 1. Then  $\nu \in \mathcal{M}^{A,b}_{ell}$ .

In particular, if |b| is locally bounded, then any absolutely continuous measure  $\nu$  that is invariant for  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  satisfies our elliptic equation, hence has a positive continuous density and is equivalent to  $\mu$ .

It should be noted that this proposition is not true without the assumption that  $\nu \ll \mu$ . Indeed, let  $x_0 \in \Omega$  be fixed. Let us consider versions of  $T_t^{\mu}f$ , where  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , such that  $T_t^{\mu}f(x_0) = f(x_0)$ . Then Dirac's measure at  $x_0$  is invariant for  $T_t^{\mu}$ . We do not know, however, how essential the assumption that  $b^i \in L^q(\Omega, \nu)$ is. It will be explained below that in the case when p > d + 2, there exist uniquely defined sub-probability kernels  $K_t(\cdot, \cdot)$  such that  $K_t f$  is a version of  $T_t^{\mu} f$  for each  $f \in L^1(\Omega, \mu)$  and the assertion of this proposition is true for any invariant measure  $\nu$  of the semigroup  $(K_t)_{t\geq 0}$ .

The next result, slightly extending [4, Proposition 2.6(ii)], gives a sufficient condition for a solution of the elliptic equation to be invariant for our special associated semigroup.

1.5.16. PROPOSITION. Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{A,b}_{\mathrm{ell,md}}$  and let  $(T^{\mu}_{t})_{t\geq 0}$  be the corresponding semigroup specified in Theorem 1.5.7. Suppose that  $\nu$  is a bounded Borel measure on  $\Omega$  such that  $L^*_{A,b}\nu = 0$  and the function  $\varrho := d\nu/d\mu$  is bounded. Then  $\nu$  is  $(T^{\mu}_{t})_{t\geq 0}$ -invariant. The same is true in the case of  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$ .

A criterion for invariance of infinitesimally invariant measures in terms of martingale problems is obtained in [73].

The next proposition shows that the semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  cannot have invariant measures with positive densities if  $\mu$  itself is not invariant.

1.5.17. PROPOSITION. Suppose that T is a sub-Markovian operator on  $L^1(\Omega, \mu)$ , where  $\mu$  is a probability measure on  $\Omega$  that is sub-invariant with respect to T. Let  $\nu$  be a probability measure on  $\Omega$  equivalent to  $\mu$ . If  $\nu$  is invariant for T, then  $\mu$  is invariant as well.

1.5.18. REMARK. When applied to  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  in the case of locally bounded |b|, this result (along with Proposition 1.5.15 and subinvariance of  $\mu$  with respect to  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  taken into account) shows that if  $\mu$  is not invariant for  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ , then no measure equivalent to  $\mu$  can be invariant for  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ . In §1.7 we return to this question.

For related results, see also [2], [3]. Concerning the existence of invariant measures for finite-dimensional diffusions, see [18], [19], [93], [135], [180]. General problems relating to ergodicity of diffusions and convergence to invariant measures

are considered in [9], [51], [60], [177], [110], [132], [141], [142], [164], [166], [175], [176], [180]. Properties of diffusion semigroups in  $L^p$ -spaces with respect to invariant measures and related problems for elliptic operators are studied in [66], [81], [122], [131]. Hypercontractivity of diffusion semigroups on finite-dimensional spaces, Poincaré, log-Sobolev, and other related inequalities for them are studied in [12], [54], [87], [112], [149]. In these works one can find additional references.

## 1.6. On non-uniqueness of solutions

The problem of uniqueness for solutions of elliptic equations in the class of all probability measures on the whole space will be addressed in the next section. Here we present some negative results in the case A = I and infinitely differentiable b. It is easy to construct such examples for singular drifts b.

1.6.1. EXAMPLE. Let  $\varrho$  be a smooth probability density on the real line such that  $\varrho(0) = 0$  and  $\varrho(x) > 0$  if  $x \neq 0$ . Let  $b = \nabla \varrho/\varrho$  away from the origin and let b(0) = 0. Then the probability measure  $\varrho \, dx$  satisfies the equation  $L_{1,b}^* \mu = 0$ , but this equation has another solution  $c\varrho I_{[0,+\infty)} \, dx$ , where c is a normalization constant. The function  $\varrho'/\varrho$  serves as a logarithmic gradient also for this second solution since  $(-\infty, 0]$  has measure zero for it.

In dimension 1, the singularity of b is the only reason for non-uniqueness.

1.6.2. PROPOSITION. Suppose that b is locally Lebesgue integrable on the real line. Then the equation  $L_{1,b}^*\mu = 0$  can have at most one solution in the class of probability measures.

PROOF. According to Proposition 1.1.2 any solution is given by a density

$$\left(k_1 + k_2 \int_0^x \frac{1}{\psi(s)} \, ds\right) \psi(x), \quad \psi(x) := \int_0^x b(t) \, dt.$$

Suppose that we have two linearly independent solutions. Hence there are two linearly independent vectors  $(k_1, k_2)$  for which the corresponding density is integrable over the real line. Then it is seen from the above formula that  $\psi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^1)$ . Therefore,  $1/\psi$  is not integrable on  $(-\infty, 0]$  and  $[0, +\infty)$ . Since  $1/\psi > 0$ , the indefinite integral of  $1/\psi$  tends to  $+\infty$  as  $x \to +\infty$  and tends to  $-\infty$  as  $x \to -\infty$ . This shows that for nonnegative solutions we must have  $k_2 = 0$ , so there is at most one solution in the class of probability measures.

However, in any dimension d > 1 there are examples of non-uniqueness with smooth b. It is not easy to find such examples, since, as we shall see in the next section, the existence results presented above always produce unique solutions. For several years the problem remained open until the following simple example was constructed in [46], [47].

1.6.3. EXAMPLE. Let

$$b^{i}(x) = -x_{i} - 2x_{\sigma(i)}e^{(x_{i}^{2} - x_{\sigma(i)}^{2})/2},$$

where  $\sigma: \{1, 2, 3, ..., d\} \to \{1, 2, 3, ..., d\}$  is one-to-one and such that  $\sigma(i) \neq i$ . Then our equation has at least two solutions: one is the standard Gaussian measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and another is the measure  $\nu = v \cdot \mu$  with

$$v(x) = c_d \sum_{i=1}^d \int_{-\infty}^{x_i} e^{-s^2/2} \, ds,$$

where  $c_d$  is a normalizing constant.

More generally, let  $f \in C^2(\mathcal{R}^1)$  be bounded, with f, f' > 0 and  $f', f'' \in L^1(\mathcal{R}^1)$ . Define  $b = (b^i)$ :  $\mathcal{R}^d \to \mathcal{R}^d$  by

$$b^{i}(x) := \frac{f''(x_{i})}{f'(x_{i})} + 2\frac{f''(x_{\sigma(i)})}{f'(x_{\sigma(i)})}, \quad x = (x_{1}, \dots, x_{d}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d},$$

and set

$$\mu := c_1 \prod_{i=1}^d f'(x_i) \, dx, \quad \nu := c_2 \sum_{i=1}^d f(x_i) \mu(dx),$$

where  $c_1, c_2 > 0$  are normalizing constants. Then  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  are two different elements in  $\mathcal{M}_{ell}^{I,b}$ .

However, even in this explicit example it remained unknown whether there exist other linearly independent probabilistic solutions. The phenomenon of non-uniqueness was investigated by S.V. Shaposhnikov [158], [159], who obtained the following results.

Until the end of this section we assume that A = I and  $b^i \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for each  $1 \leq i \leq d$ . Then any solution of the equation  $L^*_{I,b}\mu = 0$  has a density  $\rho \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and the equation can be written as the following equation for  $\rho$ :

$$\operatorname{div}(\nabla \varrho - b\varrho) = 0.$$

Let us set

$$L := L_{\mathbf{I},b}, \quad a := b\varrho - \nabla \varrho.$$

Then  $a \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}^d)$  and

div 
$$a = 0$$
.

If  $\rho$  is a probability density, then we know that  $\rho > 0$ , hence the coefficient b is expressed in the following way:

$$b = \frac{\nabla \varrho}{\varrho} + \frac{a}{\varrho}.$$
 (1.6.1)

Let us seek another solution of the equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  in the form  $\nu = v \cdot \mu$ . The measure  $\nu = v \cdot \mu$  satisfies the same equation if and only if the function v satisfies the equation

$$L_{\mu}v := \operatorname{div}(\varrho \nabla v - av) = 0. \tag{1.6.2}$$

Certainly, every constant will be a solution to equation (1.6.2). We would like to find a sufficient condition for the existence of a bounded positive solution which is not constant. By analogy with [181] let us introduce the following bilinear skewsymmetric form on  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ :

$$[f,g] := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle a, \nabla f \rangle g \, dx.$$

Note that [f,g] is defined if g is bounded and  $\langle a, \nabla f \rangle$  is integrable, but it can fail to be skew-symmetric. The next theorem gives sufficient conditions for the existence of a bounded positive solution to (1.6.2) which is not constant.

1.6.4. THEOREM. Assume that there exists a function  $\varphi \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that  $\langle a, \nabla \varphi \rangle \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

$$[\varphi, 1] = 0, \quad and \quad [\varphi, \varphi] < 0.$$
 (1.6.3)

Then equation (1.6.2) has a bounded positive solution which is not constant.

Obviously, by multiplying v by a positive constant we obtain a probability measure  $v \cdot \mu$  satisfying the equation  $L^*(v \cdot \mu) = 0$ .

1.6.5. REMARK. For the verification of the conditions of Theorem 1.6.4 it is useful to keep in mind the following expressions for  $[\varphi, \varphi]$  and  $[\varphi, 1]$ . Let  $\Omega_n$  be increasing domains with piecewise smooth boundaries and  $\mathbb{R}^d = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \Omega_n$ . Since div a = 0, we have

$$\begin{split} [\varphi,\varphi] &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle a, \nabla \varphi \rangle \varphi \, dx = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega_n} \langle a, \nabla \varphi \rangle \varphi \, dx = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial \Omega_n} \langle a, \nu_n \rangle \varphi^2 \, ds, \\ [\varphi,1] &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle a, \nabla \varphi \rangle \, dx = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega_n} \langle a, \nabla \varphi \rangle \, dx = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\partial \Omega_n} \langle a, \nu_n \rangle \varphi \, ds, \end{split}$$

where  $\nu_n$  is the outward normal on  $\partial \Omega_n$ . Consequently, in order to ensure (1.6.3) it is enough to have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\partial \Omega_n} \langle a, \nu_n \rangle \varphi^2 \, ds < 0, \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\partial \Omega_n} \langle a, \nu_n \rangle \varphi \, ds = 0.$$

To get an example of equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  with at least two different probability solutions, it is sufficient to do the following. First of all, we find a smooth vector field a with div a = 0 and a function  $\varphi$  satisfying the conditions of Theorem 1.6.4. Next, we fix an arbitrary infinitely differentiable positive function  $\varrho$  with  $\|\varrho\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)} = 1$ . Finally, we take the vector field b given by (1.6.1). Then the equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  with this coefficient b has at least two different probability solutions: one is the measure  $\mu = \varrho dx$  and another is the measure  $\nu = c_1 v \cdot \mu$ , where  $c_1$  is a normalizing constant, and the function v is a (non constant) solution of equation (1.6.2), which exists by Theorem 1.6.4. Let us present some examples of a and  $\varphi$  such that div a = 0 and conditions of Theorem 1.6.4 are fulfilled.

1.6.6. EXAMPLE. Let d=2. Let us take odd functions  $q,\,\psi,\,\sigma\in C^2_b(\mathbb{R}^1)$  such that

$$q, q\psi, \sigma' \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^1), \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(n) = 1,$$

and  $q\psi \ge 0$  does not vanish identically. Clearly, this is possible. Let

$$a(x,y) := (0,-q(x)), \quad \varphi(x,y) := \psi(x) + \sigma(y).$$

Clearly, div a = 0. Let us verify the conditions of Theorem 1.6.4 using Remark 1.6.5. Let  $\Omega_n$  be the square with vertices at the points (n, n), (-n, n), (n, -n), and (-n, -n). Then

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_n} \langle a, \nu_n \rangle \varphi^2 \, ds = -(\sigma(n) - \sigma(-n)) \int_{-n}^n q(x) (2\psi(x) + \sigma(n) + \sigma(-n)) \, dx,$$
$$\int_{\partial\Omega_n} \langle a, \nu_n \rangle \varphi \, ds = -(\sigma(n) - \sigma(-n)) \int_{-n}^n q(x) \, dx.$$

Consequently,

$$\begin{split} [\varphi,\varphi] &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial \Omega_n} \langle a,\nu_n \rangle \varphi^2 \, ds = -2 \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} q(x)\psi(x) \, dx < 0, \\ [\varphi,1] &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\partial \Omega_n} \langle a,\nu_n \rangle \varphi \, ds = -2 \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} q(x) \, dx = 0. \end{split}$$

Hence the conditions of Theorem 1.6.4 are fulfilled. Therefore, choosing an arbitrary strictly positive smooth probability density  $\rho$ , we can construct a drift b (as explained in the remark above) such that the corresponding equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  is satisfied by at least two probability measures, one of which is the given probability measure  $\mu = \rho dx$ .

1.6.7. EXAMPLE. Let d = 2 and let functions  $q, \psi, \sigma \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^1)$  not vanish identically and satisfy the following conditions:

$$q, \sigma' \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^1), q > 0, \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(n) = 1, \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(-n) = 0.$$

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$a(x,y) := (0, -q(x)), \quad \varphi(x,y) := \psi(x)\sigma(y).$$

Again, div a = 0. We calculate  $[\varphi, 1]$  and  $[\varphi, \varphi]$  by using Remark 1.6.5. Let  $\Omega_n$  be the square with vertices at the points (n, n), (-n, n), (n, -n), (-n, -n). Then

$$\int_{\partial\Omega_n} \langle a, \nu_n \rangle \varphi^2 \, ds = -(\sigma^2(n) - \sigma^2(-n)) \int_{-n}^n q(x) \psi^2(x) \, dx$$
$$\int_{\partial\Omega_n} \langle a, \nu_n \rangle \varphi \, ds = -(\sigma(n) - \sigma(-n)) \int_{-n}^n q(x) \psi(x) \, dx.$$

Consequently,

$$[\varphi,\varphi] = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} q(x)\psi^2(x) \, dx, \ [\varphi,1] = -\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} q(x)\psi(x) \, dx.$$

To satisfy the conditions of Theorem 1.6.4, it is sufficient to require the orthogonality of the functions  $\psi$  and 1 in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^1, q \, dx)$ . Again, Remark 1.6.5 enables us to construct an equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  with different probability solutions, one of which is a given measure  $\mu = \rho \, dx$ .

It is easy to extend the last example to the case  $d \ge 2$ .

1.6.8. EXAMPLE. Set  $x' := (x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{d-1})$ . Let  $q, \psi \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^{d-1})$ , and  $\sigma \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^1)$  not vanish identically and satisfy the following conditions:

$$q \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^{d-1}), \ \sigma' \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^1), \ q > 0, \ \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(n) = 1, \ \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(-n) = 0.$$

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$a^{i}(x) := 0$$
 if  $1 \le i \le d-1$ ,  $a^{d}(x) := -q(x')$ ,  $\varphi(x) := \psi(x')\sigma(x_d)$ .

Then div a = 0 and

$$[\varphi,\varphi] = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} q(x')\psi^2(x')\,dx', \ [\varphi,1] = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} q(x')\psi(x')\,dx'$$

To satisfy the conditions of Theorem 1.6.4 it is sufficient to require the orthogonality of the functions  $\psi$  and 1 in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{d-1}, q \, dx')$ .

We fix a with div a = 0 and two different functions  $\varphi_1$  and  $\varphi_2$  satisfying the conditions of Theorem 1.6.4, and we construct two solutions  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  according to this theorem. This theorem guarantees that  $1, v_1$  and  $1, v_2$  are pairs of linearly independent functions. Under what conditions on  $\varphi_1$  and  $\varphi_2$  will the three functions  $1, v_1$  and  $v_2$  be linearly independent? The following theorem answers this question and gives some additional information.

1.6.9. THEOREM. Let  $n \geq 1$ . Assume that there exist functions  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2, \ldots, \varphi_{n+1}$  in  $C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfying the conditions of Theorem 1.6.4. Let  $v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{n+1}$  be solutions of equation (1.6.2) generated by these functions according to Theorem 1.6.4. Assume also that the functions  $1, v_1, \ldots, v_n$  are linearly independent and that for every vector  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  the following inequality holds:

$$\left[\varphi_{n+1} - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \alpha_k \varphi_k, \varphi_{n+1} - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \alpha_k \varphi_k\right] < 0.$$
(1.6.4)

Then the functions  $1, v_1, \ldots, v_n, v_{n+1}$  are linearly independent.

36

1.6.10. REMARK. Let  $\Phi = (\Phi_{ij})_{i,j \leq n}$  and  $h = (h_i)_{i \leq n}$ , where

$$\Phi_{ij} = ([\varphi_i, \varphi_j] + [\varphi_j, \varphi_i])/2, \ h_i = [\varphi_i, \varphi_{n+1}] + [\varphi_{n+1}, \varphi_i], \ 1 \le i, j \le n.$$

Let  $h_0 := [\varphi_{n+1}, \varphi_{n+1}]$ . Then inequality (1.6.4) can be written as

$$\langle \Phi \alpha, \alpha \rangle - \langle h, \alpha \rangle + h_0 < 0.$$

Consequently, to ensure condition (1.6.4) it is enough to have the following: the matrix  $\Phi$  is strictly negative and

$$4h_0 < \langle \Phi^{-1}h, h \rangle. \tag{1.6.5}$$

In particular, if n = 1, then inequality (1.6.5) has the following very simple form:

$$\left([\varphi_1,\varphi_2]+[\varphi_2,\varphi_1]\right)^2 < 4[\varphi_1,\varphi_1][\varphi_2,\varphi_2].$$

1.6.11. REMARK. To verify condition (1.6.4) it is useful to keep in mind the following expression for  $[\varphi_i, \varphi_j] + [\varphi_j, \varphi_i]$ . Let  $\Omega_n$  be increasing domains with piecewise smooth boundaries and  $\mathbb{R}^d = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \Omega_n$ . Since div a = 0, we have

$$\begin{split} [\varphi_i,\varphi_j] + [\varphi_j,\varphi_i] &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle a, \nabla \varphi_i \rangle \varphi_j \, dx + [\varphi_j,\varphi_i] = \\ &\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega_n} \langle a, \nabla \varphi_i \rangle \varphi_j \, dx + [\varphi_j,\varphi_i] = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\partial \Omega_n} \langle a, \nu_n \rangle \varphi_i \varphi_j \, ds, \end{split}$$

where  $\nu_n$  is the outward normal on  $\partial \Omega_n$ .

1.6.12. REMARK. Suppose that for a given smooth vector field a with div a = 0 there exist functions  $\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_{n+1}$  such that the conditions of Theorem 1.6.9 hold. Assume that we are given a strictly positive infinitely differentiable function  $\rho$  with  $\|\rho\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)} = 1$ . Then the equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  with the coefficient b that is expressed via a and  $\rho$  by formula (1.6.1) has at least n + 1 linearly independent probability solutions, one of which is the measure  $\mu = \rho dx$ , and n others are the measures  $\nu_i = c_i v_i \cdot \mu$ , where  $c_i$  are normalizing constants and the functions  $v_i$  are nonconstant solutions of equation (1.6.2) generated by the functions  $\varphi_i$ .

Let us present an explicit example of a,  $\varphi_1$ , and  $\varphi_2$  such that the conditions of Theorem 1.6.9 are fulfilled.

1.6.13. EXAMPLE. Set  $x' := (x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{d-1})$ . Let  $q, \psi_1, \psi_2 \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^{d-1})$ , and  $\sigma \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^1)$  not vanish identically. Assume that

$$q \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^{d-1}), \ q > 0, \ \sigma' \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^1), \ \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(n) = 1, \ \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(-n) = 0.$$

Let

$$a^{k}(x) := 0 \quad \text{if } 1 \le k \le d-1, \ a^{d}(x) := -q(x'),$$
  
$$\varphi_{1}(x) := \psi_{1}(x')\sigma(x_{d}), \quad \varphi_{2}(x) := \psi_{2}(x')\sigma(x_{d}).$$

Then div a = 0 and, whenever  $1 \le i, j \le 2$ , we have

$$\begin{split} [\varphi_i,\varphi_j] + [\varphi_j,\varphi_i] &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \psi_i(x')\psi_j(x')q(x')\,dx'\\ [\varphi_i,1] &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \psi_i(x')q(x')\,dx'. \end{split}$$

To satisfy the conditions of Theorem 1.6.9 it is enough to require the orthogonality of the functions  $1, \psi_1, \psi_2$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{d-1}, q \, dx')$ .

This example can be easily extended to the case of an arbitrary number of functions  $\varphi_i$ . Moreover, we can give an example of an equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  which has a countable sequence of linearly independent probability solutions. In particular, the space of solutions to such an equation in the class of bounded measures is infinite-dimensional. It is enough to find a sequence of positive bounded solutions  $\{v_i\}_{i\geq 1}$  to (1.6.2) such that the functions  $1, \{v_i\}_{i\geq 1}$  are linearly independent. According to Theorem 1.6.9 and Remark 1.6.10, it suffices to find a vector field a with div a = 0 and a sequence of functions  $\{\varphi_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$  satisfying the conditions of Theorem 1.6.4 such that, for each n, the functions  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2, \ldots, \varphi_{n+1}$  satisfy condition (1.6.5).

1.6.14. EXAMPLE. Set  $x' := (x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_{d-1})$ . Let  $q, \psi_i \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^{d-1})$ , where  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ , and let  $\sigma \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^1)$ . Assume that

$$q \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^{d-1}), \ q > 0, \ \sigma' \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^1), \ \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(n) = 1, \ \lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(-n) = 0.$$

Let

 $a^{k}(x) := 0$  if  $1 \le k \le d-1$ ,  $a^{d}(x) := -q(x')$ ,  $\varphi_{i}(x) := \psi_{i}(x')\sigma(x_{d})$ ,  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Then, for any  $i, j \ge 1$ , we have

$$\begin{split} [\varphi_i,\varphi_j] + [\varphi_j,\varphi_i] &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \psi_i(x')\psi_j(x')q(x')\,dx',\\ [\varphi_i,1] &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}} \psi_i(x')q(x')\,dx'. \end{split}$$

Let  $1, \{\psi_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  be an orthonormal system in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{d-1}, q \, dx')$ . Then, for each n, condition (1.6.5) holds for the functions  $1, \varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_{n+1}$  because the matrix  $\Phi$  is diagonal with  $\Phi_{ii} = -1/2$ , hence is negative, h = 0, and  $h_0 = [\psi_{n+1}, \psi_{n+1}] < 0$ .

1.6.15. EXAMPLE. We have already mentioned the example in [46], [47], where the equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  has at least two different probability solutions. We can now show that it actually has a countable sequence of linearly independent solutions that are probability measures. We have

$$b^{k}(x) = -x_{k} - 2x_{\sigma(k)} \exp\left((x_{k}^{2} - x_{\sigma(k)}^{2})/2\right), \quad \varrho(x) = (2\pi)^{-d/2} \exp(-|x|^{2}/2),$$

where  $\sigma: \{1, 2, 3, \dots, d\} \to \{1, 2, 3, \dots, d\}$  is one-to-one such that  $\sigma(k) \neq k$ . Then

$$a^{k}(x) = -2(2\pi)^{d/2} x_{\sigma(k)} \exp\left(-x_{\sigma(k)}^{2} - 2^{-1} \sum_{i \neq k} x_{i}^{2}\right).$$

Let  $\mathbb{R}^{d-1}_+ := \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \bigcap \{x_{\sigma(d)} > 0\}$  and  $x' := (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{d-1})$ . Let us take functions  $\omega, \psi_i^{**} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d-1}_+)$ , where  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ , with disjoint supports such that

$$-\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}_{+}} \omega(x') a^{d}(x') \, dx' = 1$$

Let

$$\psi_i^*(x') := \psi_i^{**}(x') + \omega(x') \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}_+} \psi_i^{**}(y') a^d(y') \, dy', \quad x' \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}_+.$$

Note that  $\operatorname{div} a = 0$  and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}_{+}} \psi_i^*(x') a^d(x') \, dx' = 0 \text{ for each } i \ge 1.$$

It is easy to see that the functions  $\psi_i^*$  are linearly independent. We apply the orthogonalization process in the space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{d-1}_+, -a^d(x') dx')$  to the system  $\{\psi_i^*\}_{i\geq 1}$ 

and obtain functions  $\{\psi_i\}_{i\geq 1}$ . We observe that the obtained functions have the following properties:  $\lim_{|x'|\to\infty}\psi_i(x')=0$  and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}_+} \psi_i(x') a^d(x') \, dx' = 0, \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d-1}_+} \psi_i(x') \psi_j(x') a^d(x') \, dx' = 0 \ \text{ for all } i, j \ge 1.$$

Let us extend  $\psi_i$  to the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  by zero outside  $\mathbb{R}^{d-1}_+$ . Clearly, we obtain functions from  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d-1})$  since  $\omega$  and  $\psi^{**}$  are of compact support in  $\mathbb{R}^{d-1}_+$ . Let  $\sigma$  be a smooth function such that  $\sigma' \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^1)$ ,  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(n) = 1$ , and  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma(-n) = 0$ . Set  $\varphi_i(x) := \psi_i(x')\sigma(x_d)$ . According to Theorem 1.6.4, we can construct nonconstant solutions corresponding to the functions  $\varphi_i$ . Similarly to the previous example, we obtain a sequence of solutions  $1, v_1, v_2, \ldots$  that are linearly independent.

Finally, we present one more sufficient condition for the existence of a nonconstant positive bounded solution of equation (1.6.2).

1.6.16. PROPOSITION. Assume that there exists a function  $\varphi \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$2\sup_{x\in\mathbb{R}^d}|\varphi(x)|\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}|L_{\mu}\varphi|\,dx<\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}|\nabla\varphi|^2\varrho\,dx$$

Then there exists a bounded positive solution of equation (1.6.2) which is not constant.

The following example demonstrates an application of this proposition.

1.6.17. EXAMPLE. Let d = 2 and let  $\varrho_1, \varrho_2 \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^1) \bigcap L^1(\mathbb{R}^1)$  be positive functions such that  $\|\varrho_1\|_{L^1} = \|\varrho_2\|_{L^1} = 1$ . Set  $\varrho(x, y) := \varrho_1(x)\varrho_2(y)$ ,

$$\varphi(x,y) := \int_{-\infty}^{x} \varrho_1(s) \, ds + \int_{-\infty}^{y} \varrho_2(s) \, ds,$$

 $a^{1}(x,y) := -2\varrho_{2}'(y)\varrho_{2}(y) + c(y)\varrho_{2}(y), \ a^{2}(x,y) := -2\varrho_{1}'(x)\varrho_{2}(x) + d(x)\varrho_{1}(x).$ 

Then div a = 0 and

$$L_{\mu}\varphi(x,y) = (d(x) + c(y))\varrho(x,y)$$

To satisfy the conditions of Proposition 1.6.16 it is enough to have the following estimate:

$$4\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |d(x) + c(y)| \varrho(x, y) \, dx \, dy < \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left[ \varrho_1(x)^2 + \varrho_2(y)^2 \right] \varrho(x, y) \, dx \, dy.$$

1.6.18. REMARK. Under the assumptions of Proposition 1.6.16 we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{div}(\varrho \nabla \varphi) \, dx = 0$$

Hence the estimate in the condition of that proposition can be replaced by the following one:

$$L_{\mu}\varphi \ge 0$$
 and  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nabla \varphi|^2 \varrho \, dx + 2 \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} |\varphi(x)| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (a, \nabla \varphi) \, dx > 0.$ 

It should be noted that it remains unknown whether the equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  can have only finitely many (but more than one) linearly independent probability solutions in the case of smooth b. For singular b such examples can be easily constructed on the real line.

#### 1.7. Uniqueness problems

Here we give sufficient conditions on A and b that ensure that  $\mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$  contains at most one element (the sets  $\mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$  and  $\mathcal{M}_{ell,md}^{A,b}$  are defined in (1.1.2) and (1.5.9), respectively). For the best possible results it is necessary to separate the issue of uniqueness from that of existence. We have seen above that in the case d = 1 for any locally Lebesgue integrable function b the equation  $L_{I,b}^* = 0$  has at most one solution in the class of probability measures. First we mention a result from [4].

1.7.1. THEOREM. Let  $|b| \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for some  $p > d \ge 2$ . Then there exists at most one measure  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{l,b}_{ell}$  such that its density  $\varrho$  has the property that

$$|b\varrho - \nabla \varrho| \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

No examples of non-uniqueness are known for the case A = I if b is smooth and  $|b| \in L^1(\mu)$ .

There are also results that do not use any assumptions on the logarithmic gradient of a solution.

1.7.2. THEOREM. Assume that conditions (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2) are fulfilled and that  $\Omega$  is connected. Then

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{ell,md}}^{A,b} \neq \emptyset \implies \# \mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{ell}}^{A,b} = 1.$$

We note that the converse result is false for d = 1 in any case (see Remark 1.7.19 below).

The importance of this result is seen from the fact that the uniqueness of solution is ensured by information on *some* solution.

1.7.3. COROLLARY. Under the assumptions of Theorem 1.7.2, if there exists a measure  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$  invariant with respect to the corresponding semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ , then  $\#\mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b} = 1$ .

1.7.4. REMARK. Suppose that  $\Omega$  is connected. Then, under the assumptions of Theorem 1.7.2,  $\#\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b} \leq 1$  if and only if for any  $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b}$ , one has  $|\mu - \nu| \in \mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b}$ . Indeed, the indicated condition yields that  $\mu = \nu$ , since otherwise  $|\mu - \nu|$  must have a strictly positive continuous density. The converse is trivial.

This leads us to the following question: if a signed measure  $\mu$  satisfies the equation  $L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0$ , then does  $|\mu|$  also satisfy the same equation? In general, this is not true even if A = I and b is smooth. Indeed, as explained above, in the situation where any probability measure satisfying the equation  $L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0$  possesses a positive continuous density, which is the case if  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $|b| \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with p > d, and A is nondegenerate, the non-uniqueness of solutions to this equation in  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ always yields signed solutions whose absolute values are not solutions. Of course, this is not surprising for locally integrable solutions. For example, the absolute value of a harmonic function may not be harmonic, but for globally integrable solutions this phenomenon is more interesting. It is worth noting here that if  $\mu$  is an invariant measure for a semigroup  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  whose generator extends  $(L_{A,b}, C_0^{\infty})$ , then  $|\mu|$  is also an invariant measure, which again exhibits some difference between invariant measures for semigroups and infinitesimally invariant measures. As we shall see below, under our typical assumptions on A and b involving Lyapunov functions, the equation  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$  has one solution in  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . However, we do not know whether in such a case the space of all solutions in the class of bounded signed measures is one-dimensional.

We know from the previous section that it can really happen for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  that  $\#\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b} > 1$ . The above results give conditions on A and b under which  $\#\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b} = 1$ . Other results will be given below. However, the following question (already touched upon in Remark 1.5.18) arises:

Can the semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  have invariant measures if  $\mu$  is not invariant or can it have invariant measures distinct from  $\mu$  in the case when  $\mu$  is invariant?

The following result from [33] answers this question in the case p > d + 2 (this result complements an earlier result from [4] and under only local assumptions gives an affirmative answer to a question posed by S.R.S. Varadhan in [174]). The same is likely to hold with our standard assumption that p > d.

1.7.5. THEOREM. Suppose that  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$  and that (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2) are fulfilled. Assume also that p > d + 2. Then, there exist sub-probability kernels  $K_t(\cdot, dy), t > 0$ , on  $\Omega$  such that

$$K_t(x, dy) = p_{A,b}(t, x, y) \, dy,$$

where  $p_{A,b}(t, x, y)$  is a locally Hölder continuous nonnegative function defined on the set  $(0, +\infty) \times \Omega \times \Omega$ , and for every  $f \in L^1(\Omega, \mu)$ , the function

$$x \mapsto K_t f(x) := \int_{\Omega} f(y) p_{A,b}(t, x, y) \, dy$$

is a  $\mu$ -version of  $T_t^{\mu}f$  such that the function  $(t, x) \mapsto K_t f(x)$  is continuous on the set  $(0, +\infty) \times \Omega$ . The function  $p_{A,b}$  is positive if  $\Omega$  is connected.

In addition, if  $\Omega$  is connected and  $\nu$  is a bounded Borel measure on  $\Omega$  that is invariant for  $(K_t)_t \geq 0$ , i.e.,

$$\nu = K_t^* \nu(dy) := \int_{\Omega} K_t(x, dy) \,\nu(dx) \quad \forall t \ge 0,$$

then  $\nu = c\mu$  for some constant c. In particular, if  $\nu \neq 0$ , then  $\mu$  is also invariant. Hence  $(K_t)_{t\geq 0}$  cannot have invariant probability measures different from  $\mu$ .

1.7.6. REMARK. By this theorem, the semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  is strong Feller: it takes bounded Borel functions to continuous functions. In addition, it is stochastically continuous in the sense that  $\lim_{t\to 0} T_t^{\mu} I_{B(z,r)}(x) = 1$  for every  $z \in \Omega$  and r > 0 such that  $B(z,r) \subset \Omega$ . This follows from the last assertion in Theorem 1.5.7 and the estimate  $T_t^{\mu} I_{B(z,r)} \geq T_t^{\mu} \psi$ , where  $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  is such that  $0 \leq \psi \leq 1, \psi(z) = 1$  and  $\psi = 0$  outside B(z,r). If  $\Omega$  is connected, we have the equivalence of all measures

$$B \mapsto T_t^{\mu} I_B(x) = K_t^* \delta_x(B) = \int_B p_{A,b}(t, x, y) \, dy.$$

Therefore, if  $\mu$  is invariant for  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  (which is not automatically fulfilled in our situation!), then, by Doob's theorem (see [69] or [67, §4.2]), for every Borel set  $B \subset \Omega$  we obtain

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} T_t^{\mu} I_B(x) = \mu(B) \quad \forall x \in \Omega,$$

where the jointly continuous version of  $T_t^{\mu}I_B(x)$  is considered. Certainly, this yields that  $\lim_{\mu \to 0} ||T_t^{\mu}f - f||_{L^p(\mu)} = 0$  for all  $f \in L^p(\mu)$ .

1.7.7. REMARK. Thus, one of the main results of this section is the following alternative under local assumptions (A1) and (A2), in case when the equation  $L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0$  has a solution  $\mu$  in the class of probability measures: either  $\mu$  is a unique probability measure satisfying this equation and its associated semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  is unique, and if  $\mu$  is invariant for  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  (which is not implied automatically by the uniqueness of  $\mu$  even on the real line, see Remark 1.7.19), then there are no other invariant probability measures for  $(T^{\mu}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ ; or no probability measure  $\mu$  satisfying this equation is invariant for its semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ , and then for every such measure  $\mu$  necessarily there are different associated semigroups in  $L^1(\mu)$ . An important qualitative conclusion is that, under reasonable local assumptions on A and b, one has uniqueness of invariant probability measures for our special associated semigroups, but not uniqueness for the elliptic equation, and that better smoothness of the coefficients does not help to obtain uniqueness of solutions for the elliptic equation.

Let us make a simple observation on extreme points of the convex set  $\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b}$ . Let  $\text{ext}\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b}$  be the set of all  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b}$  which cannot be written as a nontrivial convex combination of two other elements of  $\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b}$ .

1.7.8. PROPOSITION. Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$ . Then the following are equivalent: (i)  $\mu \in \operatorname{ext} \mathcal{M}_{\operatorname{ell}}^{A,b}$ ; (ii) if  $\varrho \in L^{\infty}(\Omega, \mu)$  and  $\varrho \cdot \mu \in \mathcal{M}_{\operatorname{ell}}^{A,b}$ , then  $\varrho = 1$   $\mu$ -a.e.

1.7.9. COROLLARY. Assume that conditions (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2) hold. Let  $\mu \in \operatorname{ext} \mathcal{M}_{\operatorname{ell}}^{A,b}$ . Then for all  $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_{\operatorname{ell}}^{A,b} \setminus \{\mu\}$  the function  $d\nu/d\mu$  is unbounded.

Clearly, it can happen that  $\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b} = \emptyset$  (for instance, if  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ , A = I,  $b \equiv 0$ ). But even in the case when  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ , A = I, and b is infinitely differentiable, it can also happen that  $\#\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b} > 1$ , and, therefore,  $\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell,md}}^{A,b}$  is empty (see Example 1.6.3). We now consider some examples borrowed from [47].

1.7.10. EXAMPLE. Let conditions (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2) be fulfilled and let  $\Omega$ be connected. Suppose that there exist an unbounded compact function  $V \in C^2(\Omega)$ , a number  $\alpha > 0$ , and a compact set K such that

$$L_{A,b}V(x) \le \alpha V(x)$$
 for a.e.  $x \in \Omega \setminus K$ . (1.7.1)

Then  $\#\mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b} \leq 1$ . The analogous result holds for the operator  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$ .

For example, considering the function  $V(x) = \ln(|x|^2 + 1)$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and noting that 

$$L_{A,b}V(x) = \frac{2\text{trace}A(x)}{|x|^2 + 1} - \frac{4\langle A(x)x, x \rangle}{(|x|^2 + 1)^2} + \frac{2\langle b(x), x \rangle}{|x|^2 + 1}$$

we arrive at the following result.

1.7.11. EXAMPLE. Let conditions (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2) be fulfilled. Suppose that  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  and that there exists a number C > 0 such that a.e. outside some ball one has

$$-\frac{2}{1+|x|^2}\langle A(x)x,x\rangle + \operatorname{trace} A(x) + \langle b(x),x\rangle \le C|x|^2 \ln|x|.$$

Then  $\#\mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b} \leq 1$ . In particular, if A is uniformly bounded, then it suffices to have the estimate

 $\langle b(x), x \rangle \leq C |x|^2 \ln |x|$  a.e. outside some ball.

For example, an estimate

$$|b(x)| \le c + c|x| \ln|x|$$

is sufficient. However, an estimate  $|b(x)| \leq c + c|x|(\ln(2+|x|))^r$  with r > 1 is not enough: in Example 1.6.3 we take a smooth function f with  $f'(s) = |s|^{-1} (\ln s)^{-r}$ outside [-2, 2]. Here one can take any positive integrable function f', which will give an example of non-uniqueness with  $|b(x)| \leq C/f'(|x|)$ .

1.7.12. REMARK. (i) The same reasoning as in [168, Remark 1.11(ii)] shows that if there exist a bounded function  $u \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and a number  $\alpha > 0$  such that u > 0 and  $L_{A,b}u \geq \alpha u$ , then  $\mu$  is not invariant for  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ .

(ii) Let A satisfy condition (A1) and let  $b^i \in W^{p,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ . Let  $V \in C^3(\Omega)$  be an unbounded compact function and let  $\theta(x) = |L_{A,b}V(x)| + 1$ . Then the operator  $L_{A/\theta,b/\theta} = \theta^{-1}L_{A,b}$  satisfies conditions (A1) and (A2) and condition (1.7.1), since  $\theta^{-1}L_{A,b}V \leq 1$ . This shows that condition (1.7.1) can always be obtained by a proper scaling of a given operator (with reasonable coefficients). In addition, we see that there exists at most one probability density  $f \in L^1(\Omega, \mu)$  such that  $f \cdot \mu \in \mathcal{M}^{A,b}_{ell}$ and  $\theta f \in L^1(\Omega, \mu)$ . Indeed,  $(\theta^{-1}L_{A,b})^*(\theta f \cdot \mu) = 0$ .

In the next example, some information about  $\mu$  itself is used to conclude that  $\mu$  is the only element in  $\mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$ . This result gives weaker sufficient conditions than [168, Proposition 1.10(a)] (where the proof requires some corrections).

1.7.13. EXAMPLE. Let conditions (A1) and (A2) in (1.5.2) be fulfilled. Assume that  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$ , and

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{j \le |x| \le j+1} \left[ |a^{ik}| + |b - \beta_{\mu,A}| \right] d\mu = 0$$

for all i, k. Then  $\#\mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b} = 1$ . In particular, it suffices to have the integrability of  $a^{ik}$  and  $|b - \beta_{\mu,A}|$  with respect to  $\mu$ .

In the case of the operator  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$  on a connected complete Riemannian manifold M, a sufficient condition for  $\mu$  to be a unique measure in  $\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b}$  is the relation

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_{B_{j+1} \setminus B_j} \left[ \|A\| + |b - A\beta_{\mu}| \right] d\mu = 0.$$

where  $B_j$  is the geodesic ball of radius j centered at a fixed point  $o \in M$ . In particular, it suffices to have the integrability of ||A|| and  $|b - A\beta_{\mu}|$  with respect to  $\mu$ .

Finally, we single out a special case of the above example, in which, however, knowledge of  $\beta_{\mu}$  is not necessary.

1.7.14. EXAMPLE. Let  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b}$ . Assume that A and  $A^{-1}$  are uniformly bounded, A is globally Lipschitzian, and let  $|b| \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$ , where p > d. Let  $|b| \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, \mu)$ . Then  $\#\mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b} = 1$ .

1.7.15. REMARK. In the last example, one cannot omit the assumption that  $|b| \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega, dx)$ , p > d, as is clear from Example 1.6.1. If in that example we take  $\mu = \varrho \, dx$  with  $\varrho(x) = Cx^2 \exp(-x^2)$ , where C is a normalizing constant, then  $\mu$  satisfies the equation  $L^*_{1,b}\mu = 0$  with  $b(x) = 2x^{-1} - 2x$ . The probability measure with density g such that g(x) = f(x)/2 if x < 0 and g(x) = 3f(x)/2 if  $x \ge 0$  is another solution. For both solutions the operator  $L_{1,b}$  is even symmetric and the coefficient b is square-integrable with respect to both measures. One can verify that these two measures are not merely solutions to the same elliptic equation, but are also invariant for the same Markovian semigroup associated to the operator  $L_{1,b}$  (in the case under consideration such a semigroup is unique).

The results presented above have the following character: either it is asserted that  $\#\mathcal{M}_{\rm ell}^{A,b} \leq 1$  or it is asserted that  $\#\mathcal{M}_{\rm ell}^{A,b} = 1$ , but the existence of some solution is part of the hypotheses. However, the existence results presented in §1.4 in terms of Lyapunov functions yield also the uniqueness of solutions, as is clear from the results of this section.

1.7.16. EXAMPLE. Let 
$$\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$$
,  $A = I$ ,  $b^i \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  
$$\limsup_{|x| \to \infty} |x|^{\gamma - 1} [2(\gamma - 1) + d + \langle b(x), x \rangle] = -\infty$$

for some  $\gamma \geq 1$ . Then  $\#\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b} = 1$ .

1.7.17. EXAMPLE. Suppose that  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^1$ , A is locally absolutely continuous and positive, and b is locally Lebesgue integrable. If

$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{A(s)}} \, ds = \infty, \quad \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{A(s)}} \, ds = \infty, \tag{1.7.2}$$

then  $\#\mathcal{M}_{ell}^{A,b} \leq 1.$ 

1.7.18. REMARK. Let A be a positive locally absolutely continuous function on  $\mathbb{R}^1$  such that (1.7.2) does not hold. Then one can show that there exists a locally integrable function b such that  $\#\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b} = \infty$ .

1.7.19. REMARK. Let  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^1$ , A(x) = 1, and  $b(x) = -2x - 6e^{x^2}$ . Then  $\mathcal{M}_{\text{ell}}^{A,b} = \{\mu\}$  with  $\mu(dx) = \pi^{-1/2}e^{-x^2} dx$ , but according to [168, Example 1.12] the operator  $(L_{A,b}, C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^1))$  is not essentially *m*-dissipative on  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^1, \mu)$ . Hence the converse to Theorem 1.7.2 is not true in the case d = 1.

The presented uniqueness results assumed the Sobolev differentiability of  $a^{ij}$ . The case of a general nondegenerate measurable diffusion coefficient has not been studied. For example, the uniqueness of solutions to the equation  $L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0$  with uniformly bounded Borel  $A, A^{-1}, b$  has not been studied. It is worth noting that if  $a^{ij}$  and  $b^i$  are locally Hölder continuous, det A > 0, and a probability measure  $\mu$ is invariant for the semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$  associated with  $L_{A,b}$ , then it has a density locally uniformly separated from zero and hence is a unique invariant measure (see, e.g., [122, §8.1]).

Let us briefly discuss the so-called symmetric case, that is, the case  $b = \beta_{A,\mu}$ (or  $b = A\beta_{\mu}$  for operators in divergence form). If A = I, then b is just  $\nabla \varrho/\varrho$ . This case has attracted particular attention in the literature since the operator  $L = L_{I,b}$ becomes symmetric nonpositive. In addition to the  $L^1$ -uniqueness of this operator, its essential self-adjointness on  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  has also been intensively studied. Various results can be found in [32], [53], [71], [72], [103], [117], [119], [151], [168], and in the references therein. We merely note that, as shown in [32], if  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$  and A = I, then our usual assumption  $|b| \in L_{loc}^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with p > d is sufficient for the essential self-adjointness (if d > 3, then a somewhat weaker local condition is shown to be sufficient in [117]; for instance, in terms of  $L_{loc}^p$  it suffices that p = d). Further improvements are obtained in [103], where the following result is established. Let  $\varrho \ge 0$  be such that  $\sqrt{\varrho} \in W_{loc}^{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\nabla \varrho/\varrho \in L_{loc}^4(\mathbb{R}^d, \varrho \, dx)$ . Suppose additionally that for every ball  $B_0$  there is  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$\sup_{B\subset B_0} \left( |B|^{-1} \int_B \varrho(x)^{1+\varepsilon} \, dx \right) \left( |B|^{-1} \int_B \varrho(x)^{-1-\varepsilon} \, dx \right) < \infty,$$

where sup is taken over all balls  $B \subset B_0$  and |B| is the volume of B. Then the operator  $L_{\mathrm{I},b}$  with  $b = \nabla \varrho / \varrho$  is essentially selfadjoint on  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset L^2(\varrho \, dx)$ . It is still unknown whether the single condition  $\nabla \varrho / \varrho \in L^4_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d, \varrho \, dx)$  is sufficient (but such a global condition is sufficient). It was shown in [40] that in the symmetric case, conditions (A1) and (A2) are sufficient for the essential self-adjointness of  $L_{A,b}$  on  $C_0^{\infty}(M)$ , provided that M is complete with respect to the metric generated

44

by  $A^{-1}$ . It was also shown in [40] that under the same assumptions the stronger  $L^p$ -uniqueness holds for the symmetric operator  $L_{A,b}$ .

Suppose now that in the symmetric case we have A = I. Let b be a fixed Borel measurable dx-version of the mapping  $\nabla \varrho_0/\varrho_0$  for some probability density  $\varrho_0 \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , where  $\nabla \varrho_0/\varrho_0 := 0$  on the set  $\{\varrho_0 = 0\}$ , i.e., we take a dx-version of the logarithmic gradient  $\beta^{\mu_0}$  of the measure  $\mu_0 := \varrho_0 dx$ . Then  $\mu_0 := \varrho_0 dx \in \mathcal{M}^{I,b}_{\text{ell}}$ . Our precise specification of the character of a version is due to the fact that the measure  $\mu_0$  need not be equivalent to Lebesgue measure, so a  $\mu_0$ -version of b may fail to be a dx-version. Clearly,  $|b| \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mu_0)$ . In this case we have the following result (see [4]) with a much weaker local condition on b than in Theorem 1.7.1, but again we need the global condition (1.5.1).

1.7.20. THEOREM. Let b be of the indicated form and let  $|b| \in L^2_{loc}(\mu_0)$ .

(i) Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{ell}^{I,b}$  with  $|b| \in L^2_{loc}(\mu)$  be such that  $\varrho := d\mu/dx$  satisfies (1.5.1). Then

$$\frac{\nabla \varrho}{\varrho} = b \quad \mu\text{-}a.e.$$

and  $(L, C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n))$  is symmetric on  $L^2(\mu)$ .

(ii) If  $|b| \in L^1_{loc}(U)$  for some connected open set  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  whose complement has Lebesgue measure zero, then  $\mu_0$  is the only measure  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{I,b}_{ell}$  such that  $|b| \in L^2_{loc}(\mu)$ and  $\varrho = d\mu/dx$  satisfies (1.5.1).

Assertion (i) gives conditions under which infinitesimally invariant measures are symmetrizing. However, the following question arises: suppose that a probability measure  $\mu$  solves the equation  $L_{\mathrm{I},b}^* = 0$ , where  $b = \nabla V$  for some  $V \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ; is it true that b coincides with the logarithmic gradient of  $\mu$  and then  $\mu = c \exp V \, dx$ ? As the following example suggested by S.V. Shaposhnikov shows, this is not true without additional assumptions.

1.7.21. EXAMPLE. Let us take the following smooth function on the plane:

$$V(x,y) = -\left(\ln(1+x^2) + \ln(1+y^2) + x + \frac{x^3}{3} + y + \frac{y^3}{3}\right).$$

Then the measure  $\mu$  with density  $\varrho(x) = (1+x^2)^{-1}(1+y^2)^{-1}$  satisfies the equation  $L_{1,b}^*\mu = 0$  with  $b = \nabla V$ . Indeed, this equation can be written as div  $(\nabla \varrho - \varrho b) = 0$ , and for the indicated  $\varrho$  we find that  $\nabla \varrho - \varrho b = ((y^2 + 1)^{-1}, (x^2 + 1)^{-1}))$ , which obviously has divergence zero.

However, one can show that the answer is positive if either  $|\nabla V| \in L^1(\mu)$  or  $\exp V \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Concerning uniqueness problems, see also [2], [179].

#### 1.8. Global properties of densities

We now proceed to some global estimates related to the regularity of invariant measures. Unlike Example 1.2.15, the assumptions on the order of integrability of the drift may be considerably weakened in the case of the global integrability. The following result was obtained in [**31**]. Suppose that a mapping A with values in the space of positive symmetric matrices is uniformly bounded, uniformly Lipschitzian, and that there is a number  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\langle A(x)h,h\rangle \ge \alpha \langle h,h\rangle, \quad \forall x,h \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

$$a := (a^1, \dots, a^d), \quad a^j := \sum_{i=1}^d \partial_i a^{ij}.$$

1.8.1. THEOREM. Let  $\mu$  be a Borel probability measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , let b be a Borel vector fields such that  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$ , and let  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$ . Then

(1)  $\mu = \rho \, dx$ , where  $\rho = \varphi^2$  and  $\varphi \in W^{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , in particular,  $\rho \in L^{d/(d-1)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ; (2) one has

$$\frac{1}{4}\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left|\frac{\nabla \varrho}{\varrho}\right|^2 \varrho \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nabla \varphi|^2 \, dx \le \frac{1}{4\alpha^2} \int |b+a|^2 \, d\mu;$$

(3) the mapping  $\nabla p/p$  coincides  $\mu$ -a.e. with the orthogonal projection of the vector field  $A^{-1}(b-a)$  onto the closure of the set  $\{\nabla u \mid u \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)\}$  in the space  $L^2(\mu, \mathbb{R}^d)$  equipped with the inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$  defined by

$$\langle F,G\rangle_2 := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle AF,G\rangle \, d\mu$$

In particular, if A = I, then these assertions hold with  $\alpha = 1$  and a = 0.

1.8.2. COROLLARY. Let a probability measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfy the equation  $L_{\mathrm{I},b}^*\mu = 0$ , where  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$ . The operator  $L_{\mathrm{I},b}$  on domain  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  in  $L^2(\mu)$  is symmetric precisely when b coincides  $\mu$ -a.e. with the logarithmic gradient of  $\mu$ .

This theorem increases the global integrability of  $\rho$ , but obviously cannot ensure the uniform boundedness of  $\rho$ . The latter will be obtained below from the inclusion  $\rho \in W^{p,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with p > d under additional assumptions, but already now we can use local estimates in §1.2 to establish a uniform bound on  $\rho$ .

1.8.3. THEOREM. Let  $\mu$  be a probability measure on  $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$ , where A satisfies the conditions listed before the previous theorem and b satisfies the following condition with some p > d:

either  $\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \|b\|_{L^p(B(x,1))} < \infty$  or  $\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \|b\|_{L^p(B(x,1),\mu)} < \infty$ .

Then the continuous version  $\rho$  of the density of  $\mu$  is uniformly bounded. If  $|b| \in L^p(\mu)$ , then  $\rho \in W^{p,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

PROOF. It follows from §1.2 that the maximum of  $\rho$  on B(z, 1) is estimated by a number that depends only on  $\sup_x \left[ \|A(x)\| + \|A(x)^{-1}\| \right]$ , the Lipschitzian constant for A, and  $\|b\|_{L^p(B(z,1))}$  (or  $\|b\|_{L^p(B(z,1),\mu)}$  in the second case), hence is majorized by a number independent of z. If  $|b| \in L^p(\mu)$ , then the  $W^{p,1}$ -norm of  $\rho$  on a cube K with unit edge length is estimated by  $C(\|\rho\|_{L^1(Q)} + \|b\|_{L^p(Q,\mu)})$ , where Q is the cube with the same center and doubled edge, and C does not depend on the center. Hence the  $W^{p,1}$ -norm of  $\rho$  is finite on the whole space.

The last assertion will be strenthened below.

Our next global elliptic regularity result employs the following uniform local condition on A. For  $a^{ij} \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  we set

$$\Theta_A(x) := \sum_{j=1}^d \left| \sum_{i=1}^d \partial_{x_i} a^{ij}(x) \right|$$

Set

For given p > 1 and  $\gamma > 0$  let

$$q = q(d, p, \gamma) = \begin{cases} d & \text{if } p > d/(d-1), \\ d+\gamma & \text{if } p = d/(d-1), \\ p' = p/(p-1) \ (>d) & \text{if } p < d/(d-1). \end{cases}$$

We say that A satisfies condition (C1) for p > 1 if  $a^{ij} \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^d} \int_{B(z,r)} \Theta_A^q(x) \, dx = 0, \tag{1.8.1}$$

where q is defined above (in the case p = d/(d-1) this equality must be fulfilled with  $q = d + \gamma$  for some  $\gamma > 0$ ).

We observe that this condition is weaker than

$$\lim_{r \to 0} \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^d} \int_{B(z,r)} \widetilde{\Theta}^q_A(x) \, dx = 0, \tag{1.8.2}$$

where

$$\widetilde{\Theta}_A(x) := \sum_{j=1}^d \sum_{i=1}^d |\partial_{x_i} a^{ij}(x)|.$$

It is clear that if there is  $p_0 > d > 1$  such that

$$\sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^d} \int_{B(z,1)} \sum_{i,j=1}^d |\nabla a^{ij}(x)|^{p_0} \, dx < \infty, \tag{1.8.3}$$

then A satisfies condition (C1) (as well as (1.8.2)) for any  $p \in (1, p_0)$  and is uniformly continuous (even uniformly Hölder continuous) on all of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . In particular, both properties hold if A is uniformly Lipschitzian.

It is worth noting that although in most of our results we assume that  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , hence one can write  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$  as  $L_{A,b_0}$  with  $b^i_0 := b^i + \partial_{x_j} a^{ij}$ , the case of  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$  does not always reduce to that of  $L_{A,b}$ , because the global integrability conditions on |b| and  $|\nabla a^{ij}|$  are different. In some situations, it is easier to deal with divergence form operators, in others the standard form is more convenient. In the manifold case, usually divergence form operators lead to more natural geometric objects. Apparently, the most natural setting for most of the problems discussed should appeal to the geometry related to A and to weighted Sobolev spaces. However, the corresponding techniques, in particular, embedding theorems, is less developed than the classical Sobolev theory.

1.8.4. THEOREM. Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  be such that  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = \nu \in W^{p,-1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for some  $p \in (1, \frac{d}{d-1})$ ,  $|b| \in L^1(|\mu|)$ . Suppose that A is uniformly continuous and  $c_1 \cdot \mathbf{I} \leq A(x) \leq c_2 \cdot \mathbf{I}$  for some constants  $c_1, c_2 > 0$ . Then  $\mu$  has a density in  $L^r(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for every  $r \in [1, p]$ .

In the case of  $\mathcal{L}_{A,b}$  the same is true under the additional assumption that  $a^{ij} \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all i, j and  $\partial_{x_i} a^{ij} \in L^1(|\mu|)$  for every j.

The next result is a generalization of [129, Theorem 3.1] and a partial generalization of a result in [31]. We impose weaker assumptions than in [129], where  $A^{-1}$  is bounded and  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$  (in addition, in [129] the same local assumptions as below are imposed along with a condition which is a bit stronger than (1.8.4)); as compared to [31] (where A is uniformly Lipschitzian, A and  $A^{-1}$  are uniformly bounded, and  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$ ), we weaken the assumptions on A, but add an extra local condition on b. That extra condition is not needed if we know in advance that  $\mu$  has a locally bounded density in  $W^{2,1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . It should be noted that unlike most other results in this section, this theorem deals with probability measures and fails for signed measures.

1.8.5. THEOREM. Suppose that  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfies the equation  $\mathcal{L}^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$ , where the mapping A is continuous, det A > 0,  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with some p > d, and  $|b| \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\mu)$ . Suppose in addition that  $|A^{-1/2}b| \in L^2(\mu)$  and that

$$\liminf_{r \to \infty} \int_{r \le |x| \le 2r} \left[ r^{-2} \|A(x)\| + r^{-1} \Theta_A(x) \right] \mu(dx) = 0.$$
 (1.8.4)

Then  $\mu$  has a density  $\varrho \in W^{2,1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \frac{\sqrt{A} \nabla \varrho}{\varrho} \right|^2 d\mu \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |A^{-1/2}b|^2 d\mu.$$
(1.8.5)

In particular, under the additional assumption that  $A \ge \varepsilon \cdot I$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ , one has  $\sqrt{\varrho} \in W^{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\varrho \in L^{d/(d-2)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  if d > 2 and  $\varrho \in L^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all  $s \in [1, \infty)$  if d = 2.

1.8.6. REMARK. (i) Condition (1.8.4) is fulfilled if

$$|\nabla a^{ij}(x)| \le C_0 + C_1 |x|.$$

If  $\mu$  is known to have finite first moment, i.e.,  $|x| \in L^1(\mu)$ , then quadratic growth of  $|\nabla a^{ij}|$  is allowed.

(ii) Condition (1.8.4) can be replaced by the assumption that for some r > 0 one has

$$\liminf_{R \to \infty} \int_{R \le |x| \le R+r} \left[ \|A(x)\| + \Theta_A(x) \right] \mu(dx) = 0.$$

This condition is weaker on the part of  $\Theta_A$ , but is stronger on the part of ||A||; for uniformly bounded A, it is weaker.

(iii) Note also that if A is uniformly bounded and satisfies (C1) with (1.8.1), then (1.8.4) is ensured by the assumption that  $\liminf_{r\to\infty} r^{d-1}\mu(\{|x| \ge r\}) = 0$ , which is fulfilled, e.g., if  $|x|^{d-1} \in L^1(\mu)$ . The latter can be effectively verified in terms of A and b by the Lyapunov function method.

Estimate (1.8.5) can be regarded as the estimate

$$\int \left\langle \frac{\nabla \varrho}{\varrho}, \frac{\nabla \varrho}{\varrho} \right\rangle d\mu \leq \int \langle b, b \rangle \, d\mu$$

with respect to the Riemannian geometry generated by A. Such an estimate was indeed obtained in [48], [49] for a broad class of Riemannian manifolds (concerning diffusion operators on manifolds, see also [115]).

1.8.7. THEOREM. Let M be a Riemannian manifold with Riemannian volume measure  $\lambda$  such that the Ricci curvature is bounded from below and the Riemannian volumes of balls of any fixed positive radius are bounded away from zero. Let  $\mu$  be a Borel probability measure on M such that  $L^*\mu = 0$ , where  $Lf = \Delta f + \langle b, \nabla f \rangle$  and  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$ . Then  $\mu = \varrho \cdot \lambda$ , where  $\sqrt{\varrho} \in W^{2,1}(M)$  and

$$\int_{M} \frac{|\nabla \varrho|^2}{\varrho^2} \, d\mu \le \int_{M} |b|^2 \, d\mu.$$

If in place of  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$  we have  $|b| \in L^2(\lambda)$ , then

$$\int_{M} \frac{|\nabla \varrho|^2}{\varrho^2} \, d\lambda \le \int_{M} |b|^2 \, d\lambda.$$

Actually, the technical conditions imposed on M in [48] are even broader and are expressed in terms of the heat semigroup. However, as noted in [49, Remark 2.5(ii)], this estimate may fail for general Riemannian manifolds even if b = 0. Namely, there exist complete connected Riemannian manifolds on which there are nonconstant positive integrable harmonic functions; such a function defines a measure satisfying our equation with b = 0, and the above estimates fail for it. In the situation of Theorem 1.8.5, we do not know whether the natural estimate (1.8.5) holds without any extra local assumptions on b and without (1.8.4). However, there is an important special case when (1.8.4) is not needed.

1.8.8. THEOREM. Let A be continuous, det A > 0,  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and  $|b| \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for some p > d. Suppose that there exists a quasi-compact function  $V \in W^{2,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{A,b}V(x) \to -\infty \quad as \ |x| \to +\infty.$$

Assume also that there are numbers  $c_1, c_2 > 0$  such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{A,b}V \le c_1 - c_2 |A^{-1/2}b|^2$$

outside some ball. Then there exists a measure  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with a positive density  $\varrho \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that  $\mathcal{L}^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$  and  $|\sqrt{A}\nabla \varrho|^2/\varrho \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

If, in addition, there exists a positive Borel function  $\theta$  on  $[0, +\infty)$  such that  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \theta(t) = +\infty$  and

$$\mathcal{L}_{A,b}V \le c_1 - c_2\theta(|A^{-1/2}b|)|A^{-1/2}b|^2$$

outside some ball, then  $|A^{-1/2}b| \in L^2(\mu)$  and (1.8.5) holds.

1.8.9. THEOREM. Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  be such that  $\mathcal{L}^*_{A,b}\mu = \nu$ . Suppose that

(a)  $A \ge \varepsilon I$  with some  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

 $a^{ij} \in W^{\alpha,1}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d), \text{ and either } |b| \in L^{\alpha}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \text{ or } |b| \in L^{\alpha}_{\mathrm{loc}}(|\mu|), \text{ where } \alpha > d,$ 

(b) |b|, trace  $A \in L^{\beta}(|\mu|)$ , where  $\beta > 1$ ,

(c) A satisfies condition (C1) (see (1.8.1)) for the number  $\beta$  in (b) and is uniformly continuous.

Assume also that the density  $\varrho$  of  $\mu$  belongs to  $L^{\beta_0}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for some  $\beta_0 > 1$ , which is automatically the case in (i)–(iii) below if A is bounded and  $\partial_{x_i} a^{ij} \in L^{\beta}(|\mu|)$  for each j.

(i) Let  $1 < \beta < d$  and let  $\nu \in W^{\theta,-1}$  for all  $\theta \in (1, \frac{d}{d-\beta+1})$ . Then  $\varrho \in W^{r,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all  $r \in (1, \frac{d}{d-\beta+1})$ . Moreover, if  $\mu$  is nonnegative, then the same is true for  $r = \frac{d}{d-\beta+1}$ .

(ii) Let  $\beta = d$  and  $\nu \in W^{\theta,-1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all  $\theta \in (1,d)$ . Then  $\varrho \in W^{r,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all  $r \in (1,d)$ .

(iii) Let  $d < \beta \leq \alpha$  and  $\nu \in W^{\theta,-1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all  $\theta \in (1,\beta]$ . Then  $\varrho \in W^{r,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for any  $r \in (1,\beta]$ . In particular,  $\varrho \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

The same is true in the case of  $L_{A,b}$  provided that one has, in addition,  $\partial_{x_i} a^{ij} \in L^{\beta}(|\mu|)$  for each j.

1.8.10. COROLLARY. Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfy the equation  $\mathcal{L}^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$ . Suppose that there is a number  $\alpha > d$  such that |b|, trace  $A \in L^{\alpha}(\mu)$ ,  $a^{ij} \in W^{\alpha,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  are uniformly continuous, (C1) and (1.8.4) hold, and  $A \ge \varepsilon I$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then  $\mu = \varrho dx$ , where  $\varrho \in W^{\alpha,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . In particular,  $\varrho \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

In particular, the conclusion holds true if one has (1.8.3) and

 $A \ge \varepsilon \mathbf{I}, \ |b| \in L^{\alpha}(\mu), \ \operatorname{trace} A \in L^{\alpha}(\mu), \ (1+|x|)^{-1}\Theta_A \in L^1(\mu).$ 

The case  $\beta = 1$  in the above theorem has not been studied so far. In particular, it is unknown whether  $\rho \in W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , i.e.,  $|\nabla \rho/\rho| \in L^1(\mu)$ , if  $|b| \in L^1(\mu)$  and  $\mu$  is a probability measure satisfying the equation  $L^*_{1,b}\mu = 0$ . If  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$ , then this is true by Theorem 1.8.1. In addition, it is unknown whether in the same case we have  $|\nabla \rho/\rho| \in L^p(\mu)$  if  $|b| \in L^p(\mu)$  and  $p \neq 2$ . Additional sufficient conditions for this are given in §1.9. So, without any additional assumptions such as the existence of Lyapunov functions or bounds on the coefficients, the inclusion  $\rho \in W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is established so far only under the assumption that  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$ .

It is clear that  $\rho$  may not belong to the class  $W^{p,2}$  unless we require certain regularity of b. The following theorem extends [129, Theorem 4.7], where somewhat stronger assumptions on A were employed.

1.8.11. THEOREM. Suppose that  $\alpha \geq 2d$ ,  $A \geq \varepsilon I$  with  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $a^{ij}, b^i \in W^{\alpha,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , A is uniformly continuous and satisfies condition (C1) for  $\alpha$ . Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfy  $\mathcal{L}^*_{A,b}\mu = \nu$ , where |b|, trace  $A \in L^{\alpha}(\mu)$  and  $\nu \in L^r(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all  $r \in (1, \alpha]$ . Assume also that div  $b \in L^{\alpha}(\mu)$  and  $|\nabla a^{ij}| \in L^{\theta}(\mu)$ , where  $\theta \geq \max(2d^2, \alpha)$ . Then  $\mu = \varrho \, dx$ , where  $\varrho \in W^{r,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all  $r \in (1, \alpha/2)$ . If  $\alpha > 2d$ , then  $\varrho \in W^{\alpha/2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $|\nabla \varrho| \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

If  $a^{ij}, |\nabla a^{ij}| \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then these assertions are true for any solution  $\mu$  from the class of all measures of bounded variation.

We now turn to pointwise bounds of solutions. The idea is simple: in order to show that  $|\varrho(x)| \leq C\Psi(x)$  for some positive function  $\Psi$ , one has to consider the measure  $\mu_0$  with density  $\varrho/\Psi$  and verify that this measure satisfies an equation of the type considered in Theorem 1.8.9. This idea was employed in [129] in the case of exponential functions. For further developments we refer to the paper [34], where the following results were obtained. Case (iii) of Example 1.8.13 below gives the bound from [129] under slightly weaker assumptions.

1.8.12. THEOREM. Suppose that  $\mu$  is a probability measure satisfying the equation  $\mathcal{L}^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$ , where A and b satisfy hypotheses (a)–(b) of Theorem 1.8.9 for some  $\alpha = \beta > d$ . Let  $\Phi \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  be a positive function such that for some  $\theta > d$  and all  $j = 1, \ldots, d$  one has

$$\Phi \in L^1(\mu), \ |\nabla \Phi| \in L^{\theta}(\mu), \ \partial_{x_i} a^{ij} \in L^d(\mu).$$

Then the density  $\rho$  of  $\mu$  satisfies the estimate  $\rho(x) \leq C\Phi(x)^{-1}$  with some constant C.

We shall now see that the existence of polynomial or exponential moments of solutions yield a corresponding decay of densities at infinity.

1.8.13. EXAMPLE. Suppose that  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfies the equation  $\mathcal{L}^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$ and that A is uniformly Lipschitzian and A and  $A^{-1}$  are uniformly bounded. Furthermore, assume that  $|b| \in L^p(\mu)$  for some p > d.

(i) If  $\Psi \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is a positive function such that

$$\Phi \in L^1(\mu), \ |\nabla \Phi| \in L^{\theta}(\mu), \quad \theta > d,$$

then  $\varrho(x) \leq C\Phi(x)^{-1}$ .

(ii) Let k > 1 and suppose that  $|x|^r \in L^1(\mu)$  for some r > (k-1)d. Then, letting  $\Phi(x) = |x|^k$ , we obtain  $\varrho(x) \le C|x|^{-k}$ .

(iii) Suppose that

$$\exp(\alpha |x|^{\beta}) \in L^1(\mu), \quad |b(x)| \le C_0 + C_1 \exp(\alpha_0 |x|^{\beta}),$$

where  $\alpha, \beta, C_0, C_1 > 0$ , and  $\alpha_0 < \alpha/d$ . Then, for any  $\kappa < \beta/d$ , there is a number C > 0 such that one has  $\varrho(x) \leq C \exp(-\kappa |x|^{\beta})$ .

It is surprising that the above estimates, very rough at first glance, are in fact sufficiently sharp. Below we shall see that there are lower bounds of the same order. In a similar manner one obtains upper bounds on  $|\nabla \varrho|$ .

1.8.14. PROPOSITION. Suppose that in Theorem 1.8.12 we have additionally  $\Phi \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and

$$\varrho |\nabla \Phi| \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d), \quad |b|, |\nabla \Phi|, \partial_{x_i} a^{ij} \partial_{x_j} \Phi, L_A \Phi, |A \nabla \Phi| \in L^r(\mu), \ r > 2d.$$
  
Then  $|\nabla \varrho(x)| \le C \Phi(x)^{-1}.$ 

1.8.15. EXAMPLE. Let  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfy the equation  $\mathcal{L}^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$ , where A is uniformly Lipschitzian, A and  $A^{-1}$  are uniformly bounded, and |b|, div  $b \in L^p(\mu)$  for some p > 2d.

(i) Let 
$$\Phi(x) = |x|^k$$
,  $k \ge 1$ , and let  $|x|^m \in L^1(\mu)$ , where  $m > 2d(k-1)$ . Then

$$|\nabla \varrho(x)| \le C(1+|x|)^{-k}.$$

(ii) Let  $\Phi(x) = \exp(K|x|^{\beta})$  and let  $\exp(M|x|^{\beta}) \in L^{1}(\mu)$ , where M > 2dK. Then

$$|\nabla \varrho(x)| \le C \exp(-K|x|^{\beta}).$$

By using the method of Lyapunov functions, one can give effective conditions for the existence of polynomial or exponential moments for  $\mu$ . For example, if  $A(x) \leq \Lambda I$  and  $\langle b(x), x \rangle \leq -K < -\Lambda d$  outside some ball, then letting  $V(x) = \langle x, x \rangle^{\gamma}$  with  $1 < \gamma < 1 + (K - \Lambda d)/2$ , we obtain outside some ball

$$L_{A,b}V(x) \le 2\gamma \langle x, x \rangle^{\gamma-1} \left[ \Lambda d + 2(\gamma - 1) + \langle b(x), x \rangle \right] \le -\kappa |x|^{2\gamma-2},$$

where  $\kappa > 0$ . Hence  $|x|^{2\gamma-1} \in L^1(\mu)$ . Stronger decay of  $\langle b(x), x \rangle$ , e.g., the estimate  $\langle b(x), x \rangle \leq c_1 - c_2 |x|^r$ , implies the exponential integrability (see [**39**], [**129**]). Certainly, the required integrability of the coefficients can be also deduced from such estimates provided we know certain bounds on the coefficients. It is worth noting that some of the conditions on A employed above can be relaxed by using the results in [**107**], [**108**], [**109**].

### 1.9. Lower estimates

In this section, following [42], where the proofs are given, we discuss lower bounds for densities of solutions to elliptic equations of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{A,b}^*\mu = 0 \tag{1.9.1}$$

for Borel measures  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , where  $\mathcal{L}$  is an elliptic second order operator of divergence form

$$\mathcal{L}\varphi(x) := \partial_{x_i}(a^{ij}(x)\partial_{x_j}\varphi(x)) + b^i(x)\partial_{x_i}\varphi(x).$$

The interpretation of this equation is as usual: the functions  $a^{ij}$  and  $b^i$  must be integrable on every compact set in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with respect to the measure  $\mu$  and, for every  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , we must have the equality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{L}\varphi \, d\mu = 0.$$

However, the latter can be understood in one of the following two ways.

(I) One has  $a^{ij} \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , the functions  $a^{ij}$ ,  $\partial_{x_i}a^{ij}$ , and  $b^i$  are Borel measurable and locally integrable with respect to  $|\mu|$ , and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ a^{ij} \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} \varphi + \partial_{x_i} a^{ij} \partial_{x_j} \varphi + b^j \partial_{x_j} \varphi \right] d\mu = 0.$$
(1.9.2)

(II) The measure  $\mu$  possesses a density  $\rho$  in the class  $W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that the functions  $a^{ij}\partial_{x_i}\rho$  and  $b^i\rho$  are locally Lebesgue integrable and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[ -a^{ij} \partial_{x_i} \varrho \partial_{x_j} \varphi + b^i \partial_{x_i} \varphi \varrho \right] dx = 0.$$
(1.9.3)

Clearly, if the coefficients  $a^{ij}$  are locally Sobolev and the functions  $\partial_{x_i} a^{ij} \rho$  are locally integrable, then (1.9.3) can be written as (1.9.2). The divergence form of operators is used only for convenience of formulations; under our standard assumptions on Aall the main results of this section can be easily rewritten for the operator  $L_{A,b}$ .

As above, we assume that  $a^{ij} = a^{ji}$  and A(x) is positive.

In the next theorem we suppose that a nonnegative locally bounded measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  has a density  $\varrho$  such that  $\varrho \in W^{2,1}(U)$  for every ball  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ . Let the measure  $\mu$  satisfy equation (1.9.1) on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  in the sense of (1.9.3), i.e., in Case (II), where

$$\mathcal{L} = \partial_{x_i} (a^{ij} \partial_{x_j}) + b^i \partial_{x_i},$$

the matrix-valued mapping  $A = (a^{ij})_{1 \le i,j \le d}$  is measurable, the functions ||A(x)||and  $||A(x)^{-1}||$  are locally bounded, and the coefficient  $b = (b^i)_{i \le d}$  is a measurable locally bounded vector field. We recall that in the case where  $a^{ij} \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and  $b^i \in L^p_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for some p > d and  $A(x)^{-1}$  is locally bounded, any solution of (1.9.1) in the sense of (1.9.2) automatically has a density in  $W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , hence it also satisfies (1.9.3).

Let V be a continuous increasing function on  $[0, \infty)$  with V(0) > 0.

1.9.1. THEOREM. Let 
$$|b(x)| \leq V(|x|/\theta)$$
, where  $\theta > 1$ . Set

$$\alpha(r) := \sup_{|x| \le r} \|A(x)^{-1}\|, \quad \gamma(r) := \sup_{|x| \le r} \|A(x)\|.$$

Then there exists a positive number K(d) depending only on d such that the continuous version of the function  $\rho$  satisfies the inequality

$$\rho(x) \ge \rho(0) \exp\{-K(d)(\theta - 1)^{-1}\alpha(\theta |x|)^{-1} (\gamma(\theta |x|) + V(|x|)|x|)\}.$$

In particular, if  $||A(x)|| \leq \gamma$  and  $||A(x)^{-1}|| \leq \alpha$ , then there exists a positive number  $K = K(d, \alpha, \gamma, \theta)$  such that the continuous version of the function  $\rho$  satisfies the inequality

$$\varrho(x) \ge \varrho(0) \exp\left\{-K\left(1 + V(|x|)|x|\right)\right\}$$

1.9.2. EXAMPLE. Suppose that

$$\sum_{i,j} |a^{ij}(x)|^2 \le \gamma^2 \quad \text{and} \quad A(x) \ge \alpha \cdot \mathbf{I} \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

If, for some numbers  $c_1, c_2 > 0$ , for almost all x one has the estimate

$$|b(x)| \le c_1 |x|^\beta + c_2,$$

then there exists a constant K such that the following inequality holds:

$$\varrho(x) \ge \varrho(0) \exp\left\{-K\left(1+|x|^{\beta+1}\right)\right\}.$$

If we have

$$\sup_{x,i,j} \left[ \|A(x)\| + \|A(x)^{-1}\| + |\nabla a^{ij}(x)| \right] < \infty,$$
  
$$b(x)| \le c_1 |x|^{\beta} + c_2, \quad \limsup_{|x| \to \infty} |x|^{-\beta - 1} (b(x), x) < 0$$

then we obtain the following two-sided estimate:

$$\exp\{-K_1(1+|x|^{\beta+1})\} \le \varrho(x) \le \exp\{-K_2(1+|x|^{\beta+1})\}.$$

The upper estimate holds if

e

$$\exp(M|x|^{\beta}) \in L^{1}(\mu), \quad |b(x)| \leq C_{0} + C_{1} \exp(M_{0}|x|^{\beta}), \quad 0 \leq M_{0} < d^{-1}M,$$
$$\langle b(x), x \rangle \leq c_{0} - c_{1}|x|^{\beta}, \quad c_{1} > M\beta \sup_{x} ||A(x)||,$$

where M > 0 is sufficiently small. For example, if A = I and  $b^i(x) = x_i$ , then the measure with density  $\rho(x) = \exp(-|x|^2/2)$  is a solution. The aforementioned results ensure the estimate

$$\exp(-K_1(1+|x|^2)) \le \varrho(x) \le \exp(-K_2(1+|x|^2))$$

with some numbers  $K_1, K_2 > 0$ , which gives a sufficiently adequate description of the decay at infinity, although it does not yield the precise asymptotics.

It should be noted that the hypothesis that  $\limsup_{|x|\to\infty} |x|^{-\beta-1} \langle b(x), x \rangle < 0$  is only

needed to ensure the integrability of  $\exp(M|x|^{\beta})$  and can be replaced by the latter (however, its advantage is that it is expressed explicitly in terms of A and b).

The presented results generalize the results obtained in [129], where the theory of nonlinear equations (in particular, well-known results of Bernstein) was employed, which required certain additional assumptions on A.

By using the obtained estimates we can give effectively verified conditions for the membership of the logarithmic gradient  $\nabla \varrho / \varrho$  of the measure  $\mu$  in  $L^p(\mu)$ . In the case p = 2 simple sufficient conditions were obtained in [**37**], [**31**] and presented above. The first general result for p > 2 was established in [**129**] (a special was considered in [**61**]). The condition from [**42**] presented in the theorem below improves this result since we do not require the differentiability of the drift coefficient and assume lower regularity of the diffusion coefficient (it is assumed in [**129**] that  $a^{ij} \in C^3(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $b \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ). This weakening of the conditions on the coefficients became possible due to the fact that, unlike in [**129**], the proof in [**42**] did not use methods of the theory of nonlinear equations.

In the next theorem and its corollaries we suppose that  $\mu$  is a probability measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with a continuous positive density  $\rho$  satisfying the elliptic equation (1.9.1) in the sense of (1.9.2), i.e., we deal with Case (I). In particular, the weighed Sobolev class  $W^{p,1}(\mu)$  is well-defined.

1.9.3. THEOREM. Let  $a^{ij} \in C^{0,\delta}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap W^{p_0,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \cdot \mathbf{I} \leq A \leq \gamma \cdot \mathbf{I}$ , where  $\alpha, \gamma, \delta > 0$  and  $p_0 > d$ , and let  $\limsup_{r \to 0} \sup_x \|\partial_{x_i} a^{ij}\|_{L^d(U(x,r))} = 0$  (the latter holds if

A is Lipschitzian). Let a positive continuous function  $\Phi \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^1)$  increase on  $[0, +\infty)$  such that  $\Phi(N+1) \leq C\Phi(N)^{1+\varepsilon}$  for some  $C, \varepsilon > 0$ , and let the functions  $\Phi(|x|)$  and  $\Phi'(|x|)^{p_1}$  with some  $p_1 > d$  be integrable with respect to the measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Suppose also that there exist numbers  $C_0 > 0$ ,  $\theta > 1$ , p > 1, and  $\gamma \in [0, 1/d)$  such that

$$|b(x)| \le C_0 \Phi(|x| - \theta)^{\gamma}, \quad |\nabla a^{ij}(x)|^a \le C_0 \Phi(|x|),$$
$$\sum_{N=1}^{\infty} N^{d-1} \Phi(N)^{-q} < \infty, \quad where \ q := 1 - \gamma(p + \varepsilon d) > 0.$$

Then  $\ln \varrho \in W^{p,1}(\mu)$ .

1.9.4. COROLLARY. Let  $a^{ij} \in C^{0,\delta}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap W^{p_0,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \cdot \mathbf{I} \leq A \leq \gamma \cdot \mathbf{I}$ , where  $\alpha, \gamma, \delta > 0$  and  $p_0 > d > 1$ , and let  $\lim_{r \to 0} \sup_x \|\partial_{x_i} a^{ij}\|_{L^d(U(x,r))} = 0$ . Let p > 1

be given. Suppose that for some M > 0 and  $\beta > 0$  the function  $\exp(M|x|^{\beta})$  is integrable with respect to the measure  $\mu$  and that

 $|b(x)| \leq C_0 \exp\big\{\kappa |x|^\beta\big\}, \ |\nabla a^{ij}(x)| \leq C_0 \exp\big\{\kappa |x|^\beta\big\}, \ where \ 0 < \kappa d \max(p,d) < M.$ 

Then  $\ln \rho \in W^{p,1}(\mu)$ . In particular, if for every  $\kappa > 0$  there is a number  $C(\kappa)$  such that

$$|b(x)| + |\nabla a^{ij}(x)| \le C(\kappa) \exp\{\kappa |x|^{\beta}\},\$$

then  $\ln \rho \in W^{p,1}(\mu)$  for all  $p \in [1, +\infty)$ .

Taking  $\Phi(r) = r^{\beta} + 1$ , one proves the following result.

1.9.5. COROLLARY. Let  $a^{ij} \in C^{0,\delta}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap W^{p_0,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $\alpha \cdot \mathbf{I} \leq A \leq \gamma \cdot \mathbf{I}$ , where  $\alpha, \gamma, \delta > 0$  and  $p_0 > d > 1$ , and let  $\lim_{r \to 0} \sup_x \|\partial_{x_i} a^{ij}\|_{L^d(U(x,r))} = 0$ . Let p > 1. Suppose that for some  $\beta > d$  the function  $|x|^{\beta d}$  is integrable with respect to the measure  $\mu$  and that

$$\begin{aligned} |b(x)| &\leq C_0 + C_0 |x|^{\beta\gamma}, \ |\nabla a^{ij}(x)| \leq C_0 + C_0 |x|^{\beta/d}, \ \text{where } 0 < \gamma < d^{-1}, \gamma < 1 - d\beta^{-1}. \end{aligned}$$
  
Then  $\ln \varrho \in W^{p,1}(\mu) \text{ for every } p \in \Big[1, (\beta - d)\beta^{-1}\gamma^{-1}\Big]. \end{aligned}$ 

We now consider lower bounds without assumptions on the growth of the drift coefficient, but using instead a certain integrability of the drift with respect to the solution. Until the end of this section we assume that the matrix  $A(x) = (a^{ij}(x))_{1 \le i,j \le d}$  is symmetric and satisfies the following condition:

(G1) for some p > d the functions  $a^{ij}$  belong to the class  $W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and there exist numbers m, M > 0 such that for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$  we have

$$m|y|^2 \le \sum_{1\le i,j\le d} a^{ij}(x)y_iy_j \le M|y|^2.$$

If in addition to Condition (G1) we have  $b^i \in L^p_{loc}(\mu)$  (or  $b^i \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ), then  $\mu$  is given by a continuous density  $\rho \in W^{1,p}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , which we shall deal with. Equation (1.9.1) can be written as the equality

$$\partial_{x_i} \left( a^{ij} \partial_{x_j} \varrho \right) - \partial_{x_i} (b^i \varrho) = 0,$$

understood in the weak sense.

The method of obtaining lower bounds discussed above is not applicable in the case of locally unbounded b. It has been shown in [44] that without any restrictions on the growth of b one can obtain estimates of the form

$$\varrho(x) \ge e^{-f(c_1|x| + c_2)},\tag{1.9.4}$$

where  $c_1, c_2$  are some positive numbers and the function  $f \in C^2([0,\infty))$  satisfies the conditions

(H1) f(z) > 0, f'(z) > 0, f''(z) > 0 if z > 0;

(H2) the function  $e^{-f(z)}$  is convex (that is,  $(e^{-f})'' \ge 0$ ) on the set  $z > z_0$  for some  $z_0 \ge 0$  and it decreases to 0 as  $z \to +\infty$ .

Namely, for obtaining estimate (1.9.4) it suffices, to require the following conditions in addition to (G1):

(G2)  $|b|\exp(\psi(|b|)) \in L^p(\mu)$ , where  $p > \min\{2, d\}$  and  $\psi$  is a nonnegative strictly increasing continuous function mapping  $[0, \infty)$  onto  $[0, \infty)$  such that

(H3)  $\psi^{-1}(z) \le N f'(f^{-1}(z))$  for some N > 0 and all z > 0.

Let us give several typical examples of the functions f and  $\psi$ . Let  $\delta > 0$  be a given number. If  $f(z) = e^z$ , then one can take  $\psi(z) = \delta \cdot z$ . In this case we obtain the estimate

$$\varrho(x) \ge \exp(-c_2 \exp(c_1|x|)).$$
  
If  $f(z) = z^{r/(r-1)}$  with  $r > 1$ , then  $\psi(z) = \delta \cdot z^r$  is suitable. Then  
 $\varrho(x) \ge \tilde{c_2} \exp(-\tilde{c_1}|x|^{r/(r-1)}).$ 

In the case where d = 1, A = 1, and  $b = \varrho'/\varrho$  such estimates were obtained in [140] (and extended to the case d > 1 in [126] still with the assumption that A = I and  $b = \nabla \varrho/\varrho$ ). It follows from (1.9.4) that the solution density has no zeros under a condition weaker than the exponential integrability of |b| (sufficiency of the latter condition was proved in [35]). For example, if we set  $f(z) = e^{e^z}$  and  $\psi(z) = \delta \cdot \frac{z}{|\ln z|^{\kappa}}$  for z > 2 and  $0 < \kappa < 1$ , then we obtain a condition that is sufficient for positivity but is weaker than the exponential integrability of |b|. If d = 1, A = 1, and  $b = \varrho'/\varrho$ , then this new sufficient condition for positivity is close to the one obtained in [153], and in a sense the latter cannot be improved.

Let  $V = e^f / f'$ .

Since 
$$(e^{-f})'' = [(f')^2 - f'']e^{-f} \ge 0$$
 on  $[z_0, +\infty)$ , we have  
 $V' = [(f')^2 - f'']e^{-f}(f')^{-2} \ge 0$  on  $[z_0, +\infty)$ 

In addition, V increases to  $+\infty$  since the function  $1/V = f'e^{-f}$  cannot be separated from zero on  $[0, +\infty)$ . It follows from conditions (H1) and (H3) that  $f'(y) \to +\infty$ as  $y \to +\infty$ . Therefore, there exists  $y_0 > \max\{z_0, 1\}$  such that  $f'(y) \ge 1$  and  $V(y) \ge e^{\psi(0)}$  whenever  $y > y_0$ . Let  $\tau_0 := \exp\{-f(\ln y_0)\}$ . Then  $0 < \tau_0 < 1$ .

We fix a cub Q of unit edge. Let

$$\Lambda := \min\{\tau_0(2\|\varrho\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)})^{-1}, 1\}$$

1.9.6. THEOREM. Let  $\mu = \varrho \, dx$  be a solution of equation (1.9.1), where the coefficients  $a^{ij}, b^i$  satisfy conditions (G1), (G2) and let conditions (H1), (H2), and (H3) be fulfilled. Then there exist numbers C > 0 and  $\alpha > 0$  such that for every measurable subset  $E \subset Q$  one has

$$\sup_{x \in Q} \exp(f^{-1}(|\ln(\Lambda \varrho)|)) \le C \left( \int_E \exp(-\alpha f(|\ln(\Lambda \varrho)|) \, dx) \right)^{-1/\alpha},$$

where the numbers C and  $\alpha$  depend only on the following quantities:

$$p, N, N_1, \tau_0, m, M, d, \|\varrho\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)}, \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |b|^p e^{p\psi(|b|)} \varrho \, dx.$$

1.9.7. THEOREM. Let  $\mu = \rho dx$  be a solution of equation (1.9.1), where the coefficients  $a^{ij}, b^i$  satisfy conditions (G1), (G2) and let conditions (H1), (H2), and (H3) be fulfilled. Then there exist numbers  $c_1 > 0$  and  $c_2 > 0$  such that

$$\varrho(x) \ge e^{-f(c_1|x|+c_2)}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

This result gives lower bounds for the density of the stationary measure of the diffusion process with diffusion coefficient  $\sqrt{2A}$  and drift b.

1.9.8. EXAMPLE. Let condition (G1) be fulfilled and let a number r > 1 be given.

(i) In order to obtain the estimate

$$\varrho(x) \ge \tilde{c}_2 \exp(-\tilde{c}_1 |x|^{r/(r-1)}), \tag{1.9.5}$$

it suffices to have  $\exp(\delta|b|^r) \in L^1(\mu)$  for some  $\delta > 0$ .

Indeed, the function  $\psi(z)=\delta z^r/(2p)$  satisfies condition (H3) with  $f(z)=z^{r/(r-1)}.$ 

There exists a number  $C(\delta) > 0$  such that  $|z| \leq C(\delta) \exp(\delta |z|^r/2)$ . Then

$$\left(|b|\exp(\delta|b|^r/(2p))\right)^p \le C(\delta)^p \exp(\delta|b|^r)$$

and so  $|b| \exp(\delta |b|^r / (2p)) \in L^p(\mu)$ , that is, condition (G2) is fulfilled.

(ii) In order to obtain the estimate

$$\varrho(x) \ge \exp(-\widetilde{c_2} \exp(\widetilde{c_1}|x|)), \tag{1.9.6}$$

it suffices that  $\exp(\delta|b|) \in L^1(\mu)$  for some  $\delta > 0$ .

Indeed, whenever  $0 < \delta_1 < \delta$ , the functions  $\psi(z) = \delta_1 \cdot z$  and  $f(z) = e^z$  satisfy (H3) with  $N = 1/\delta_1$  and (G2) is fulfilled as well.

1.9.9. EXAMPLE. Let  $\mu = \rho \, dx$  be a probability measure and let  $\rho \in W^{1,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then  $\mu$  obviously satisfies equation (1.9.1) with A = I and  $b = \nabla \rho / \rho$ , where b(x) := 0 if  $\rho(x) = 0$ . Therefore, to get estimate (1.9.5) it suffices that  $\exp(\delta |\nabla \rho / \rho|^r) \in L^1(\mu)$  for some  $\delta > 0$ , and estimate (1.9.6) follows from the inclusion  $\exp(\delta |\nabla \rho / \rho|) \in L^1(\mu)$  for some  $\delta > 0$ .

For d = 1 the assertion in the last example was obtained in [140] (where in the case r = 1 the formulation contains a minor inaccuracy:  $\tilde{c_1}$  is replaced by 1; but the function  $\varrho(x) = \exp(-\exp(2|x|))$  shows that one cannot get rid of  $\tilde{c_1}$ ). For d > 1 and r = 1 the assertion of the last example is given in [22, Exercise 6.8.4]; in [126] the case r > 1 is considered. However, the methods of [140] and [126] employ in a very essential way the fact that b is  $\nabla \varrho/\varrho$ .

#### CHAPTER 2

# Parabolic equations for measures

### 2.1. A priori estimates

In this chapter we consider parabolic equations of the form

$$L^*\mu = 0 (2.1.1)$$

for Borel measures  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, 1)$ . Here L is a second order parabolic operator

$$Lu(x,t) := \frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial t} + a^{ij}(x,t)\partial_{x_i}\partial_{x_j}u(x,t) + b^i(x,t)\partial_{x_i}u(x,t),$$

where  $A(x,t) := (a^{ij}(x,t))_{i,j \leq d}$  is a nonnegative symmetric matrix of dimension dand  $b(x,t) := (b^i(x,t))_{i \leq d}$  is a vector in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and the interpretation of our equation is as follows. We shall say that a family of Radon measures  $\mu = (\mu_t)_{t \in (0,1)}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ satisfies the weak parabolic equation (2.1.1) if the functions  $a^{ij}$  and  $b^i$  are integrable on every compact set in  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, 1)$  with respect to the measure  $\mu(dt \, dx) := \mu_t(dx) \, dt$ on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, 1)$  (below by  $\mu$  we denote also the measure  $\mu_t(dx) \, dt$ ) and, for every function  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, 1))$ , one has

$$\int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} Lu(x,t) \,\mu_t(dx) \, dt = 0.$$
(2.1.2)

Therefore, the interpretation is the same as in the elliptic case. For divergence form operators

$$\mathcal{L}u(x,t) := \frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial t} + \partial_{x_i}(a^{ij}(x,t)\partial_{x_j}u(x,t)) + b^i(x,t)\partial_{x_i}u(x,t)$$

the equation

$$\mathcal{L}^*\mu = 0$$

is defined similarly (here, as in §1.9, two cases are possible).

We shall say that  $\mu$  satisfies the initial condition  $\mu_0 := \nu$  at t = 0 if  $\nu$  is a measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \zeta(x) \,\mu_t(dx) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \zeta(x) \,\nu(dx) \tag{2.1.3}$$

for all  $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . In this case we write  $\mu = (\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1)}$ .

The same definitions are introduced in the case where  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is replaced by an open set  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  or by an open set in a Riemannian manifold. In particular, in (2.1.2) we take  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega \times (0, 1))$  and in (2.1.3) we take  $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ .

Equation (2.1.1) is satisfied for the transition probabilities of the diffusion process with the diffusion matrix  $\sqrt{2A}$  and drift *b* provided such a diffusion exists and the coefficients *A* and *b* satisfy certain conditions (see, e.g., [**170**, Chapters 2, 3]; the conditions there can be further relaxed on the basis of recent progress in the theory of equations with VMO coefficients, see, e.g., [**107**], [**108**], [**109**]). This diffusion

57

process may exist in different settings, for example, as a suitable solution to the stochastic differential equation

$$d\xi_t = \sigma(\xi_t) dw_t + b(\xi_t) dt, \quad A = \frac{1}{2} \sigma \sigma^*.$$
 (2.1.4)

However, (2.1.1) can be considered regardless of any probabilistic assumptions. Moreover, a study of this equation in a purely analytic setting may be useful for constructing an associated diffusion (see [168], [169]).

It is worth noting that (2.1.2) can be written as

$$\frac{\partial \mu}{\partial t} = \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} (a^{ij} \mu) - \partial_{x_i} (b^i \mu)$$

in the sense of distributions on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, 1)$ . It turns out that under mild restrictions on A and b specified below, any solution  $\mu$  admits a density  $\rho$  possessing certain Sobolev regularity with respect to x such that this equality can be further rewritten in terms of classical weak solutions.

For a function u on  $(0,1) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ , we set

$$\partial_t u(x,t) := \partial u(x,t) / \partial t, \quad \nabla u(x,t) = (\partial_{x_1} u(x,t), \dots, \partial_{x_d} u(x,t))$$

This section is devoted to some a priori estimates of solutions; the proofs can be found in [26].

2.1.1. LEMMA. If  $\mu = (\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1)}$  satisfies (2.1.2) and (2.1.3), then, for every  $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , for almost all  $t \in [0,1)$  one has

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \zeta(x) \,\mu_t(dx) - \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\varepsilon}^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} L\zeta(x,s) \,\mu_s(dx) \,ds = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \zeta(x) \,\nu(dx). \tag{2.1.5}$$

If, for each  $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , the function  $t \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \zeta(x) \mu_t(dx)$  is continuous on [0, 1), then (2.1.5) holds for all  $t \in [0, 1)$  and is equivalent to (2.1.1) and (2.1.3). The same is true in the case when our equation is considered on an open set.

Note that if every  $\mu_t$  is a probability measure and there is a  $\mu$ -integrable function  $\Theta$  such that  $L\zeta(x,s) \leq \Theta(x,s) \mu$ -a.e., then the function

$$h\colon s\mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} L\zeta(x,s)\,\mu_s(dx)$$

is integrable on [0, t] (so that the limit of the integrals over  $[\varepsilon, t]$  equals the integral over [0, t]). Indeed, in this case the function h, which coincides with the derivative of the continuous version of the function

$$f(s) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \zeta(x) \, \mu_s(dx)$$

on (0,1), is majorized by the integrable function  $s \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Theta(x,s) \mu_s(dx)$ . Since f is bounded, this implies that the continuous version of f has a finite limit at 0 and is absolutely continuous on [0, 1]. Certainly, all this is true if the functions  $a^{ij}$  and  $b^i$  are  $\mu$ -integrable on every set  $B \times [0, 1]$ , where B is a ball in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

It is worth noting that one of the reasons why we require below that all the s measures  $\mu_t$  (and not just almost all) be probabilities is that this is the case when one deals with transition probabilities. From the analytic point of view, this is not essential, of course. Another reason is that, as we shall see, this assumption simplifies certain technical issues.

The following lemma from [26] is a straightforward extension of [24, Lemma 2.2], where M = 0 and  $\Theta$  is a constant.

2.1.2. LEMMA. Let  $\mu = (\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1)}$  be a family of probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ satisfying (2.1.1) and (2.1.3), where  $\nu$  is a probability measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Suppose that there exist a  $\mu$ -integrable function  $\Theta$ , a nonnegative function  $\Psi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and a number M such that  $\Psi \in L^1(\nu)$ ,  $\lim_{|x| \to \infty} \Psi(x) = +\infty$ , and

$$L\Psi(x,t) \le \Theta(x,t) + M\Psi(x) \quad \mu_t \, dt \text{-}a.e. \tag{2.1.6}$$

Then, for a.e.  $t \in [0,1)$ , one has

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi \, d\mu_t &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi \, d\nu + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Theta \, d\mu_s \, ds \\ &+ M \exp(Mt) \int_0^t \exp(-Ms) \Big[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi \, d\nu + \int_0^s \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Theta \, d\mu_r \, dr \Big] \, ds \\ &\leq (Me^M + 1) \Big[ \|\Psi\|_{L^1(\nu)} + \|\Theta\|_{L^1(\mu)} \Big]. \quad (2.1.7) \end{split}$$

If M = 0 and  $\Theta = K$  is constant, then, for a.e.  $t \in [0, 1)$ , one has

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi(x) \,\mu_t(dx) \le tK + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi(x) \,\nu(dx).$$
(2.1.8)

Furthermore, if the functions

$$t \mapsto \int \zeta(x) \,\mu_t(dx), \quad where \, \zeta \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

are continuous on [0,1), then (2.1.7) holds for all  $t \in [0,1)$ , and in the case M = 0 so does (2.1.8).

If (2.1.1) and (2.1.3) are fulfilled on the open set  $\{\Psi < c\}$ , then the same assertions hold with  $\mathbb{R}^d$  replaced by  $\{\Psi < c\}$ . Finally, the assumption that every  $\mu_t$  is a probability measure can be replaced by the assumption that  $\mu_t \ge 0$  and  $\|\mu_t\| \le \|\nu\|$ .

2.1.3. COROLLARY. Let  $\mu = (\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1)}$  be a family of probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfying (2.1.1) and (2.1.3), where  $\nu$  is a probability measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Let  $\Psi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  be a nonnegative function such that

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} \Psi(x) = +\infty \quad and \quad L\Psi(x,t) \le C + M\Psi(x) \quad \mu_t \, dt \text{-} a.e.,$$

where  $C \ge 0$  and  $M \ge 0$  are constants. Then one can find a nonnegative function  $\Psi_0 \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$\Psi_0 \in L^1(\nu), \ \lim_{|x| \to \infty} \Psi_0(x) = +\infty \quad and \quad L\Psi_0(x,t) \leq C + M \quad \mu_t \, dt \text{-}a.e.$$

Moreover, if  $\mathfrak{M}$  is a uniformly tight family of probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and for every  $\nu \in \mathfrak{M}$  there exists a solution  $\mu^{\nu} = (\mu_t^{\nu})_{t \in [0,1)}$  of the problem  $L_{\nu}^* \mu^{\nu} = 0$ ,  $\mu_0^{\nu} = \nu$  in the sense of (2.1.1) and (2.1.3), where each operator  $L_{\nu}$  satisfies the same conditions as L, and for some nonnegative compact function  $\Psi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  one has

$$L_{\nu}\Psi(x,t) \le C + M\Psi(x) \quad \mu_t^{\nu} \, dt \text{-} a.e.,$$

then one can find a function  $\Psi_0$  as above such that

$$\sup_{\nu \in \mathfrak{M}} \operatorname{esssup}_{t \in [0,1)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi_0 \, d\mu_t^{\nu} \le C + M + \sup_{\nu \in \mathfrak{M}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi_0 \, d\nu < \infty.$$

If the functions  $t \mapsto \int \zeta d\mu_t$ , where  $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , are continuous on [0,1], then essup can be replaced by sup. The same assertions are true in the case where  $\mathbb{R}^d$ is replaced by  $\{\Psi < c\}$ . Let us consider examples of how (2.1.6) can be verified in terms of the coefficients of L.

2.1.4. EXAMPLE. (i) Suppose that

$$|a^{ij}(x,t)| \le c_1 + c_2 |x|^2, \quad \langle b(x,t), x \rangle \le c_3 + c_4 |x|^2$$

for some constants  $c_i$ . Then, letting  $\Psi(x) := |x|^{2k}$ , k > 0, we obtain  $L\Psi \leq C + C\Psi$ for a sufficiently large number C > 0. Consequently, if a solution  $\mu$  exists and  $|x|^{2k} \in L^1(\mu_0)$ , then, for a.e. t, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |x|^{2k} \, \mu_t(dx) \le e^C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |x|^{2k} \, \mu_0(dx) + Ce^C.$$

(ii) Suppose that

$$|a^{ij}(x,t)| \le c_1 + c_2 \ln(|x|^2 + 1), \quad \langle b(x,t), x \rangle \le c_3 + c_4 |x|^2 + c_5 |x|^2 \ln(|x|^2 + 1),$$
  
for some constants  $c_i$ . Then, letting  $\Psi(x) := \ln(|x|^2 + 1)$ , we find that

$$\partial_{x_i} \Psi(x) = 2x_i(|x|^2 + 1)^{-1},$$
  
$$\partial_{x_j} \partial_{x_i} \Psi(x) = 2\delta_{ij} - 4x_i x_j(|x|^2 + 1)^{-2},$$

which yields

$$L\Psi(x,t) = 2 \operatorname{trace} A(x,t) - 4(|x|^2 + 1)^{-2} \langle A(x,t)x, x \rangle + 2(|x|^2 + 1)^{-1} \langle b(x,t), x \rangle$$
  
  $\leq C + C\Psi(x)$ 

for a sufficiently large number C > 0. Consequently, if a solution  $\mu$  exists and  $\ln(|x|^2 + 1) \in L^1(\mu_0)$ , then, for a.e. t, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \ln(|x|^2 + 1) \,\mu_t(dx) \le e^C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \ln(|x|^2 + 1) \,\mu_0(dx) + Ce^C$$

Moreover, letting  $\Psi(x) = |\ln(|x|^2 + 1)|^2$ , we also have  $L\Psi \leq C + C\Psi$ , hence

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\ln(|x|^2 + 1)|^2 \,\mu_t(dx) \le e^C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\ln(|x|^2 + 1)|^2 \,\mu_0(dx) + Ce^C.$$

(iii) Suppose that

$$\langle A(x,t)x,x\rangle \leq \gamma_1 + \alpha |x|^{2\beta}, \quad \langle b(x,t),x\rangle \leq \gamma_2 - (2\alpha ck + \varepsilon)|x|^{2k+2\beta-2}$$
  
with some positive constants  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \alpha, \beta, c, k, \varepsilon$ . Let  $\Psi(x) = \exp(c|x|^{2k})$ . Then

$$L\Psi(x,t) = 2ck \operatorname{trace} A(x,t)|x|^{2k-2}\Psi(x) + 4ck(k-1)\langle A(x,t)x,x\rangle |x|^{2k-4}\Psi(x) + (2ck)^2 \langle A(x,t)x,x\rangle |x|^{4k-4}\Psi(x) + 2ck|x|^{2k-2}\Psi(x) \langle b(x,t),x\rangle \leq c_0 - \varepsilon |x|^{2k+2\beta-2}\Psi(x)$$

with some constant  $c_0$ . Hence, if  $\beta \geq 1$  and  $\Psi \in L^1(\mu_0)$ , then

$$\operatorname{esssup}_{t \in [0,1)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \exp(c|x|^{2k}) \, \mu_t(dx) < \infty.$$

Let us introduce the following conditions on  $A, b, p \in [1, +\infty)$ , and a bounded open set  $B \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ :

(CP1) there exist two numbers  $M_1 = M_1(B) > 0$  and  $M_2 = M_2(B)$  such that for all i, j one has

$$A(x,t) \ge M_1 \cdot \mathbf{I} \quad \forall (x,t) \in B \times (0,1), \quad \sup_{t \in (0,1)} \|a^{ij}(\cdot,t)\|_{W^{p,1}(B)} \le M_2.$$

(CP2) there exists  $M_3 = M_3(B)$  such that for all *i* one has

$$\sup_{t \in (0,1)} \|b^i(\cdot,t)\|_{L^p(B)} \le M_3.$$

It follows from (CP1) and the Sobolev embedding theorem that if p > d, then every function  $a^{ij}$  has a jointly measurable version such that all functions  $x \mapsto a^{ij}(x,t)$ ,  $t \in (0,1)$ , are Hölder continuous of order 1 - d/p and bounded on Buniformly with respect to t (their Hölder and sup-norms on B are estimated by a constant depending on p, d, B, and  $M_2$ ). Below we use the same notation  $a^{ij}$  for these particular versions.

The main existence result presented below is based on the following lemma. Let

$$b_0 := A^{-1/2}(b - \Gamma), \quad \Gamma := (\Gamma^1, \dots, \Gamma^d), \quad \Gamma^j = \partial_{x_i} a^{ij}.$$

2.1.5. LEMMA. Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open set in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with a  $C^1$ -boundary and volume  $|\Omega|$  and let the functions  $a^{ij}$  and  $b^i$  be uniformly bounded on  $\overline{\Omega} \times (0,1)$  along with their first and second derivatives in the first argument. Suppose that  $\mu = \varrho(x,t) \, dx \, dt$ , where every function  $\varrho(\cdot,t)$ , t > 0, is nonnegative on  $\Omega$  with bounded second order derivatives in x on  $\Omega \times (0,1)$ , and satisfies

$$\frac{\partial \varrho(x,t)}{\partial t} = \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} (a^{ij} \varrho) - \partial_{x_i} (b^i \varrho)$$

in  $\Omega \times (0,1)$ . Suppose also that the functions  $\varrho$  and  $\partial_{x_i} \varrho$  are continuous on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,1]$ ,  $\varrho(x,0) = \varrho_0(x)$ , where  $\varrho_0 \in C_0^1(\Omega)$ , and

 $\langle A\nabla \varrho(x,t) + [\Gamma(x,t) - b(x,t)]\varrho(x,t), \mathbf{n}_{\partial\Omega}(x) \rangle = 0, \quad (x,t) \in \partial\Omega \times (0,1),$ 

where  $n_{\partial\Omega}$  is the outward unit normal on  $\partial\Omega$ . Then the following inequalities hold:

$$\int_{\Omega} \varrho(x,t)^2 dx + \int_0^t \int_{\Omega} |\sqrt{A}\nabla \varrho(x,s)|^2 dx ds$$
  
$$\leq \int_{\Omega} \varrho(x,0)^2 dx + \int_0^t \int_{\Omega} |b_0(x,s)|^2 \varrho(x,s) dx ds, \quad (2.1.9)$$
  
$$\int \varrho(x,t)^2 dx + \int_0^t \int |\sqrt{A}\nabla \varrho(x,s)|^2 dx ds$$

$$\int_{\Omega} \varrho(x,t)^2 dx + \int_{0} \int_{\Omega} |\sqrt{A} \nabla \varrho(x,s)|^2 dx ds$$
  
$$\leq e^{t/2} \int_{\Omega} \varrho(x,0)^2 dx + \frac{1}{2} e^{t/2} ||b_0||_{L^4(\Omega \times [0,1])}^4. \quad (2.1.10)$$

If  $A(x,t) \ge \alpha \cdot I$  for some number  $\alpha > 0$  and each  $\varrho(\cdot,t)$ ,  $t \in [0,1]$ , is a probability density or, more generally,  $0 < \mu_t(\Omega) \le \mu_0(\Omega)$ , then

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega} |\sqrt{A} \nabla \varrho(x,t)|^{2} \varrho(x,t)^{-1} dx dt$$
  

$$\leq 2 \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega} |b_{0}(x,t)|^{2} \varrho(x,t) dx dt + 2 \int_{\Omega} \varrho_{0}(x) \ln \varrho_{0}(x) dx + 2|\Omega|. \quad (2.1.11)$$

2.1.6. COROLLARY. In the situation of the above lemma, there is a constant  $C(\Omega)$  such that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{1} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\varrho(x,t)|^{d/(d-2)} \, dx \right)^{(d-2)/d} dt \\ &\leq \frac{C(\Omega)}{\alpha} \left( \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega} |b_{0}(x,t)|^{2} \, \varrho(x,t) \, dx \, dt + \int_{\Omega} \varrho_{0}(x) \ln \varrho_{0}(x) \, dx + |\Omega| \right) + 2|\Omega|^{(2d-2)/d} \end{split}$$

if d > 2. In the case  $d \leq 2$  a similar estimate holds with any  $r < \infty$  in place of d/(d-2).

Finally, for every p > d, there is a constant  $C(\Omega, p)$  such that

$$\int_0^1 \int_\Omega |\sqrt{A} \nabla \varrho(x,t)|^2 \varrho(x,t)^{-1} \, dx \, dt$$
  
$$\leq C(\Omega,p) \sup_{t \in (0,1)} \left( \int_\Omega |b_0(x,t)|^p \, dx \right)^{2d/(p-d)} + 2 \int_\Omega \varrho_0(x) \ln \varrho_0(x) \, dx + C(\Omega,p)$$

2.1.7. COROLLARY. Suppose that in Lemma 2.1.5 there exist a nonnegative function  $\Psi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and a constant M such that  $\Omega = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : \Psi(x) < c\}$  and

$$L\Psi(x,t) \le M + M\Psi(x)$$
 and  $|b_0(x,t)|^2 \le \Psi(x)$ .

 $Then \ we \ have$ 

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} \varrho(x,t)^2 \, dx &+ \int_0^1 \int_{\Omega} |\sqrt{A} \nabla \varrho(x,t)|^2 \, dx \, dt \\ &\leq 2(Me^M + 1) \int_{\Omega} \Psi(x) \varrho_0(x) \, dx + 2M(Me^M + 1) + \int_{\Omega} \varrho_0(x)^2 \, dx, \end{split}$$

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\Omega} |\sqrt{A} \nabla \varrho(x,t)|^{2} \varrho(x,t)^{-1} dx dt$$
  

$$\leq 2(Me^{M}+1) \int_{\Omega} \Psi(x) \varrho_{0}(x) dx + 2M(Me^{M}+1) + 2 \int_{\Omega} \varrho_{0}(x) \ln \varrho_{0}(x) dx + 2|\Omega|.$$

In particular, this is true for  $\Psi(x) = |x|^{2k}$  with  $k \ge 1$  provided that

trace  $A(x,t) \le C + C|x|^2$ ,  $|b_0(x,t)|^2 \le C + C|x|^{2k}$ ,  $\langle b(x,t), x \rangle \le C + C|x|^2$ .

## 2.2. Local regularity

Let J be an interval and let U be an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Let  $\mathbb{H}^{p,s}(U,J)$  denote the space of all measurable functions u on  $U \times J$  such that  $u(\cdot,t) \in H^{p,s}(U)$  and the norm

$$\|u\|_{\mathbb{H}^{p,s}(U,J)} = \left(\int_{J} \|u(\cdot,t)\|_{H^{p,s}(U)}^{p} dt\right)^{1/2}$$

is finite. The space  $\mathbb{H}_0^{p,s}(U,J)$  is defined similarly with  $H_0^{p,s}(U)$  instead of  $H^{p,s}(U)$ , and  $\mathbb{H}^{p',-s}(U,J)$  denotes its dual. In connection with parabolic equations, it is useful to introduce also the following spaces. Let  $\mathcal{H}^{p,1}(U,J)$  be the space of all functions  $u \in \mathbb{H}^{p,1}(U,J)$  with  $\partial_t u \in \mathbb{H}^{p,-1}(U,J)$  and finite norm

$$||u||_{\mathcal{H}^{p,1}(U,J)} = ||\partial_t u||_{\mathbb{H}^{p,-1}(U,J)} + ||u||_{\mathbb{H}^{p,1}(U,J)}.$$

We denote by  $B_R$  an open ball of radius R > 0 centered at some point in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ (in the case where the center is important we use the notation B(a, R)). Let  $H_0^{p,2;1}(B_R, [0,T])$  denote the closure of the space of smooth functions u on the cylinder  $B_{R,T} := B_R \times [0,T]$  that vanish on  $(\partial B_R \times [0,T]) \bigcup (B_R \times \{0\})$  (i.e., have zero limits on this part of the boundary) with respect to the norm

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{H_0^{p,2;1}(B_R,[0,T])} &= \|u\|_{L^p(B_R\times[0,T])} + \|\partial_t u\|_{L^p(B_R\times[0,T])} \\ &+ \|\nabla_x u\|_{L^p(B_R\times[0,T])} + \sum_{i,j=1}^d \|\partial_i \partial_j u\|_{L^p(B_R\times[0,T])}. \end{aligned}$$

62

In this section, we extend the local regularity results in the previous chapter to the parabolic case. The proofs of the presented results are given in [33]. Let us start again with the existence of densities.

Let  $\Omega_T = \Omega \times (0,T), T > 0$ , and let  $A(\cdot, \cdot) = (a^{ij}(\cdot, \cdot))_{i,j=1}^d$  be a Borel mapping on  $\Omega_T$  with values in the space of nonnegative symmetric operators on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

2.2.1. THEOREM. Let  $\mu$  be a locally finite Borel measure on  $\Omega_T$  such that one has  $a^{ij} \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega_T, \mu)$  and

$$\int_{\Omega_T} \left[ \partial_t \varphi + a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \varphi \right] d\mu \le C(\sup_{\Omega_T} |\varphi| + \sup_{\Omega_T} |\nabla_x \varphi|)$$

for all nonnegative  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega_T)$ . Then the following assertions are true.

(i) If  $\mu$  is nonnegative, then  $(\det A)^{1/(d+1)}\mu = \varrho \, dx \, dt$ , where  $\varrho \in L^{(d+1)'}_{loc}(\Omega_T)$ . (ii) If, on every compact set in  $\Omega_T$ , A is uniformly bounded, uniformly nondegenerate, and Hölder continuous in x uniformly with respect to t, then  $\mu = \rho \, dx \, dt$ , where  $\varrho \in L^r_{loc}(\Omega_T)$  for every  $r \in [1, (d+2)')$ .

2.2.2. COROLLARY. Let  $\mu$  be a locally finite Borel measure on  $\Omega_T$  such that  $a^{ij}$ ,  $b^i, c \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega_T, \mu), and$ 

$$\int_{\Omega_T} \left[ \partial_t \varphi + a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \varphi + b^i \partial_i \varphi + c\varphi \right] d\mu = 0 \qquad \forall \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\Omega_T).$$
(2.2.1)

Then statements (i) and (ii) of Theorem 2.2.1 are true. In addition, in case (ii), if  $J = [T_0, T_1] \subset (0, T), B$  is a ball with compact closure in  $\Omega$ , and W is a neighborhood of  $\overline{B} \times J$  with compact closure, then, for each r < (d+2)', one has

$$\|\varrho\|_{L^{r}(B\times J)} \leq C(d, r, A, W) \Big( |\mu|(W) + \|c\|_{L^{1}(W, \mu)} + \|b\|_{L^{1}(W, \mu)} \Big),$$

where C(d, r, A, W) depends only on d, r, the Hölder norms of  $a^{ij}$  with respect to x on W,  $\inf_{W} \det A$ ,  $\sup_{i,j} \sup_{W} |a^{ij}|$ , and the distance from  $B \times J$  to  $\partial W$ . An analogous statement is true in case (i).

2.2.3. REMARK. Assume that in the situation of Corollary 2.2.2, one has, in addition, that  $|b| + |c| \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega_T)$ , where p > r'. Then one has

$$\|\varrho\|_{L^{p}(B\times J)} \leq C(d, r, A, W) \Big( |\mu|(W) + (\|c\|_{L^{p}(W)} + \|b\|_{L^{p}(W)}) \|\varrho\|_{L^{p'}(W)} \Big)$$

2.2.4. REMARK. (i) If there exists a diffusion process  $\xi = (\xi_t^{s,x})$  governed by the stochastic differentiable equation

$$d\xi_t^{s,x} = \sqrt{2A(\xi_t^{s,x}, t)} dW_t + b(\xi_t^{s,x}, t) dt, \quad \xi_s^{s,x} = x,$$

then the above results apply to the transition probabilities P(s, x; t, dy) of the diffusion  $\xi$ . Namely, for any fixed (x, s), the measure  $\mu = P(s, x; t, dy) dt$  satisfies (2.2.1) with c = 0. Hence, for almost every t, the measure P(s, x; t, dy) is absolutely continuous. This fact is well known for locally bounded b (see [106, Ch. II,  $\{2\}, [170, \text{Ch. } 7, \text{Ch. } 9]$ ). However, the measure P(s, x; t, dy) can fail to be absolutely continuous for all t. In [80], an example is constructed such that b = 0and A(x,t) is uniformly continuous, uniformly bounded, and uniformly positive, but, for some fixed t, the measures P(s, x; t, dy) are purely singular with respect to Lebesgue measure for all  $s \in (0,t)$  and all x (a similar example is constructed in **[152]**).

(ii) It is worth noting that Portenko [145] employed analogous assumptions on A and b in his study of generalized diffusion processes. In particular, it is shown in [145, Chapter II] that if A is uniformly bounded, uniformly positive, and uniformly Hölder continuous, and b is a measurable vector field on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $|b| \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for some p > d+2, then there exists a continuous function G(s, x, t, y),  $0 \le s < t \le T, x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , that is the transition probability density for a continuous Markov process  $(x(t), \mathcal{M}_t^s, P_{s,x})$ , where  $P_{s,x}$  is a probability measure generated on the  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{M}_t^s$  on the space  $\Omega$  of continuous paths  $x(\cdot) \colon [0, +\infty) \to \mathbb{R}^d$  by the evaluation mappings  $x(\cdot) \mapsto x(u)$  with  $u \in [s, t]$ ,  $P_{s,x}\{x(s) = x\} = 1$ , and  $P_{s,x}$ almost surely

$$x(t) - x(s) = \int_{s}^{t} b(x(\tau), \tau) d\tau + \int_{s}^{t} \sqrt{A(x(\tau), \tau)} dw_{s}(\tau)$$

with a certain Wiener process  $(w_s(t), \mathcal{M}_t^s, P_{s,x})$ .

(iii) We also note that parabolic equations considered in Corollary 2.2.2 have been used in [55] for the study of certain flows of probability measures. The above results yield the absolute continuity of such measures. Stronger regularity properties will be established for them below under certain additional assumptions on the coefficients.

We shall now assume that the functions  $a^{ij}(x,t)$  are continuous in x uniformly with respect to t, i.e., one has

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup_{t} \sup_{|x-y| \le \delta} |a^{ij}(x,t) - a^{ij}(y,t)| = 0.$$

Note that  $a^{ij}$  has a modification with such a property provided that

$$\sup_{i} \|a^{ij}(\cdot, t)\|_{W^{p,1}(B_R)} < \infty, \quad \text{where } p > d.$$
 (2.2.2)

2.2.5. THEOREM. Let  $d \ge 2$ , p > d,  $q \in [p', +\infty)$ . Let A and  $A^{-1}$  be uniformly bounded and let (2.2.2) hold. Suppose that  $\mu$  is a finite measure on  $B_{R,T}$  such that, for some N > 0 one has

$$\left| \int \left[ \partial_t \varphi + a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \varphi \right] d\mu \right| \le N \| \nabla_x \varphi \|_{L^q(B_{R,T})} \quad \forall \varphi \in C_0^\infty(B_{R,T}).$$
(2.2.3)

Then  $\mu \in \mathbb{H}^{q',1}(B_{R'}, [t_0, t_1])$  and  $\mu \in \mathcal{H}^{q',1}(B_{R'}, [t_0, t_1])$  for every R' < R and  $[t_0, t_1] \subset (0, T)$ .

It should be noted that the proof of this result in [**33**, Theorem 2.7] contains a certain inaccuracy: it is asserted at the very beginning that by multiplying a solution by a compactly supported smooth function  $\zeta$  one can easily pass to the case of solutions with compact support. In principle, this is true but is not straightforward and requires some extra work, because the inequality for the product will be of somewhat different type (in particular, a term with the integral of  $\langle \nabla \zeta, \nabla \varphi \rangle$  with respect to  $\mu$  will appear). However, the case of a priori compact support is sufficient for subsequent applications of this result in [**33**]. Nevertheless, if one wishes to justify the result as it is stated, it is necessary first to apply the previous results and the parabolic embedding theorem in order to ensure that the density  $\rho$  of the solution belongs to  $L_{1oc}^{q'}$  (this is done in several iterations) and only then multiply by a compactly supported function; once the required integrability of  $\rho$  is established, the term with  $\langle \nabla \zeta, \nabla \varphi \rangle$  is easily estimated by Hölder's inequality, which gives an estimate of type (2.2.3) for  $\zeta \cdot \mu$ .

2.2.6. THEOREM. Let A and  $A^{-1}$  be locally bounded on  $B_{R,T}$  and let (2.2.2) hold, where now p > d + 2. Let  $\mu$  be a finite Borel measure on  $B_{R,T}$  such that  $\mu \in$ 

 $L^{r}(B_{R,T})$  with some r > p'. Let  $\beta \in L^{p}(B_{R,T})$ . Suppose that for all  $\varphi \in C_{0}^{\infty}(B_{R,T})$  one has

$$\left| \int \left[ \partial_t \varphi + a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \varphi \right] d\mu \right| \le \int \left( |\varphi| + |\nabla_x \varphi| \right) |\beta \mu| \, dx.$$

Then  $\mu$  has a density that is locally Hölder continuous on  $B_R \times (0,T)$  and belongs to the classes  $\mathbb{H}^{p,1}(B_{R'}, [T_0, T_1])$  and  $\mathcal{H}^{p,1}(B_{R'}, [T_0, T_1])$  for all R' < R and any interval  $[T_0, T_1] \subset (0,T)$ .

2.2.7. COROLLARY. Let p > d + 2 and let A and  $A^{-1}$  be locally bounded on  $\Omega_T$ , and let (2.2.2) hold with p > d + 2 for every ball  $B_R$  with closure in  $\Omega$ . Let  $b^i, c \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega_T)$ . Assume that  $\mu$  is a locally finite signed Borel measure on  $\Omega_T$  such that  $b^i, c \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega_T, \mu)$  and

$$\int_{\Omega_T} \left[ \partial_t \varphi + a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \varphi + b^i \partial_i \varphi + c\varphi \right] d\mu = 0 \quad \forall \, \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\Omega_T).$$
(2.2.4)

Then  $\mu$  has a locally Hölder continuous density that belongs to the spaces  $\mathbb{H}^{p,1}(U, J)$ and  $\mathcal{H}^{p,1}(U, J)$  for every interval J and open set U such that  $U \times J$  has compact closure in  $\Omega_T$ .

It is worth noting that if  $\mu$  is nonnegative, then, by Harnack's inequality, the continuous version of its density is strictly positive in every component of  $\Omega_T$  in which it is not identically zero. This will be considered in more detail in §2.4.

2.2.8. COROLLARY. Assume that, for all  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega_T)$ , one has

$$\int_{\Omega_T} \left[ \partial_t \varphi + a^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j \varphi + b^i \partial_i \varphi + c\varphi \right] d\mu = \int_{\Omega_T} f^i \partial_i \varphi \, dx \, dt, \qquad (2.2.5)$$

where  $f^i \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega_T)$  and  $a^{ij}, b^i, c$  satisfy the same hypotheses as in Corollary 2.2.7. Then the assertion of Corollary 2.2.7 with (2.2.4) replaced by (2.2.5) is still true.

2.2.9. COROLLARY. Let  $\mu$  satisfy the hypotheses of Corollary 2.2.7, let  $B_{R_0}$  be an open ball with closure in  $\Omega$ , and let  $[t_1, t_2] \subset (0, T)$ . Then, for every closed interval  $[\tau_1, \tau_2] \subset (t_1, t_2)$  and any  $R < R_0$ , there exists a constant N depending on

 $t_1, t_2, \tau_1, \tau_2, R_0, R, \|c\|_{L^p(B_{R_0} \times [t_1, t_2])},$ 

 $\inf_{B_{R_0} \times [t_1, t_2]} \det A, \ \sup_{t \in [t_1, t_2]} \|a^{ij}(\cdot, t)\|_{W^{p, 1}(B_{R_0})}, \ \|b^i\|_{L^p(B_{R_0} \times [t_1, t_2])},$ 

such that N is a locally bounded function of the indicated quantities and one has

 $\|\mu\|_{\mathbb{H}^{p,1}(B_R,[\tau_1,\tau_2])} \le N \|\mu\|_{L^{p'}(B_{R_0} \times [t_1,t_2])}.$ 

Moreover, one can choose N so that if  $\mu$  is nonnegative, then

 $\|\mu\|_{\mathbb{H}^{p,1}(B_R,[\tau_1,\tau_2])} \le N \|\mu\|_{L^1(B_{R_0} \times [t_1,t_2])}.$ 

2.2.10. REMARK. The assumption that p > d + 2 was used in the proof of Theorem 2.2.6 in order to improve the initial integrability of a solution and also to guarantee its Hölder continuity (by an appropriate embedding theorem). It is clear from the first step of that proof (or from Theorem 2.2.5) that if we assume only that p > d, then we obtain that  $\mu \in \mathbb{H}^{s,1}(B_{R'}, [T_0, T_1])$  and  $\mu \in \mathcal{H}^{s,1}(B_{R'}, [T_0, T_1])$  with s = pr/(p+r) > d provided that r > pd/(p-d).

We now give a modification of Theorem 2.2.6 obtained in [43], which differs in that the integrability condition on the coefficient  $\beta_2$  (which was absent in the above theorem) is expressed in terms of the measure  $\mu$  and not in terms of Lebesgue measure. 2.2.11. THEOREM. Let A and  $A^{-1}$  be locally bounded on  $B_{R,T}$  and let (2.2.2) hold, where we assume now that p > d + 2. Let  $\mu$  be a finite Borel measure on  $B_{R,T}$  with a density  $\varrho \in L^r(B_{R,T})$  with some r > p'. Let  $\beta_1 \in L^p_{loc}(B_{R,T})$  and  $\beta_2 \in L^p_{loc}(\mu)$ . Suppose that for all  $\varphi \in C^\infty_0(B_{R,T})$  one has

$$\left| \int_{B_{R,T}} \left[ \partial_t \varphi + a^{ij} \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} \varphi \right] d\mu \right| \le \int_{B_{R,T}} (|\varphi| + |\nabla_x \varphi|) (|\beta_1 \varrho| + |\beta_2 \varrho|) \, dx \, dt$$

Then  $\rho$  has a version that is locally Hölder continuous on  $B_R \times (0,T)$  and belongs to the classes  $\mathbb{H}^{p,1}(B_{R'}, [T_0, T_1])$  and  $\mathcal{H}^{p,1}(B_{R'}, [T_0, T_1])$  for every R' < R and every interval  $[T_0, T_1] \subset (0,T)$ .

2.2.12. COROLLARY. Let p > d+2 and let A and  $A^{-1}$  be locally bounded on  $\Omega_T$ and let (2.2.2) hold with some p > d+2 for every ball  $B_R$  with closure in  $\Omega$ . Assume that  $\mu$  is a locally finite signed Borel measure on  $\Omega_T$  such that  $b^i, c \in L^p_{loc}(\mu)$  and

$$\int_{\Omega_T} \left[\partial_t \varphi + a^{ij} \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} \varphi + \partial_{x_i} a^{ij} \partial_{x_j} \varphi + b^i \partial_{x_i} \varphi + c\varphi\right] d\mu = 0 \quad \forall \, \varphi \in C_0^\infty(\Omega_T).$$

Then  $\mu$  has a locally Hölder continuous density that belongs to the spaces  $\mathbb{H}^{p,1}(U,J)$ and  $\mathcal{H}^{p,1}(U,J)$  for every interval J and every open set U such that  $U \times J$  has compact closure in  $\Omega_T$ .

Let us return to the stochastic equation (2.1.4). It is known that if A and b are bounded, A has two bounded derivatives and is nondegenerate on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and b has a bounded derivative, then there exists a diffusion process  $\xi_t^x$  that satisfies (2.1.4) with  $\xi_0^x = x, x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . Its transition probabilities P(t, x, dy) have densities p(t, x, y)satisfying the following equations:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}p(t,x,y) = a^{ij}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i\partial x_j}p(t,x,y) + b^i\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}p(t,x,y), \qquad (2.2.6)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}p(t,x,y) = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} \left( a^{ij} p(t,x,y) \right) - \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i} \left( b^i p(t,x,y) \right)$$
(2.2.7)

for all t > 0,  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ; in addition,  $P(0, x, dy) = \delta_x$ . This means that the measures P(t, x, dy) dt satisfy (2.1.2). It should be noted that these equations bear many names in the literature; in particular, they are called the Fokker–Planck equations, the Fokker–Planck–Kolmogorov equations, the forward and backward Kolmogorov equations, and so on (Kolmogorov himself in [105] refer to both as the Fokker–Planck equations). To avoid confusion, in this survey we call (2.2.6) the Kolmogorov equation and call (2.2.7) the Fokker–Planck equation. The transition semigroup  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  of  $\xi_t^x$  is defined on  $C_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$  by the formula

$$T_t f(x) = \int f(y) P(t, x, dy).$$

If a probability measure  $\mu$  is invariant for  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ , then  $\mu$  satisfies the elliptic equation  $L_{A,b}^*\mu = 0$ , and, conversely, if  $\mu$  satisfies this stationary equation, then it is invariant for  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ . As we know from §§1.5, 1.6, there is no such equivalence in the case of unbounded coefficients even if we have our semigroup  $(T_t^{\mu})_{t\geq 0}$ . Let us explain how we can consider analogs of equations (2.2.6)–(2.2.7) for this semigroup in the situation of Theorem 1.7.5. In order to obtain a function of three arguments (t, x, y), we take  $K_t^* \delta_x$ , where  $\delta_x$  is Dirac's measure at x. The next result shows that  $K_t^* \delta_x = p_{A,b}(t, x, y) dy$  if t > 0, where  $p_{A,b}$  is the function from Theorem 1.7.5, and that an analog of equation (2.2.7) holds.

2.2.13. THEOREM. Suppose that in the situation of Theorem 1.7.5 we are given a bounded measure  $\mu_0$  on  $\Omega$  and

$$K_t^* \mu_0(dy) := \int_{\Omega} K_t(x, dy) \, \mu_0(dx) = \int_{\Omega} p_{A,b}(t, x, y) \, \mu_0(dx) \, dy$$

Then the measure  $K_t^* \mu_0(dy) dt$  satisfies (2.1.2) for all T > 0. In particular,  $K_t^* \mu_0$  has a positive continuous density in  $W_{\text{loc}}^{p,1}(\Omega)$ .

2.2.14. REMARK. It follows from the proof in [33] that for every compact set  $E \subset \Omega \times (0, +\infty)$ , there exists a constant C(E) such that

$$\sup_{(x,t)\in E} \sup_{y\in\Omega} p_t(x,y) \le C(E),$$

where  $p_t(x, y)$  is the jointly continuous version of the Radon–Nikodym density of the measure  $K_t(x, dy)$  with respect to the measure  $\mu = \rho dx$  from Theorem 1.7.5, i.e.,  $p_{A,b}(t, x, y) = p_t(x, y)\rho(y)$ . Hence the continuous density of the measure  $K_t^*\mu_0(dy)$  is given by

$$\int_{\Omega} p_t(x,y) \, \mu_0(dx) \, \varrho(y)$$

In [130], under stronger assumptions on the coefficients A and b, useful global estimates and inclusions in parabolic Sobolev classes are obtained for the transition density  $p_{A,b}(t, x, y)$  from Theorem 1.7.5. In [124] the situation where  $\nabla_x \varrho(x, t)$  exists even for not necessarily differentiable coefficient A is studied.

Certainly, once the existence of densities is established, in many cases one can apply the results known for functions (but taking special care of the form of the equation), in particular, the results from [108], [111], [116], [123].

#### 2.3. Upper estimates for densities

Here we present upper bounds on densities in the case of an unbounded drift. On the one hand, the assumptions and techniques applied in this situation differ considerably from those used for obtaining Gaussian decay of densities in the case of bounded drifts or zero drifts (see [75], [143], [144], [77], [161], and also [8], where some assumptions on div b are used). On the other hand, the ideas and methods used for bounded coefficients turn out to be very useful also in the situation under consideration. First we discuss the case when the initial distribution has a sufficiently nice density, and then briefly comment on the case of a Dirac initial distribution (i.e., fundamental solutions or transition densities) studied in [84], [130], [167] under some additional assumptions. For the proofs of the results below, see [41].

We shall say that a nonnegative measure  $\mu_0$  has finite entropy if  $\mu_0$  has a density  $\rho_0$  with respect to Lebesgue measure such that  $\rho_0 \ln \rho_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , where we set  $0 \ln 0 := 0$ .

2.3.1. THEOREM. Suppose that  $\mu$ , where each  $\mu_t$  is a probability measure, satisfies (2.1.1) and (2.1.3) and assume the following hypotheses:

(i) the mapping A be uniformly bounded with  $A(x,t) \ge \alpha \cdot I$  for some constant  $\alpha > 0$ , and let the functions  $x \mapsto a^{ij}(x,t)$  be Lipschitzian with constant  $\lambda$ ,

(ii)  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$ .

Assume also that the function  $\Lambda(x) := \ln \max(|x|, 1)$  is in  $L^2(\mu)$  (which is the case if, e.g.,  $\langle b(x,t), x \rangle \leq C_1 |x|^2 \Lambda(x) + C_2$  with some constants  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  and  $\Lambda \in C_2$ 

 $L^{2}(\mu_{0})$ ). If  $\mu_{0}$  has finite entropy, then  $\mu_{t} = \varrho(\cdot, t) dx$ , where  $\varrho(\cdot, t) \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , and for each  $\tau < 1$  one has

$$\int_0^\tau \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\nabla \varrho(x,t)|^2}{\varrho(x,t)} \, dx \, dt < \infty.$$
(2.3.1)

In particular, we have  $\sqrt{\varrho} \in \mathbb{H}^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,\tau])$  and  $\varrho \in L^{d/(d-2),1}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,\tau])$  if d > 2, and  $\varrho \in L^{s,1}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,\tau])$  for all  $s \in [1,\infty)$  if d = 2. If

$$\limsup_{t\to 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varrho(x,t) \Lambda(x) \, dx < \infty,$$

which is the case, e.g., if  $\langle b(x,t), x \rangle \leq C_1 |x|^2 + C_2$  with some constants  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  and  $\Lambda \in L^1(\mu_0)$ , then (2.3.1) is true for  $\tau = 1$ .

The proof in [41] yields a useful estimate

$$\int_{0}^{\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{|\nabla \varrho|^{2}}{\varrho} dx dt$$

$$\leq \alpha^{-2} \Big( \|b\|_{2,\mu} + \lambda d^{3/2} \sqrt{\gamma} \Big)^{2} + 2\alpha^{-1} \ln 2 + 2\alpha^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \varrho_{0}(x) \ln \varrho_{0}(x) dx$$

$$+ 2\alpha^{-1} (d+1) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \varrho(\tau, x) \Lambda(x) dx. \quad (2.3.2)$$

2.3.2. REMARK. It is seen from the proof in [41] that in place of the integrability of the function  $\varrho(x,0) \ln \varrho(x,0)$  it suffices to require only the integrability of  $\varrho(x,0) \max(0, \ln \varrho(x,0))$ . This leads to the effect that in estimate (2.3.2) one obtains  $\varrho(x,0) \max(0, \ln \varrho(x,0))$  in place of the function  $\varrho(x,0) \ln \varrho(x,0)$ . However, the estimates obtained and (2.1.10) show that if we keep all other assumptions, then the entropy of  $\varrho(x,0)$  is finite anyway. But if no  $\mu$ -integrability of  $\Lambda$  is required, then the situation may change. For example, if d = 1, b = 0, and a = 1/2, then for any initial distribution  $\mu_0$ , the solution is given by the convolution  $\mu_0 * g_t$ , where  $g_t(x) = (2\pi t)^{-1/2} \exp(-x^2/(2t))$ . If  $\mu_0$  has a density  $\varrho_0$  such that  $|\varrho'_0|^2/\varrho_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^1)$ , but the function  $\varrho_0 \ln \varrho_0$  is not integrable, then for all t the solution  $\varrho(x,t)$  does not have finite entropy, although the quantities

$$\int |\partial_x \varrho(x,t)|^2 \varrho(x,t)^{-1} \, dx$$

are uniformly bounded. The same example shows that for the validity of estimate (2.3.1) certain conditions on the initial distribution are necessary. It suffices to take  $\mu_0$  to be Dirac's measure at the origin. Then the function  $|\partial_x \varrho|^2 / \varrho$  is not integrable on  $\mathbb{R}^1 \times (0, 1)$ . Some sufficient conditions on A and b ensuring finite entropy of  $\varrho(\cdot, t)$  for t > 0 and Dirac's initial distribution are mentioned at the end of the section.

In Example 2.3.9 below one can find conditions on the coefficients A and b ensuring that  $|b| \in L^2(\mu)$ .

Estimate (2.3.2) can be improved under additional hypotheses on A and b. Let

$$b_0 := (b_0^j), \quad b_0^j = b^j - \partial_{x_i} a^{ij}.$$

2.3.3. THEOREM. Suppose that  $\mu$  satisfies (2.1.1), (2.1.3), where  $\nu = \rho_0 dx$ , and  $\rho_0$  has finite entropy and is locally Hölder continuous. Let A and b satisfy (CP1)

and (CP2) with some p > d+2. Suppose that  $|A^{-1/2}b_0| \in L^2(\mu)$ ,  $\ln(1+|x|) \in L^4(\mu)$ , and

$$\liminf_{r \to \infty} \int_0^1 \int_{r \le |x| \le 2r} \left[ r^{-4} \|A(x,t)\|^2 + r^{-2} \Theta_A(x,t)^2 \right] \mu_t(dx) \, dt = 0.$$

Then  $\varrho(\cdot, t) \in W^{p,1}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , for almost all  $\tau \in [0,1]$  one has

$$\begin{split} \int_0^\tau \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \frac{\sqrt{A} \nabla \varrho}{\varrho} \right|^2 d\mu \\ & \leq \int_0^\tau \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |A^{-1/2} b_0|^2 d\mu + 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} [\varrho(x,0) \ln \varrho(x,0) - \varrho(x,\tau) \ln \varrho(x,\tau)] dx, \end{split}$$

and the right-hand side is finite. Under the extra assumption that  $A \ge \alpha \cdot I$  for some  $\alpha > 0$ , one has  $\sqrt{\varrho} \in \mathbb{H}^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,1])$ ,  $\varrho \in L^{d/(d-2),1}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,1])$  if d > 2, and  $\varrho \in L^{s,1}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,1])$  for all  $s \in [1,\infty)$  if d = 2.

2.3.4. REMARK. If A is uniformly bounded, then the assumption that  $\ln(1 + |x|) \in L^4(\mu)$  can be relaxed to  $\ln(1 + |x|) \in L^2(\mu)$ .

2.3.5. THEOREM. Under the hypotheses of Theorem 2.3.1 suppose that also

$$\sup_{t \in [0,1]} \|b(\,\cdot\,,t)\|_{L^d(\mu_t)} < \infty$$

and  $\mu_0 = \varrho(\cdot, 0) dx$ , where  $\varrho(\cdot, 0) \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all  $p \in [1, +\infty)$ . Then

$$\int_0^\tau \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\varrho(x,t)|^p \, dx\right)^{q/p} dt < \infty$$

for all  $p, q \in [1, +\infty)$  and  $\tau \in (0, 1)$ .

2.3.6. THEOREM. Under the hypotheses of Theorem 2.3.1 suppose that  $|b| \in L^{\beta}(\mu)$  for some  $\beta > d+2$  and  $\varrho(\cdot, 0) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Assume that either

$$\sup_{t \in [0,1]} \|b(\,\cdot\,,t)\|_{L^d(\mu_t)} < \infty,$$

or  $\varrho \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,\tau])$  for all  $\tau < 1$  for some p > 1. Then  $\varrho \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,\tau])$  for every  $\tau < 1$ .

2.3.7. REMARK. (i) In view of Remark 2.3.2, there is no need to require the integrability of the function  $\rho(x, 0) \ln \rho(x, 0)$  in the last two theorems, since the integrability of the function  $\rho(x, 0) \max(0, \ln \rho(x, 0))$  follows by the inclusion  $\rho(\cdot, 0) \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with p > 1.

(ii) The assumption in Theorem 2.3.5 and Theorem 2.3.6 that the integrals of  $\varrho(x,t)$  with respect to x equal 1 can be replaced by the assumption that these integrals are uniformly bounded.

(iii) If in Theorem 2.3.6 it is given in advance that  $\rho \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0, \tau])$  for some p > 1, then we need not require the integrability of the function  $|\ln(1+|x|)|^2 \rho(x,t)$ , but the boundedness of  $\rho(x, 0)$  is important.

These theorems enable one to obtain global upper bounds on  $\rho$ . As in the elliptic case considered above, the idea is this: in order to obtain a pointwise estimate  $\rho(x,t) \leq \Phi(x,t)^{-1}$ , one has to consider the measure  $\nu := \Phi \cdot \mu$  and establish the boundedness of its density. We shall consider functions  $\Phi$  that do not depend on t. If  $\Phi$  has locally bounded first and second order derivatives, then the measure  $\nu$  satisfies the equation

 $L^*\nu = (a^{ij}\partial_{x_i}\partial_{x_j}\Phi)\varrho + 2\partial_{x_i}\Phi\partial_{x_j}(a^{ij}\varrho) - b^i\partial_{x_i}\Phi\varrho = -L\Phi\cdot\varrho + 2\partial_{x_j}(a^{ij}\partial_{x_i}\Phi\varrho)$ understood in the same sense as (2.1.1). 2.3.8. THEOREM. Suppose that all hypotheses of Theorem 2.3.6 are fulfilled and we are given a function  $\Phi \geq c > 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with locally bounded second order derivatives such that  $\varrho(x,0) \leq C\Phi(x)^{-1}$ ,  $\Phi \in L^1(\mu_0)$ , and

$$\Phi^{1+\varepsilon}, \ |L\Phi|^{\beta/2}\Phi^{1-\beta/2}, \ |A\nabla\Phi|^{\beta}\Phi^{1-\beta} \in L^1(\mu), \quad \sup_{t \in [0,1]} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Phi(x)\varrho(x,t) \, dx < \infty$$

for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then for every  $\tau < 1$  there is a number  $C_{\tau}$  such that

$$\varrho(x,t) \le C_{\tau} \Phi(x)^{-1}$$
 for almost all  $(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times [0,\tau]$ .

2.3.9. EXAMPLE. Suppose that A and  $A^{-1}$  are uniformly bounded, A is uniformly Lipschitzian in x, and for some  $\beta > d + 2$ , r > 0,  $\varepsilon > 0$ , K > 0 one has

$$|b| \in L^{\beta}(\mu), \ \exp[(2K + \varepsilon)|x|^{r}] \in L^{1}(\mu),$$

$$\sup_{t \in [0,1]} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \exp(K|x|^{r})\varrho(x,t) \, dx < \infty.$$
(2.3.3)

Let  $\sup_{t \in [0,1]} \|b(\cdot,t)\|_{L^d(\mu_t)} < \infty$ . Finally, let the function  $\exp(K|x|^r)\varrho(x,0)$  be bounded and integrable on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Then for every  $\tau < 1$  there is a number  $C(\tau)$  such that

$$\varrho(x,t) \le C(\tau) \exp(-K|x|^r), \quad (x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times [0,\tau].$$

To ensure condition (2.3.3) and the stated assumptions on b and  $\rho(\cdot, 0)$  it suffices to have the estimates

$$|b(x,t)| \le C \exp(2K\beta^{-1}|x|^r), \quad \varrho(x,0) \le C \exp(-K'|x|^r)$$

with some K' > K and the estimate

$$\langle x, b(x,t) \rangle \le c_1 - c_2 |x|^r, \ c_2 > 2rK \sup_{t,x} ||A(x,t)||.$$
 (2.3.4)

Indeed, let  $\Phi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  be such that  $\Phi(x) = \exp(K|x|^r)$  if  $|x| \ge 1$ . All hypotheses of Theorem 2.3.8 hold. Under condition (2.3.4) we pick  $\delta \in (0, \varepsilon)$  such that

$$r(2K+\delta)\sup_{x t} \|A(x,t)\| < c_2$$

and take a function  $V \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  that equals  $\exp[(2K + \delta)|x|^r]$  if  $|x| \ge 1$ . Then, for some c, we have the estimate  $LV \le c$ . It follows from the existence results in §2.6 below that a solution exists and the norms  $\|V\varrho(\cdot, t)\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)}$  are uniformly bounded. The remaining assumptions of Theorem 2.3.8 also hold. In a similar way, one can obtain a power bound under weaker conditions.

Under some additional assumptions, time-dependent bounds for solutions are obtained in the recent papers [84], [130], [167]. For example, the following result is proved in [130].

2.3.10. THEOREM. Suppose that the mappings A and  $A^{-1}$  are uniformly bounded,  $a^{ij} \in C^{1+\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $b^i \in C^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and

$$\limsup_{|x|\to\infty} |x|^{-\beta} \langle x, b(x) \rangle \le -c, \quad |b(x)| \le c_1 \exp(c_2 |x|^{\beta-\varepsilon})$$

where  $c, c_1, c_2 > 0$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ , and  $\beta > 2$ . Then the following estimate holds for the fundamental density  $p_{A,b}(t, x, y)$  in Theorem 1.7.5:

$$p_{A,b}(t,x,y) \le c_3 \exp\left(c_4 t^{-\beta/(\beta-2)}\right) \exp(-\gamma|y|^{\beta}), \quad t \in (0,1), x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

If  $|b(x)| \le c(1+|x|^q)$ , then

$$p_{A,b}(t, x, y) \le ct^{-\sigma}(1+|y|)^{-\theta}$$

for some constants  $c, \sigma, \theta > 0$ .

Analogous estimates are established also for  $\partial_t p_{A,b}$ ,  $D_y p_{A,b}$  and  $D_y^2 p_{A,b}$  in the case where  $a^{ij} \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $b^i \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and |Db(x)| and  $|D^2b(x)|$  admit the same bound as |b|. Some of these estimates are refined in [167] by using Lyapunov functions depending on t. For example, the previous estimate is refined to

$$p_{A,b}(t,x,y) \le c_3 t^{-\kappa} \exp(-\delta t^{\alpha} |y|^{\beta}),$$

where  $\theta = \alpha k(\beta - 1)/\beta - 1$ , k > d + 2,  $\alpha > \beta/(\beta - 2)$ ,  $\delta < c/(\Lambda\beta)$ ,  $\Lambda = \sup_x ||A(x)||$ . These results have recently been strengthened by S.V. Shaposhnikov.

It would be interesting to study the behavior of solutions at infinity under the above assumptions on the coefficients in the case where the initial distribution is a measure; there are many results in this direction for solutions in various classes of functions and typically in the case of bounded coefficients (see the survey [68]).

## 2.4. Harnack's inequality for parabolic equations

We now consider Harnack's inequality for the parabolic equation. Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , let  $Q = \Omega \times (0, 1)$ , and let  $A = (a^{ij})_{1 \leq i,j \leq d}$  be a measurable matrix-valued mapping on Q with  $a^{ij} = a^{ji}$  such that there exist constants  $\gamma \geq 0$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\sum_{i,j} |a^{ij}(x,t)|^2 \le \gamma^2 \quad \text{and} \quad A(x,t) \ge \alpha \cdot \mathbf{I} \quad \text{for all } (x,t) \in Q. \tag{2.4.1}$$

In addition, let  $b: Q \to \mathbb{R}^d$  be a measurable vector field such that

$$\sup_{(x,t)\in Q} |b(x,t)| \le B < \infty.$$
(2.4.2)

Suppose that a nonnegative function  $u \in \mathbb{H}^{2,1}(Q)$  satisfies the equation

$$\partial_t u = \partial_{x_i} (a^{ij} \partial_{x_j} u - b^i u), \qquad (2.4.3)$$

i.e., for every function  $\varphi \in C_0^1(Q)$ , one has the equality

$$\int \int_{Q} \left[ -\partial_t \varphi u + \partial_{x_i} \varphi \left( a^{ij} \partial_{x_j} u - b^i u \right) \right] dx \, dt = 0.$$

It follows from the general theory of parabolic equations (see, e.g., Theorem 8.1 in §8 and Theorem 10.1 in §10 in Chapter 3 of the book [111]) that under our assumptions any solution u has a version that is locally Hölder continuous.

Let us fix a point  $(\bar{x}, \bar{t}) \in \Omega \times (0, 1]$ . Let  $R(\bar{x}, r)$  be the open cube with the edge length r centered at the point  $\bar{x}$ . Let

$$Q(r) = R(\bar{x}, r) \times (\bar{t} - r^2, \bar{t}), \quad Q^*(r) = R(\bar{x}, r) \times (\bar{t} - 8r^2, \bar{t} - 7r^2).$$

The following classical theorem is true (see the paper [10, Theorem 3], generalizing a result of Moser [137]). Concerning methods of obtaining Harnack's inequality, see also [143] and the references there.

2.4.1. THEOREM. Let  $Q(3r) \subset Q$ . Then, for the continuous version of the function u satisfying equation (2.4.3), we have

$$\sup_{(x,t)\in Q^*(r)} u(x,t) \le C \inf_{(x,t)\in Q(r)} u(x,t),$$

where the number  $C = C(d, \alpha, \gamma, Br)$  depends only on  $d, \alpha, \gamma$ , and Br.

As in the elliptic case, we are interested in a more precise form of dependence of C on the indicated parameters from (2.4.1), (2.4.2). The results below are proved in [42].

2.4.2. THEOREM. Let  $Q(3r) \subset Q$ . Then the following inequality holds for the continuous version of the function u:

$$\sup_{(x,t)\in Q^*(r)} u(x,t) \le C \inf_{(x,t)\in Q(r)} u(x,t),$$

where

$$C := C(d, \alpha, \gamma, B, r) := \exp\left\{c(d)\left[1 + \alpha^{-1} + (\alpha^{-1/2} + \alpha^{-1})(Br + \gamma)\right]^2\right\}.$$

Our next result further refines the obtained estimate with respect to dependence on r. Its advantage as compared to the previous theorem is that now B appears in the estimate without the factor r.

2.4.3. THEOREM. Suppose that  $B(z_0, \theta r) \subset \Omega$  for some  $\theta > 1$  and r > 0. Then, whenever 0 < s < t < 1 and  $x, y \in B(z_0, r)$ , the following inequality holds for the continuous version of u:

$$u(y,s) \le u(x,t) \exp\Big\{K\Big(\frac{|x-y|^2}{t-s} + (B+1)^2\frac{t-s}{\delta^2} + 1\Big)\Big\},\$$

where  $\delta = \min\{(\theta - 1)r, \sqrt{s}\}$  and the number K depends only on  $d, \alpha$ , and  $\gamma$  as follows, with some number c(d) depending only on d:

$$K := c(d) \left| 1 + \alpha^{-1} + (\alpha^{-1} + \alpha^{-1/2}) \gamma \right|^2.$$

#### 2.5. Lower bounds in the parabolic case

We proceed to lower bounds for densities of solutions to parabolic equations for measures. As we shall see, there are lower bounds similar to the upper bounds discussed in  $\S2.3$ ; however, the difference between the upper and lower bounds is more significant than in the elliptic case. The proofs are given in [42].

Let  $A = (a^{ij})_{1 \le i,j \le d}$  be a measurable matrix-valued mapping on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1)$  such that A(x,t) is positive definite and let b be a measurable vector field on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1)$  with values in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . As in the elliptic case, in our study of lower bounds it is more convenient to consider the divergence form operators  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{A,b}$ .

A Borel measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, 1)$  satisfies the weak parabolic equation (2.1.1) if the functions  $a^{ij}$  and  $b^i$  are integrable on every compact set in  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, 1)$  with respect to  $\mu$  and, for every function  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, 1))$ , we have the equality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1)} \mathcal{L}\varphi \, d\mu = 0,$$

which is understood in one of the following two ways.

(I) For every compact interval  $J \subset (0,1)$  and every ball  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , the functions  $a^{ij}$  belong to the class  $\mathbb{H}^{1,1}(U \times J)$ , the functions  $a^{ij}$ ,  $\partial_{x_i} a^{ij}$ , and  $b^i$  are Borel measurable and locally integrable with respect to  $|\mu|$ , and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1)} [\partial_t \varphi + a^{ij} \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} \varphi + \partial_{x_i} a^{ij} \partial_{x_j} \varphi + b^j \partial_{x_j} \varphi] \, d\mu = 0.$$
(2.5.1)

(II) For every compact interval  $J \subset (0, 1)$  and every ball  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , the restriction of the measure  $\mu$  to  $U \times J$  has a density  $\rho$  in the class  $\mathbb{H}^{1,1}(U \times J)$  such that the functions  $a^{ij}\partial_{x_i}\rho$  and  $b^i\rho$  are locally Lebesgue integrable and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1)} [\partial_t \varphi \varrho - a^{ij} \partial_{x_i} \varrho \partial_{x_j} \varphi + b^i \partial_{x_i} \varphi \varrho] \, dx \, dt = 0.$$
(2.5.2)

Below we always specify which case we are considering by referring to (2.5.1) in Case (I) and to (2.5.2) in Case (II). Our assumption that the matrices  $A(x,t) = (a^{ij}(x,t))_{i,j \leq d}$  are symmetric and strictly positive guarantees the absolute continuity of  $\mu$  in Case (I). For this reason, we consider measures  $\mu$  represented in the form  $\mu(dt dx) = \mu_t(dx) dt$  by means of a family of Borel measures  $(\mu_t)_{t \in (0,1)}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . In this case (2.1.1) can be written as

$$\int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{L}\varphi(x,t) \mu_t(dx) \, dt = 0,$$

which is understood in one of the two ways described above. It should be noted that the alternative assumption in Case (II) that  $\mu$  has a locally Sobolev density is fulfilled automatically if, in Case (I), the coefficients A and b satisfy certain additional assumptions specified in §2.2. For this reason, in some results we consider solutions a priori possessing locally Sobolev densities and make no assumptions on the regularity of A; however, in other results, which deal with applications to transition probabilities, we impose a suitable local Sobolev regularity of A in order to guarantee that all solutions are Sobolev regular.

Let V be a continuous increasing function on  $[0, \infty)$  with V(0) > 0.

2.5.1. THEOREM. Let  $\sup_{t \in (0,1)} |b(x,t)| \leq V(|x|/\theta)$  for almost all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , where

 $\theta > 1.$  Let

$$\alpha(r) := \sup_{t \in (0,1), |x| \le r} \|A(x,t)^{-1}\|, \quad \gamma(r) := \sup_{t \in (0,1), |x| \le r} \|A(x,t)\|$$

Let  $\mu$  be a nonnegative measure with a density  $\varrho$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1)$  such that

$$\varrho \in \mathbb{H}^{2,1}(U \times J) \tag{2.5.3}$$

for any ball  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  and any closed interval J in (0,1). Suppose that  $\mu$  satisfies equation (2.1.1) in the sense of (2.5.2), i.e., we deal with Case (II). Then, there exists a positive number K = K(d) such that the continuous version of the function  $\varrho$  satisfies the inequality

$$\begin{split} \varrho(x,t) &\geq \varrho(0,s) \exp\Big\{-K(d) \Big| 1 + \alpha(\theta|x|)^{-1} + \Big[\alpha(\theta|x|)^{-1} + \alpha(\theta|x|)^{-1/2} \Big] \gamma(\theta|x|) \Big|^2 \times \\ & \times \Big( 1 + \frac{t-s}{s} V(|x|)^2 + \frac{1}{t-s} |x|^2 \Big) \Big\}, \end{split}$$

where 0 < s < t < 1,  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . In particular, if  $||A(x,t)|| \leq \gamma$  and  $||A(x,t)^{-1}|| \leq \alpha$ , then there exists a positive number  $K = K(d, \alpha, \gamma, \theta)$  such that the continuous version of the function  $\varrho$  satisfies the inequality

$$\varrho(x,t) \ge \varrho(0,s) \exp\Big\{-K\Big(1 + \frac{t-s}{s}V(|x|)^2 + \frac{1}{t-s}|x|^2\Big)\Big\}, \quad 0 < s < t < 1, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

2.5.2. COROLLARY. Suppose that in the situation of Theorem 2.5.1 one has

$$||A(x,t)|| \le \gamma \quad and \quad ||A(x,t)^{-1}|| \le \alpha$$

and that for almost all  $t \in (0,1)$  the function  $x \mapsto \varrho(x,t)$  does not vanish identically. Then, for every closed interval  $[\tau_1, \tau_2]$  in (0,1), there exists a number  $K = K(d, \alpha, \gamma, \theta, \tau_1, \tau_2) \ge 0$  such that for all  $t \in [\tau_1, \tau_2]$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  the following inequality holds:

$$\exp\left(-K\left(1+V(|x|)^2+|x|^2\right)\right) \le \varrho(x,t) \le \exp\left(K\left(1+V(|x|)^2+|x|^2\right)\right).$$

2.5.3. EXAMPLE. Suppose that in the situation of Theorem 2.5.1 the matrices A(x,t) and  $A(x,t)^{-1}$  are uniformly bounded and for some constants  $c_1 > 0$  and  $c_2 > 0$  the inequality

$$\sup_{t \in (0,1)} |b(x,t)| \le c_1 |x|^\beta + c_2$$

holds for almost all x. Then there exists a positive number K such that

$$\varrho(x,t) \ge \varrho(0,s) \exp\left\{-K\left(1 + \frac{t-s}{s}|x|^{2\beta} + \frac{1}{t-s}|x|^2\right)\right\}, \quad s,t \in (0,1), s < t.$$

For example, if

$$L = \partial_t + \frac{1}{2}\Delta,$$

then the measure  $(2\pi t)^{-1/2}e^{-|x|^2/2t} dx dt$  is a solution. For any  $\delta > 0$ , our results yield a number  $K(\delta) > 0$  such that  $\varrho \ge e^{-K(\delta)|x|^2/t}$  in the strip  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (\delta, 1)$ . Similarly, our lower estimate is sharp in the case of a linear drift coefficient, but it becomes less precise in the case of quadratic growth of |b|; e.g., if  $\varrho(x,t) = C \exp(-|x|^3)$ , then  $\exp(-K|x|^4)$  appears in our lower bound.

Let us give conditions on the coefficients A and b ensuring two-sided exponential estimates of the density of the solution in the parabolic case.

2.5.4. EXAMPLE. Suppose that A(x,t) is symmetric and positive, A(x,t) and  $A(x,t)^{-1}$  are uniformly bounded, the functions  $x \mapsto a^{ij}(x,t)$  are uniformly Lipschitzian with a common constant, and that for some r > 1,  $\sigma \ge 0$ , K > 0, and K' > K we have

$$\begin{aligned} |b(x,t)| &\leq C + C|x|^{r-1+\sigma}, \quad \varrho(x,0) \leq C \exp(-K'|x|^{r}), \\ \langle x, b(x,t) \rangle &\leq c_1 - c_2 |x|^{r}, \quad c_2 > 2rK \sup_{x,t} \|A(x,t)\|. \end{aligned}$$

Suppose that a probability measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, 1)$  satisfies equation (2.1.1) in the sense of (2.5.1), i.e., we deal with Case (I). Then  $\mu$  has a continuous density  $\rho$  such that, for every closed interval  $[\tau_1, \tau_2] \subset (0, 1)$ , there exist numbers  $C_1, C_2$ , and  $K_0$  for which

$$C_1 \exp\left(-K_0 |x|^{2r+2\sigma-2} - K_0 |x|^2\right) \le \varrho(x,t) \le C_2 \exp(-K|x|^r), \ (x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times [\tau_1, \tau_2].$$

The upper bound follows from §2.3, and the lower bound follows from the above results. Unlike the elliptic case, here there is no coincidence of the powers of |x| in the lower and upper bounds. We observe that the indicated conditions also give the existence of a solution  $\mu = \mu_t dt$ , where every  $\mu_t$  is a probability measure, for an arbitrary initial distribution (see §2.6). The uniqueness problem is also considered in §2.6.

One more application of our results is concerned with the proof of the existence of finite entropy for any solution with respect to the space variable at any positive t for every initial distribution. The existence of finite entropy, which is useful in many respects, is necessary for applying those results of §2.3 which give integrability of  $|\nabla \varrho(x,t)|^2/\varrho(x,t)$ .

Let W be a continuous increasing function on the half-line  $[0,\infty)$  such that W(0) > 0 and  $\lim W(r) = +\infty$ .

2.5.5. PROPOSITION. Suppose that the matrices A(x,t) are positive definite and uniformly bounded along with the matrices  $A(x,t)^{-1}$  and that, for some  $\theta > 1$ , the following inequality holds:

$$\sup_{t \in (0,1)} |b(x,t)|^2 \le W(|x|/\theta), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Let  $\mu$  be a measure of the form  $\mu = \mu_t dt$ , where every  $\mu_t$  is a probability measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and let  $\mu$  satisfy condition (2.5.3) and equation (2.1.1) in the sense of (2.5.2). Suppose that

$$\int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} [|x|^2 + W(|x|)] \, \mu_t(dx) \, dt < \infty.$$

Then, for every closed interval  $[\tau_1, \tau_2] \subset (0, 1)$ , we have

t

$$\int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varrho(x,s) |\ln \varrho(x,s)| \, dx \, ds < \infty.$$

2.5.6. COROLLARY. Suppose that  $a^{ij} \in \mathbb{H}^{2,1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1))$ , A(x,t) is positive definite, and that A(x,t) and  $A(x,t)^{-1}$  are uniformly bounded. In addition, suppose that for some  $\theta > 1$  the following inequality holds:

$$\sup_{\in (0,1)} |b(x,t)|^2 \le W(|x|/\theta), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

Let  $\mu$  be a measure of the form  $\mu = \mu_t dt$ , where every  $\mu_t$  is a probability measure, and let  $\mu$  satisfy condition (2.5.3). Assume that  $\mu$  satisfies equation (2.1.1) in the sense of (2.5.2) and has the initial distribution  $\mu_0$  such that the function  $W_0(x) :=$ W(|x|) is integrable with respect to  $\mu_0$ . Finally, let

$$W(r) \ge c_1 + c_2 r^2$$
 and  $\mathcal{L}W_0(x) \le C$ 

for some constants  $c_1, c_2, C > 0$ . Then, for the continuous version  $\rho$  of the density of  $\mu$  we have

$$\sup_{s \in (0,1)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varrho(x,s) |\ln \varrho(x,s)| \, dx < \infty.$$

We emphasize once again that if the functions  $x \mapsto a^{ij}(x,t)$  are locally Lipschitzian uniformly with respect to  $t \in (0, 1)$ , then in Theorem 2.5.1, Corollary 2.5.2, Example 2.5.3, Proposition 2.5.5, and Corollary 2.5.6 any solution  $\mu$  of (2.1.3) in the sense of (2.5.1) is a solution in the sense of (2.5.2) as well.

2.5.7. EXAMPLE. Suppose that in Corollary 2.5.6 it is known additionally that the functions  $x \mapsto a^{ij}(x,t)$  are uniformly Lipschitzian with a common constant. Then, for every closed interval  $[\tau_1, \tau_2] \subset (0, 1)$ , according to §2.3 we have

$$\int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\nabla \varrho(x,t)|^2}{\varrho(x,t)} \, dx \, dt < \infty.$$

2.5.8. EXAMPLE. Suppose that the matrices A(x,t) and  $A(x,t)^{-1}$  are uniformly bounded, the functions  $x \mapsto a^{ij}(x,t)$  are uniformly Lipschitzian with a common constant and that there exist numbers  $c, c_0, c_1, c_2, r > 0$  such that

$$|b(x,t)| \le c_0 \exp(c|x|^r), \quad (b(x,t),x) \le c_1 - c_2|x|^r, \quad c_2 > 2cr \sup_{x,t} ||A(x,t)||.$$

Let  $\mu$  be a probability measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, 1)$  satisfying equation (2.1.1) in the sense of (2.5.1) with an initial condition  $\mu_0$  such that the function  $\exp(c|x|^r)$  is integrable with respect to  $\mu_0$ . Then

$$\int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\nabla \varrho(x,t)|^2}{\varrho(x,t)} \, dx \, dt < \infty$$

for every closed interval  $[\tau_1, \tau_2] \subset (0, 1)$ . To prove this, it suffices to take  $W_0(z) = \exp(M|z|^r)$ , where M > 2c is sufficiently close to 2c.

We now turn to lower bounds without conditions on the growth of the drift coefficient; the proofs can be found in [160]. Until the end of this section we assume that the matrix  $A(x,t) = (a^{ij}(x,t))_{1 \le i,j \le d}$  is symmetric and satisfies the following conditions:

(GP1) there is a constant  $\lambda > 0$  such that for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $t \in (0, 1)$  one has

$$|a^{ij}(x,t) - a^{ij}(y,t)| \le \lambda |x-y|,$$

(GP2) there are constants m,M>0 such that for all  $x,y\in \mathbb{R}^d$  and  $t\in (0,1)$  one has

$$m|y|^2 \le \sum_{1 \le i,j \le d} a^{ij}(x,t)y_iy_j \le M|y|^2.$$

If, in addition to (GP1) and (GP2) we have  $b \in L^p_{loc}(\mu)$  for some p > d + 2, then the solution  $\mu$  has a continuous density  $\rho$  belonging to the class  $\mathbb{H}^{p,1}(U, J)$  for each ball U and each interval  $J \subset (0, 1)$ .

It turns out that without any assumptions of local boundedness or local integrability of the coefficient b with respect to Lebesgue measure one can obtain estimates of the form

$$p(x,t) \ge e^{-f(c_1|x|^2 + c_2)}, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, t \in J,$$
 (2.5.4)

where  $J = [\tau_1, \tau_2] \subset (0, 1)$  is any closed interval,  $c_1 = c_1(J), c_2 = c_2(J)$  are some constants, and  $f \in C^2([0, +\infty))$  satisfies the following conditions:

(HP1) f(z) > 0 f'(z) > 0 and f''(z) > 0 for z > 0;

(HP2) for some  $0 < \gamma < 1$  the function  $e^{-(1-\gamma)f(z)}$  is convex (its second derivative is nonnegative) on  $(z_0, +\infty)$  for some  $z_0 \ge 0$ .

For obtaining estimate (2.5.4) in addition to conditions (GP1) and (GP2) it suffices to require the following conditions:

(GP3)  $|b| \exp(\psi(|b|)) \in L^p(\mu)$ , where p > d+2 and  $\psi$  is a nonnegative strictly increasing continuous function on  $[0, \infty)$  such that for some N > 0 one has

(HP3)  $\psi^{-1}(z) \le N\sqrt{f'(f^{-1}(z))}$  for all z > 0.

According to (HP1) and (HP3),  $f'(y) \to \infty$ . Hence there exists a number  $y_0 > \max\{z_0, 1\}$  such that  $f'(y) \ge 1$  and  $(f'(y))^{-1/2}e^{f(y)} \ge e^{\psi(0)}$  whenever  $y > y_0$ . Let  $\omega_0 = e^{-f(\ln y_0)}$ . Then  $0 < \omega_0 < 1$ . Let

$$\Lambda = \min\{\omega_0(2\|\varrho\|_{L^{\infty}})^{-1}, 1\}.$$

Let us fix a cube Q = Q(y, 1/2) and numbers  $s_1 < s_2 < t_1 < t_2$  such that  $s_1, s_2, t_1, t_2 \in [T_0, T_1]$ , where  $[T_0, T_1] \subset (0, 1)$ . Let

$$K^- := Q \times [s_1, s_2], \quad K^+ := Q \times [t_1, t_2].$$

2.5.9. THEOREM. Let  $\mu = \rho \, dx \, dt$  satisfy equation (2.1.1), where the coefficients  $a^{ij}, b^i$  satisfy conditions (GP1)–(GP3) and let conditions (HP1)–(H3) hold. Then

$$\sup_{K^+} e^{f^{-1}(|\ln(\Lambda\varrho)|)} \le C \left( \int_{K^-} e^{-\lambda f^{-1}(|\ln(\Lambda\varrho)|)} \, dx \, dt \right)^{-1/\lambda},$$

where C depends only on the following quantities:

$$\begin{split} s_1, s_2, t_1, t_2, p, N, \omega_0, m, M, \gamma, d, \|\varrho\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [T_0, T_1])} \\ \int_{T_0}^{T_1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |b|^p \exp\{p\psi(|b|)\} \varrho \, dx \, dt. \end{split}$$

2.5.10. THEOREM. Let  $\mu = \rho \, dx \, dt$  satisfy equation (2.1.1), where the coefficients  $a^{ij}, b^i$  satisfy conditions (GP1)–(GP3) and let conditions (HP1)–(HP3) hold. Let us fix an interval  $J = [\tau_1, \tau_2] \subset (T_0, T_1)$ . Then there exist positive numbers  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  such that

$$\varrho(x,t) \ge e^{-f(c_1|x|^2 + c_2)}, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d, t \in J.$$

### 2.6. Fokker–Planck–Kolmogorov equations

Here we discuss sufficient conditions for the existence and uniqueness of solutions to parabolic equations for measures. Our presentation follows [30] and [26].

We shall say that a compact function  $\Psi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is nondegenerate if there is a sequence of numbers  $c_n \to +\infty$  such that the level sets  $\Psi^{-1}(c_n)$  are  $C^1$ -surfaces (in fact, we only need that Lemma 2.1.5 be applicable to the domains  $\{\Psi < c_n\}$ ). For example, if  $\Psi$  is convex, then it is nondegenerate; the same is true if  $\Psi(x) = \psi_0(|x|^2)$ , where  $\psi_0 \in C^2([0, +\infty))$  is increasing to  $+\infty$ .

2.6.1. THEOREM. Let p > d + 2 and let A and b satisfy the conditions

$$\sup_{t \in (0,1)} \left[ \|a^{ij}(\cdot,t)\|_{W^{p,1}(B)} + \|b^{i}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{p}(B)} \right] < \infty,$$
(2.6.1)

$$A(x,t) \ge M(B) \cdot \mathbf{I} \quad \forall (x,t) \in B \times (0,1)$$

for every ball B with some M(B) > 0. Assume that there exist a nondegenerate nonnegative compact function  $\Psi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and a constant  $C \ge 0$  such that

$$L\Psi(x,t) \le C + C\Psi(x) \quad a.e. \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1).$$

$$(2.6.2)$$

Then, for every Borel probability measure  $\nu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , there exists a family  $\mu = (\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1)}$  of probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfying (2.1.1) and (2.1.3) such that

$$t\mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\zeta\,d\mu_t$$

is continuous on [0,1) for every  $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Let us note that this theorem (established in [26]) is stronger than the analogous result of [24] in all respects except that here the Lyapunov function  $\Psi$  is supposed to be nondegenerate. However, this is a rather mild restriction, which is fulfilled in all interesting cases.

2.6.2. REMARK. (i) In the case when the functions  $b^i$  are bounded on bounded subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, 1)$ , the nondegeneracy condition on A can be slightly relaxed as follows: it suffices to have

$$\inf_{(x,t)\in K\times[\tau_1,\tau_2]}\det A(x,t)>0$$

for every  $[\tau_1, \tau_2] \subset (0, 1)$  and every compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ .

(ii) Condition (2.6.2) can be relaxed as follows: there exists a compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  such that  $L\Psi(x,t) \leq C$  a.e. in  $(0,1) \times (\mathbb{R}^d \setminus K)$ .

(iii) For almost every t, the measure  $\mu_t$  has a density in the Sobolev class  $W_{loc}^{p,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . This is true for any solution of (2.1.1) under our local assumptions on

A and b. Hence, under these assumptions, equation (2.1.1) can be written in the classical weak form after integrating by parts in the term with  $\partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} u$ . Below we consider more general equations whose solutions do not have such a property.

2.6.3. COROLLARY. Suppose that there is a constant C such that

$$||A(x,t)|| \le C + C\ln(|x|^2 + 1), \quad (x,t) \in (0,1) \times \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{2.6.3}$$

and, for every compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  and every  $[\tau_1, \tau_2] \subset (0, 1)$ , one has

$$\inf_{(x,t)\in K\times[\tau_1,\tau_2]} \det A(x,t) > 0, \sup_{(x,t)\in K\times(0,1)} |b(x,t)| < \infty.$$

Assume also that there is a constant M such that

$$\langle b(x,t),x\rangle \le M(1+|x|^2)\ln(|x|^2+1), \quad (x,t)\in\mathbb{R}^d\times(0,1).$$
 (2.6.4)

Then, for every Borel probability measure  $\nu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , there exists a family  $(\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1)}$ of probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfying (2.1.1) and (2.1.3) such that

$$t\mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\zeta\,d\mu_t$$

is continuous on [0,1) for every  $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . The same is true if we replace (2.6.3) and (2.6.4) by

$$||A(x,t)|| \le C + C|x|^2, \quad \langle b(x,t), x \rangle \le C + C|x|^2, \quad (x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1).$$

If the functions  $b^i$  and  $a^{ij}$  are continuous in x for a.e. fixed t, then the same is true without the assumption that det A is strictly positive.

2.6.4. COROLLARY. Suppose that the functions  $x \mapsto a^{ij}(x,t)$  and  $x \mapsto b^i(x,t)$ are continuous for each  $t \in (0,1)$  and are bounded on bounded sets in  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1)$ . In addition, suppose that, for every fixed ball  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , the functions  $x \mapsto a^{ij}(x,t)$ ,  $t \in (0,1)$ , are equicontinuous on U. Finally, assume that there exist a nondegenerate nonnegative compact function  $\Psi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and a constant  $C \ge 0$  such that

$$L\Psi(x,t) \le C + C\Psi(x).$$

Then, for every Borel probability measure  $\nu$ , there exists a family  $\mu = (\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1)}$  of probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfying (2.1.1) and (2.1.3) such that

$$t\mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\zeta\,d\mu_t$$

is continuous on [0,1) for every  $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Moreover, if det A is bounded away from zero on compact subsets in  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1)$ , then the continuity of b in x is not needed.

We observe that these results are applicable to degenerate A, in particular, to A = 0.

2.6.5. COROLLARY. If  $\nu = \varrho_0 dx$ , then the solution from Theorem 2.6.1 satisfies inequalities (2.1.9), (2.1.10), and (2.1.11) for any domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  such that the right-hand sides are finite. If  $|b(x,t)| \leq C\Psi(x)$ ,  $\Psi \in L^1(\nu)$ , and  $\varrho_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then it satisfies (2.4.3) as well.

Under appropriate assumptions it is possible to construct a solution defined for t in the whole real line.

2.6.6. COROLLARY. Suppose that the coefficients A and b are defined on the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^1$  and satisfy condition (2.6.1) on every bounded interval in place of (0,1). Suppose also that there exist a nondegenerate nonnegative compact function  $\Psi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and positive numbers  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  such that

$$L\Psi(x,t) \le c_1 - c_2\Psi(x)$$
 for almost all  $(x,t)$ .

Then, there exists a family  $\mu = (\mu_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}^1}$  of probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  satisfying (2.1.1) such that  $\mu_t$  has a density  $\varrho(\cdot, t)$  and  $\varrho$  is jointly continuous and positive.

Under some stronger assumptions, there are similar uniqueness results. Let us introduce the following conditions.

(HU1) There exists p > d + 2 such that for every open ball  $B \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  one has (a)  $\inf_{(x,t)\in B\times[0,T]} \det A(x,t) > 0$ ,  $\sup_{t\in[0,T]: 1\leq i,j\leq d} \|a^{ij}(\cdot,t)\|_{W^{p,1}(B)} < \infty$ , (b)  $\int_0^T \int_B |b(x,t)|^p dxdt < \infty$ .

We introduce the following set of measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times (0, T)$ :

 $\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{par}}^{A,b,\nu} := \{ \mu \mid \mu(dx,dt) = \mu_t(dx)dt, \ \mu_t \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d) \ \forall t \in (0,T) \text{ and } \mu \}$ 

satisfies (2.1.1), (2.1.3), where  $|b| \in L^1(B \times (0,T), \mu)$  for every ball  $B \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ .

2.6.7. THEOREM. Assume (HU1). Suppose, in addition, that the following condition holds:

(HU2) each  $a^{ij}$  is Hölder continuous in  $t \in [0,T]$  locally uniformly with respect to  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ .

Let  $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathcal{M}_{par}^{A,b,\nu}$  be such that  $\mathcal{K}$  is convex and for all  $\mu \in \mathcal{K}$ 

 $(1-L)(C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,T)))$  is dense in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,T),\mu)$ .

Then  $\#\mathcal{K} \leq 1$ .

We now give constructive conditions on the coefficients which enable us to use the above result.

Define the logarithmic gradient  $\beta_{\mu} = (\beta_{\mu}^1, \dots, \beta_{\mu}^d)$  of  $\mu$  with respect to the metric given by A as follows:

$$\beta^i_{\mu} := \sum_{j=1}^a (\partial_{x_j} a^{ij} + a^{ij} \varrho^{-1} \partial_{x_j} \varrho), \quad i = 1, \dots, d.$$

2.6.8. PROPOSITION. Assume (HU1) and (HU2) and define  $\mathcal{K}$  to be the set of all measures  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{\text{par}}^{A,b,\nu}$  satisfying the following three conditions for all  $1 \leq i, j \leq d$ : (i)  $\partial_{x_j} a^{ij} \in L^1(B \times (0,T), \mu)$  for all open balls  $B \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ ,

(ii)  $a^{ij} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,T),\mu),$ (iii)  $b^i - \beta^i_\mu \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,T),\mu).$ Then  $\#\mathcal{K} \leq 1.$ 

2.6.9. PROPOSITION. Assume (HU1) and (HU2). Let  $V \in C^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0,T])$  be such that  $\lim_{|x|\to\infty} V(x,t) = +\infty$  uniformly with respect to  $t \in [0,T]$ . Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be the set of all measures  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_{\text{par}}^{A,b,\nu}$  satisfying condition (i) in Proposition 2.6.8 and such that for some  $\alpha_0 = \alpha_0(\mu) \in (0,\infty)$  one has

$$L_{A,2\beta_{\mu}-b}V - \partial_t V \le \alpha_0 V.$$

Then  $\#\mathcal{K} = 1$ .

2.6.10. THEOREM. Assume (HU1) and (HU2). Suppose that the following global conditions hold for A, b, and  $\nu$ :

(iv) the measure  $\nu$  has finite entropy, i.e.,  $\nu = \varrho_0 dx$  and  $\varrho_0 \ln \varrho_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

(v) there exists  $\varepsilon \in (0, \infty)$  such that

$$\varepsilon \mathbf{I} \le A(x,t) \le \varepsilon^{-1} \mathbf{I}$$
 for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times [0,T]$ 

(vi) there exists  $\Lambda \in (0,\infty)$  such that for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$  one has

$$\sup\{|a^{ij}(x,t) - a^{ij}(t,y)|: t \in [0,T], \ 1 \le i \le j \le d\} \le \Lambda |x-y|$$

(vii) there exists  $c \in (0,\infty)$  such that for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times [0,T]$  one has

 $\langle b(x,t), x \rangle \le c(1+|x|^2),$ 

and either for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  one has

$$|b(x,t)| \le c(1+|x|^{2k}) \quad and \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |x|^{2k} \, \nu(dx) < \infty$$

or there exist numbers  $\alpha, \gamma, \delta, c, k \in (0, \infty)$  such that for all  $(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times [0, T]$ 

$$\langle b(x,t),x\rangle \leq \gamma - (2\varepsilon^{-1}ck+\delta)|x|^{2k}$$

with  $\varepsilon$  as in (v), and

$$|b(x,t)| \le \alpha \exp\left(\frac{c}{2} |x|^{2k}\right), \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \exp\left(\frac{c}{2} |x|^{2k}\right) \nu(dx) < \infty.$$

Then there exists a unique family  $\{\mu_t, t \in (0,T]\}$  of probability measures on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  solving (2.1.1), (2.1.3).

The equations for measures considered above are the Fokker–Planck equations according to the terminology indicated above. We do not discuss here the closely related Kolmogorov equations for functions (see, e.g., [29], [28], [62]). Finally, we note that similar existence results have been recently obtained for nonlinear equations for measures in [45].

## CHAPTER 3

# Infinite-dimensional case

### 3.1. Equations for measures on infinite-dimensional spaces

The problems considered in the previous two chapters arise also in the infinitedimensional case; as it was noted in the Introduction, the infinite-dimensional case even served as one of motivations for the study of such problems. We shall briefly discuss elliptic equations because a detailed account of the whole area deserves a separate survey. Moreover, our discussion will be restricted to problems directly connected with the finite-dimensional case. First of all, it should be noted that many of the principal objects considered above such as stochastic equations, transition probabilities, stationary distributions, Fokker–Planck and Kolmogorov equations are defined on very general spaces and bear no finite-dimensional features. However, in the infinite-dimensional case new phenomena arise. Partly this is due to the absence of exact analogs of Lebesgue measure, but there are also other reasons. One of the starting points is again a Markov process with a state space X whose transition semigroup  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  defined on a suitable function space  $\mathcal{F}$  (such as  $C_b(X)$ or  $L^p(\mu)$ ). If this process has an invariant probability measure  $\mu$  on X, i.e.,

$$\int_X f(x)\,\mu(dx) = \int_X T_t f(x)\,\mu(dx), \quad f \in \mathcal{F},$$

then, under broad assumptions,  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  extends to a strongly continuous semigroup on  $L^1(\mu)$  which has a generator L on some domain  $\mathcal{D}$ , and  $\mu$  satisfies the equation

$$L^*\mu = 0 \tag{3.1.1}$$

in the sense that the integral of Lf vanishes for all  $f \in \mathcal{D}$ . Typically, there is a smaller class  $\mathcal{D}_0 \subset \mathcal{D}$  of functions for which Lf is defined explicitly without any reference to the semigroup and the domain of its generator. Then we can consider equation (3.1.1) as the identity

$$\int_X Lf(x)\,\mu(dx) = 0, \quad f \in \mathcal{D}_0. \tag{3.1.2}$$

Therefore, questions arise about the relation between (3.1.2) and the invariance of  $\mu$  with respect to the semigroup, as well as about the properties of solutions to (3.1.2), i.e., the same questions that we have discussed in the finite-dimensional case. For example, let  $\mu$  be an invariant measure of a diffusion process in  $l^2$  or in the space  $\mathbb{R}^{\infty}$  of all real sequences governed by the stochastic differential equation

$$d\xi_t = \sqrt{2}dW_t + b(\xi_t)dt, \qquad (3.1.3)$$

where  $W_t$  is a Wiener process (in a suitable sense, see [21, Chapter 7]) and b is a Borel vector field. Then one can take for  $\mathcal{D}_0$  the class  $\mathcal{FC}_b^{\infty}$  of all functions of the form

$$f(l_1(x), \dots, l_n(x)),$$
 (3.1.4)

where  $f \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $l_1, \ldots, l_n$  are continuous linear functionals (e.g., just functions of  $x_1, \ldots, x_n$ ). Then L has the form

$$Lf = \operatorname{trace} f'' + \langle f', b \rangle.$$

However, as we shall see below in concrete examples, in the infinite-dimensional case it is often desirable to have a broader setting where b cannot be interpreted as a vector field with values in the original space (e.g., when dealing with  $l^2$  it may happen that v takes values in  $\mathbb{R}^{\infty}$ ). For this reason, the following more general framework is used.

Suppose that X is a locally convex space with dual  $X^*$  and that  $H \subset X$  is a dense separable Hilbert space such that the embedding operator is continuous. The inner product in H is denoted by  $(u, v)_H$ . This embedding defines the embedding  $j_H: X^* \to H$  since for each  $l \in X^*$  there is a unique element  $j_H(l) \in H$  with

$$\langle l,h\rangle = (j_H(l),h)_H \quad \forall h \in H.$$

Suppose also that a family  $\{l_i\} \subset X^*$  is given such that the vectors  $e_n := j_H(l_n)$  form an orthonormal basis in H. Let  $\mathcal{FC}_b^{\infty}(\{l_i\})$  denote the class of all functions of the form (3.1.4). Suppose also that we are given Borel functions  $a^{ij}, b^i$  on X. The infinite matrix with entries  $a^{ij}(x)$  will be denoted by A(x) and the collection of scalar functions  $b^i$  will be denoted by b, although we do not assume that A(x) and b(x) correspond to some operator or vector. Then we can consider the elliptic operator

$$L_{A,b}f(x) = \sum_{i,j} a^{ij}(x)\partial_{e_i}\partial_{e_j}f(x) + \sum_i b^i(x)\partial_{e_i}f(x).$$
 (3.1.5)

We shall say that a Radon measure  $\mu$  on X satisfies equation (3.1.1) with respect to the class  $\mathcal{FC}_b^{\infty}(\{l_i\})$  if  $a^{ij}, b^i \in L^1(\mu)$  for all i, j and (3.1.2) is fulfilled with  $\mathcal{D}_0 = \mathcal{FC}_b^{\infty}(\{l_i\})$ . The parabolic operators and equations are defined similarly in complete analogy with the finite-dimensional case.

Infinite-dimensional equations for measures have been considerably less studied so far as compared to the finite-dimensional case. There are sufficient conditions for the existence and sometimes for the uniqueness of solutions, but not much is known about their properties and connections between infinitesimal invariance and proper invariance with respect to the associated semigroups (the very existence of such semigroups has also been less studied). There exists an extensive literature on stationary distributions of infinite-dimensional diffusions (see, e.g., the book [67]), especially connected with stochastic partial differential equations (see [11], [52], [57], [58], [62], [63], [70], [74], [79], [82], [90], [91], [128], [150], [163]), infinite gradient systems, Gibbs measures, and stochastic quantization (see [5], [6], [56], [83], [85], [86], [96], [138]); in these works numerous additional references can be found. Standard methods of proving the existence of stationary distributions are based on Prohorov's theorem and Lyapunov functions combined with a priori estimates (see, e.g., [59], [113], [114]) or on convergence of transition probabilities (which in turn employs various assumptions of dissipativity and Lyapunov functions). The same techniques are used for the proof of existence of solutions to elliptic or parabolic equations. Generally speaking, existence results for elliptic equations can be obtained under broader assumptions on the coefficients, since they do not assume the existence of the corresponding diffusions (the latter is usually more stringent). However, there are cases where there is no direct proof of the solvability of the elliptic equation for measures, and one has to construct a process and analyze its transition semigroup.

For solutions to elliptic and parabolic equations for measures on infinite-dimensional spaces we can consider various properties of their finite-dimensional projections, their mutual absolute continuity or singularity, and directional properties such as continuity or differentiability. We recall that a Radon measure  $\mu$  on a locally convex space X is continuous along a vector  $h \in X$  if  $\lim_{t\to 0} ||\mu_{th} - \mu|| = 0$ , where  $\mu_{th}(B) := \mu(B + th)$  for every Borel set B. If, for every Borel set B, the function  $t \mapsto \mu(B + th)$  is differentiable, then  $\mu$  is called Fomin differentiable along h. This is equivalent to the existence of a function  $\beta_h^{\mu} \in L^1(\mu)$ , called the logarithmic derivative of  $\mu$  along h, such that the following integration by parts formula holds for all functions  $f \in \mathcal{FC}_h^{\infty}(X)$ :

$$\int_X \partial_h f(x) \, \mu(dx) = - \int_X f(x) \beta_h^\mu(x) \, \mu(dx).$$

If  $X = \mathbb{R}^d$ , then a measure  $\mu$  is Fomin differentiable along all vectors precisely when it has a density  $\varrho \in W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ; then  $\beta_h^{\mu} = \langle \nabla \varrho, h \rangle$ . In the infinite-dimensional case, only the zero measure is differentiable along all vectors. A detailed account of the theory of differentiable measures is given in [20], [22]. There is also a reasonable infinite-dimensional analog of the logarithmic gradient  $\nabla \varrho / \varrho$ , although neither  $\varrho$  nor  $\nabla \varrho$  exist separately. Namely, suppose that we a have a continuously and densely embedded Hilbert space  $H \subset X$  generating the embedding  $j: X^* \to X$  as explained above. If there exists a  $\mu$ -measurable mapping  $\beta_H: X \to X$  such that for each  $l \in X^*$  the measure  $\mu$  is differentiable along j(l) and

$$\beta^{\mu}_{i(h)} = \langle l, \beta_{H} \rangle,$$

then  $\beta_{\mu}$  is called a logarithmic gradient of  $\mu$  associated with H. However, it can happen that the measure  $\mu$  is differentiable along all vectors j(l), where  $l \in X^*$ , but there is no logarithmic gradient. Concerning this object, see [22, Chapter 7].

Let  $\{l_i\} \subset X^*$  be such that for the vectors  $e_i := j(l_i)$  we have  $l_j(e_i) = \delta_{ij}$ . We shall assume additionally that the functionals  $l_i$  separate points in X. Then, under mild assumptions on X (see [21, Chapter 7]) there is a process  $W_t$  in X, called a Wiener process in X associated with H, such that the scalar processes  $\langle l_i, W_t \rangle$  are independent Wiener processes. It is known (see [7], [22, Chapter 12]) that under broad assumptions, for a given probability measure  $\mu$  possessing a logarithmic gradient  $\beta_H$ , there is a diffusion process in X governed by the stochastic differential equation (3.1.3) with  $b = \beta_H$  such that  $\mu$  is its invariant measure and the corresponding transition semigroup  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is symmetric on  $L^2(\mu)$ ; its generator is given by

$$Lf = \sum_{i}^{\infty} [\partial_{e_i}^2 f + \langle l_i, \beta_{\scriptscriptstyle H} \rangle \partial_{e_i} f]$$

on functions  $f \in \mathcal{FC}_b^{\infty}(\{l_i\})$ , where  $f_0 \in C_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . An efficient method of constructing more general processes is based on perturbations of the drift  $\beta_H$ .

As in the finite-dimensional case, the symmetry of the operator  $L_{I,b}$  is equivalent to b being in some sense of gradient type. The exact result is as follows.

3.1.1. PROPOSITION. Let  $b^i \in L^2(\mu)$ . The operator

$$Lf = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} [\partial_{e_i}^2 f + b^i \partial_{e_i} f]$$

is symmetric on  $\mathcal{FC}_b^{\infty}(\{l_i\}) \subset L^2(\mu)$  precisely when the measure  $\mu$  is differentiable along each vector  $e_n = j(l_n)$  and  $\beta_{e_n}^{\mu} = b^n \mu$ -a.e. PROOF. If  $\beta_{e_n}^{\mu}$  exists, then

$$\int_X g(x)\partial_{e_n}^2 f(x)\,\mu(dx) = -\int_X \left[\partial_{e_n}g(x)\partial_{e_n}f(x) + g(x)\partial_{e_n}f(x)\beta_{e_n}^\mu(x)\right]\mu(dx),$$

whence we obtain the equality of the integrals of gLf and fLg for all functions  $f, g \in \mathcal{FC}_b^{\infty}(\{l_i\})$ . Conversely, suppose that L is symmetric on  $\mathcal{FC}_b^{\infty}(\{l_i\})$ . Let  $f = \exp(il), g = \exp(itl_n)$ , where l is a finite linear combination of the functionals  $l_i$ . Let  $\langle l, b \rangle := \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} l(e_k)b^k$ , where the sum is finite since only finitely many numbers  $l(e_k)$  are nonzero. Then

$$Lf = -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} l(e_k)^2 e^{il} + i \langle l, b \rangle e^{il}, \quad Lg = -t^2 e^{itl_n} + itb^n e^{itl_n},$$

whence by the symmetry of L we obtain the equality

$$\int_X e^{il+itl_n} \left[ -\sum_{k=1}^\infty l(e_k)^2 + i\langle l, b \rangle \right] \mu(dx) = \int_X e^{il+itl_n} \left[ -t^2 + itb^n \right] \mu(dx).$$

Letting  $\xi := l + tl_n$  and replacing l by  $\xi - tl_n$ , we can write this as follows:

$$\int_X e^{i\xi} \left[ -\sum_{k=1}^\infty \xi(e_k)^2 + i\langle\xi, b\rangle \right] \mu(dx) = 2 \int_X e^{i\xi} \left[ -t\xi(e_n) + itb^n \right] \mu(dx).$$

Since the left-hand side is independent of t, the right-hand side must vanish. Therefore, we obtain

$$-i\xi(e_n)\int_X e^{i\xi}\,\mu(dx) = \int_X e^{i\xi}b^n\,\mu(dx)$$

for any functional  $\xi$  that is a finite linear combination of the functionals  $l_i$ . Since  $\mu$  is a Radon measure and  $\{l_i\}$  separates points in X, it follows that the same is true for any  $\xi \in X^*$ . This identity yields that  $\mu$  is differentiable along  $e_n$  and  $\beta_{e_n}^{\mu} = b^n$  (see [22, Theorem 3.6.7]). Note that without the assumption that  $\{l_i\}$  separates points in X we could obtain the same assertion for  $\mu$  on the  $\sigma$ -algebra generated by  $\{l_i\}$ .

The case of non-constant A is studied similarly in [121].

The case of gradient-type drifts (this concept in turn admits different interpretations in infinite dimensions) has deep and interesting connections with the study of Gibbs measures, i.e., measures with given conditional distributions. For example, for a broad class of models, constructing a Gibbs measure is equivalent to constructing a measure with a given logarithmic gradient; the latter problem is studied in [5], [6], [20], [22], [99], [100], [101], [102]; in particular, the method of reconstructing a measure with a given logarithmic gradient by means of Lyapunov functions was initiated by A.I. Kirillov. For general elliptic equations for measures this method was developed in [37], [39], [48]. The uniqueness problem for elliptic equations for measures becomes especially difficult in infinite dimensions. There are simple examples where there is no uniqueness even for A = I and drifts b that are bounded linear operators on Hilbert spaces (see [37], [22, §7.6]). In the framework of Gibbs measures, such examples arise in cases of phase transitions, i.e., distinct Gibbs distributions with equal conditional distributions. Concerning existence and uniqueness of solutions to parabolic equations, see [27], [29], [127].

Let us give a number of typical examples, in which the described framework is applied to the study of stochastic partial differential equations of the type of stochastic porous media equations, reaction-diffusion equations, and Burgers and Navier–Stokes equations. The precise formulations and additional references can be

84

found in [39], [25]. A general plan of studying such equations is as follows. The primary object is a nonlinear partial differential equation of the form

$$\partial \xi(u,t) / \partial t = \Delta \left[ \Psi(\xi) \right](u,t) + \Phi(\xi)(u,t),$$

where  $\Psi$  and  $\Phi$  are some functions on the real line, e.g., polynomials. The analysis of this equation usually turns out to be very complicated (e.g., the Navier–Stokes equation). However, it turns out that adding a stochastic noise in the right-hand side leads to substantial simplifications (it is even possible that the stochastic equation has at least the same physical significance). This stochastic partial differential equation is heuristically written as

$$d\xi_t = \sqrt{2}dW_t + \left(\Delta[\Psi(\xi_t)] + \Phi(\xi_t)\right)dt.$$

But a rigorous interpretation in the case of nonlinear functions  $\Psi$  and  $\Phi$  is not obvious. One possible approach to this problem is to consider the associated infinitedimensional elliptic operator L on a suitable domain, find an infinitesimally invariant measure  $\mu$  for L, construct a Markov semigroup on  $L^2(\mu)$  with  $\mu$  as an invariant measure in such a way that the generator of this semigroup extends L, and finally construct a Markov process solving the martingale problem corresponding to this operator. One can also try to solve the parabolic equation for the transition probabilities of the expected process. The case  $\Psi(s) = s^m$  and  $\Phi = 0$  corresponds to the porous media equation and the case  $\Psi(s) = s$  and  $\Phi(s) = s^m$  to the reactiondiffusion equation.

Let  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded open domain with smooth boundary, let  $\{e_n\}$  be the orthonormal basis in  $L^2(D)$  formed by the eigenfunctions of the Laplacian  $\Delta$ with Dirichlet boundary condition, and let  $\lambda_1$  be the minimal (in absolute value) eigenvalue. Let  $\Psi$  be a  $C^1$ -function with  $\Psi(0) = 0$  such that for some positive numbers  $\kappa_0$ ,  $C_0$ ,  $\kappa_1$ , and  $r \geq 1$  we have

$$\kappa_0|s|^{r-1} \le \Psi'(s) \le C_0 + \kappa_1|s|^{r-1} \quad \text{for all } s \in \mathbb{R}^1,$$

and let  $\Phi$  be a continuous function satisfying the condition

$$\Phi(s)| \le C + \delta|s|^r,$$

where  $0 < \delta < 4\kappa_0\lambda_1(r+1)^{-2}$  and *C* is a constant. For example, it suffices that  $|\Phi(s)| \leq \kappa_2 + \kappa_3 |s|^q$ , where  $q \in (0, r)$ ,  $\kappa_2, \kappa_3 \in (0, +\infty)$ . We are interested in the existence of infinitesimally invariant measures for the infinite-dimensional elliptic operator *L* which is informally given by

$$Lf := \Delta_Q f + \langle b, \nabla f \rangle, \quad b(x) = \Delta \Psi(x) + \Phi(x)$$

on smooth cylindrical functions defined on  $X := L^2(D)$  or on the negative Sobolev space  $H^{2,-1}(D)$ . A rigorous interpretation is as follows. Let

$$b^{i}(x) := \int_{D} \left[ \Psi(x(u)) \Delta e_{i}(u) + \Phi(x(u))e_{i}(u) \right] du, \quad x \in L^{r}(D).$$

Let  $q_i > 0$  be such that  $S := \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} q_i < \infty$ . The operator

$$Lf := \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left[ q_i \partial_{e_i}^2 f + b^i \partial_{e_i} f \right]$$

where  $\partial_{e_i}$  denotes the partial derivative along  $e_i$ , is well-defined on  $\mathcal{FC}^{\infty}_b(\{l_i\})$ , where  $l_i(x) = (x, e_i)_2$  and  $(x, y)_2$  is the inner product in  $L^2(D)$ . The second order part in L can be regarded as trace  $(QD^2f)$ , where Q is the operator on X defined by  $Qe_i = q_ie_i$ . The operator Q is the covariance operator of a Wiener process  $W_t$  in the indicated stochastic equation. A minor nuance is that the functions  $b^i$ , hence also Lf, are defined not on all of X, but only on  $L^r(D)$ .

3.1.2. THEOREM. Under the stated assumptions, there exists a Borel probability measure on  $\mu$  on  $L^r(D)$  that is infinitesimally invariant for L.

For example, if  $\Psi(t) = t^r$ , where r is an odd number, then we can take for  $\Phi$  any polynomial of degree r with a sufficiently small leading coefficient (the smallness of which depends on  $\lambda_1$ , in particular, one can take  $\Phi(x) = x^r$  provided that  $\lambda_1$ is sufficiently large). Similarly, one considers the parabolic equation with a timedependent drift b formally given by  $b(x,t)(u) = \Delta_u[\Psi(x(u),t)] + \Phi(x(u),t)$ , where  $\Psi$  and  $\Phi$  are real functions on  $\mathbb{R}^1 \times [0,1]$ . Set

$$b^{i}(x,t) := \int_{D} \left[ \Psi(x(u),t) \Delta e_{i}(u) \, du + \Phi(x(u),t) e_{i}(u) \right] du, \quad x \in L^{r}(D).$$

The corresponding parabolic operator L is given by

$$Lf = \partial_t f + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} q_i \partial_{e_i}^2 f + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} b^i \partial_{e_i} f.$$

Suppose that  $\Psi$  and  $\Phi$  are continuous functions,  $\Psi$  has a continuous partial derivative  $\partial_s \Psi(s, t)$ , and

$$\kappa_0 |s|^{r-1} \le \partial_s \Psi(s,t) \le C_1 + \kappa_1 |s|^{r-1}, \ |\Phi(s,t)| \le C_2 + \kappa_2 |s|^r,$$

where  $\kappa_0, \kappa_1, \kappa_2, C_1, C_2 \in (0, +\infty)$  are some constants and  $r \geq 1$ . Under these assumptions there exists a probability measure  $\mu$  on  $L^r(D) \times [0, 1)$  satisfying the parabolic equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  with a suitable initial data.

A stochastic Navier–Stokes type equation is considered in the space X of all  $\mathbb{R}^d$ -valued mappings  $\xi = (\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^d)$  such that  $\xi^j \in W_0^{2,1}(D)$  and div  $\xi = 0$ . The space X is equipped with a Hilbert norm  $\|\xi\|_0$  defined by  $\|\xi\|_0^2 := \sum_{j=1}^d \|\nabla\xi^j\|_{L^2}^2$ . The equation is written formally as

$$d\xi(x,t) = \sqrt{2}dW(x,t) + \left[\Delta_x\xi(x,t) - \sum_{j=1}^d \xi^j(x,t)\partial_{x_j}\xi(x,t) + F(x,\xi(x,t),t)\right]dt,$$

where W is a suitable Wiener process in X and  $F: D \times \mathbb{R}^d \times (0,1) \to \mathbb{R}^d$  is a bounded continuous mapping. Since the Laplacian  $\Delta$  is not defined on all of X, this equation requires some interpretation. Our approach suggests the following procedure. Let  $\{\eta_n\}$  be the eigenbasis in the closure of X in  $L^2(D, \mathbb{R}^d)$  formed by the eigenfunctions of  $\Delta$ , where  $\eta_n \in X$ . Let us introduce the functions

$$b^{n}(\xi,t) := (\xi, \Delta \eta_{n})_{2} - \sum_{j=1}^{d} (\partial_{x_{j}}\xi, \xi^{j}\eta_{n})_{2} + \left(F(\cdot, \xi(\cdot), t), \eta_{n}\right)_{2}.$$

These functions are defined already on the whole X. It is easily verified that they are continuous on all balls in X with respect to the topology from  $L^2(D, \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Choosing an appropriate Wiener process we arrive at the parabolic operator

$$Lf(\xi,t) = \partial_t f(\xi,t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_n \partial_{\eta_n}^2 f(\xi,t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} b^n(\xi,t) \partial_{\eta_n} f(\xi,t).$$

Here we also have a probability measure  $\mu$  on  $X \times [0, 1)$  satisfying the parabolic equation  $L^*\mu = 0$  with any initial distribution  $\mu_0$  for which  $\|\xi\|_0^2 \|\xi\|_2^k \in L^1(\mu_0)$  for all k. If F does not depend on t, then one can consider similarly the elliptic equation and establish the existence of infinitesimally invariant measures of the stochastic Navier–Stokes equation.

### 3.2. Properties of solutions

The results of Chapter 1 yield certain properties of the finite-dimensional projections of a measure  $\mu$ , satisfying an infinite-dimensional equation, generated by the mappings  $P_n x = (l_1(x), \ldots, l_n(x))$ . We shall assume that we are given an embedding  $H \subset X$  generating the embedding  $j: X^* \to H$ , and the functionals  $l_i$  are such that the vectors  $e_i := j(l_i)$  have the property  $l_i(e_j) = \delta_{ij}$ . Let  $\mu$  be a probability measure satisfying the equation  $L^*_{A,b}\mu = 0$  with  $A = (a^{ij})_{i,j\geq 1}$  and  $b = (b^i)_{i\geq 1}$ in the sense explained above.

Let  $\mathbf{E}_n$  denote the conditional expectation with respect to the  $\sigma\text{-field}$  generated by  $P_n$  and let

$$\sigma_n^{ij} := \mathbf{E}_n \sigma^{ij}, \quad b_n^i := \mathbf{E}_n b^i.$$

We consider the elliptic operator

$$L_n f := \sum_{i,j=1}^n a_n^{ij}(x) \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} f(x) + \sum_{i=1}^n b_n^i(x) \partial_{x_i} f(x)$$

on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . For the measures  $\mu_n := \mu \circ P_n^{-1}$  on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , where  $\mu \circ P_n^{-1}(B) := \mu(P_n^{-1}(B))$ , we obtain

$$L_n^*\mu_n = 0.$$

Indeed, if  $f(x) = f(l_1(x), \ldots, l_n(x))$ , then

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} L_n \varphi(y) \, \mu_n(dy) &= \int_X \Big[ \sum_{i,j \le n} a_n^{ij}(x) \partial_{e_i} \partial_{e_j} \varphi(l_1(x), \dots, l_n(x)) \\ &+ \sum_{i \le n} b_n^i(x) \partial_{e_i} \varphi(l_1(x), \dots, l_n(x)) \Big] \, \mu(dx) \\ &= \int_X \Big[ \sum_{i,j \le n} a^{ij}(x) \partial_{e_i} \partial_{e_j} \varphi(l_1(x), \dots, l_n(x)) \\ &+ \sum_{i \le n} b^i(x) \partial_{e_i} \varphi(l_1(x), \dots, l_n(x)) \Big] \, \mu(dx) = 0 \end{split}$$

3.2.1. EXAMPLE. Suppose that the functions  $a^{ij}$  are constant and the matrices  $(a^{ij})_{i,j\leq n}$  are positive and that  $b^i \in L^p(\mu)$  for all  $p < \infty$ . Then  $\mu_n$  has a bounded continuous density  $\varrho_n$  of the class  $W^{p,1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for all n.

If we have only that  $b^i \in L^2(\mu)$ , then  $\mu_n$  has a density  $\varrho_n \in W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $|\nabla \varrho_n/\varrho_n|^2 \in L^2(\mu_n)$ .

If we have  $\exp(c_i|b^i|) \in L^1(\mu)$  for some  $c_i > 0$ , then the continuous density  $\rho_n$  is positive.

Other applications of the results in the first two chapters to finite-dimensional projections of solutions of infinite-dimensional equations for measures are given in [43]. For some special equations, there are other results, e.g., certain uniform local estimates for measures of balls and densities, see [14], [1], [163]. However, the following question remains open. Let a probability measure  $\mu$  on a separable Hilbert space satisfy the equation  $L_{I,b}^* = \mu = 0$  with a continuous or even locally Lipschitzian drift b; is it then positive on all balls of positive radius? In a number of special cases positive results are known; for example, this is the case if the measure  $\mu$  is equivalent to some measure possessing the indicated property (say, Gaussian).

It is more difficult to obtain infinite-dimensional properties of solutions which could be regarded as infinite-dimensional analogs of absolute continuity and differentiability. There are results asserting that, under rather special assumptions, a stationary distribution of an infinite-dimensional diffusion or a solution to an elliptic equation is absolutely continuous with respect to a given measure (typically Gaussian) and its density belongs to some Sobolev class; see [23], [31], [36], [37], [64], [65], [67], [78], [88], [90], [95], and the references in [22, Chapter 12]. It should be noted that Tolmachev [171] constructed an example of an infinite-dimensional diffusion with smooth coefficients and bounded and uniformly nondegenerate diffusion coefficient such that its transition probabilities and stationary distribution have no directions of continuity (in the sense defined above). A long-standing open problem is whether this can happen if A = I. Some positive results for special drifts b can be found in the works cited above, here we mention only one typical example, which is a result in [37] solving a problem raised by Shigekawa [162]. For notational simplicity we formulate this result for the space  $\mathbb{R}^{\infty}$ , although it is valid for general locally convex spaces.

3.2.2. THEOREM. Let  $v = (v^i)$  be a Borel vector field on  $X = \mathbb{R}^{\infty}$  with values in  $H = l^2$  and let  $\mu$  be a Borel probability measure on  $\mathbb{R}^{\infty}$  satisfying equation (3.1.1) with A = I and b(x) = -x + v(x), where  $|v|_H \in L^2(\mu)$  and  $l_i \in L^2(\mu)$ ,  $l_i(x) = x_i$ . Then  $\mu$  is absolutely continuous with respect to the Gaussian measure  $\gamma$  that is the countable power of the standard Gaussian measure on the real line.

Related problems for infinite-dimensional manifolds are studied in [48], [49], [146], [147], [148], [97]. Concerning various problems connected with essential selfadjointness and uniqueness properties of infinite-dimensional elliptic operators and their generated semigroups, see [13], [118], [139], and also [22, Chapter 12], and the references in these works. All these problems will be considered in detail in a separate survey devoted entirely to the infinite-dimensional case.

# References

- A. Agrachev, S. Kuksin, A. Sarychev, A. Shirikyan, On finite-dimensional projections of distributions for solutions of randomly forced 2D Navier–Stokes equations. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Probab. Stat., V. 43 (2007), N 4, 399–415.
- [2] A. Albanese, L. Lorenzi, E. Mangino E., L<sup>p</sup>-uniqueness for elliptic operators with unbounded coefficients in R<sup>N</sup>, J. Funct. Anal., V. 256 (2009), N 4, 1238–1257.
- [3] A.A. Albanese, E.M. Mangino, Cores for Feller semigroups with an invariant measure, J. Differ. Eq., V. 225 (2006), N 1, 361–377; correction: J. Differ. Eq., V. 244 (2008), N 11, 2980–2982.
- [4] S. Albeverio, V. Bogachev, M. Röckner, On uniqueness of invariant measures for finite- and infinite-dimensional diffusions, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., V. 52 (1999), N 3, 325–362.
- [5] S. Albeverio, Yu.G. Kondratiev, T. Pazurek, M. Röckner, Existence of and a priori estimates for Euclidean Gibbs states, Tr. Mosk. Mat. Obs., V. 67 (2006), 3–103 (in Russian); English transl.: Trans. Moscow Math. Soc. 2006, 1–85.
- [6] S. Albeverio, Yu.G. Kondratiev, M. Röckner, T.V. Tsikalenko, A priori estimates for symmetrizing measures and their applications to Gibbs states, J. Funct. Anal., V. 171 (2000), N 2, 366–400.
- [7] S. Albeverio, M. Röckner, Stochastic differential equations in infinite dimensions: solutions via Dirichlet forms, Probab. Theor. Relat. Fields, V. 89 (1991), N 3, 347–386.
- [8] W. Arendt, G. Metafune, D. Pallara, Gaussian estimates for elliptic operators with unbounded drift, J. Math. Anal. Appl., V. 338 (2008), N 1, 505–517.
- [9] L. Arnold, W. Kliemann, Qualitative theory of stochastic systems, In: Probabilistic analysis and related topics, Vol. 3 (A.T. Bharucha-Reid ed.), pp. 1–79, Academic Press, New York, 1983.
  [10] D.G. Aronson, J. Serrin, Local behavior of solutions of quasilinear parabolic equations, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., V. 25 (1967), N 2, 81–122.
- [11] S. Assing, R. Manthey, Invariant measures for stochastic heat equations with unbounded coefficients, Stoch. Proc. Appl., V. 103 (2003), N 2, 237–256.
- [12] D. Bakry, L'hypercontractivité et son utilisation en théorie des semigroupes, Lectures on probability theory (Saint-Flour, 1992), pp. 1–114, Lecture Notes in Math., V. 1581, Springer, Berlin, 1994.
- [13] D. Bakry, M. Ledoux, Lévy-Gromov's isoperimetric inequality for an infinite-dimensional diffusion generator, Invent. Math., V. 123 (1996), N 2, 259–281.
- [14] V. Barbu, V.I. Bogachev, G. Da Prato, M. Röckner, Weak solutions to the stochastic porous media equation via Kolmogorov equations: the degenerate case, J. Funct. Anal., V. 237 (2006), N 1, 54–75.
- [15] P. Bauman, Positive solutions of elliptic equations in nondivergent form and their adjoints, Ark. Mat., V. 22 (1984), N 1-2, 153–173.
- [16] A. Bensoussan, Perturbation methods in optimal control, Wiley/Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1988.
- [17] O.V. Besov, V.P. Il'in, S.M. Nikol'skii, Integral representations of functions and imbedding theorems, Nauka, Moscow, 1975 (in Russian); English transl.: Winston & Sons, Washington; Halsted Press, New York – Toronto – London, 1978, 1979.
- [18] R.N. Bhattacharya, Criteria for recurrence and existence of invariant measures for multidimensional diffusions, Ann. Probab., V. 6 (1978), N 4, 541–553; correction: ibid., V. 8 (1980), N 6, 1194–1195.
- [19] R.N. Bhattacharya, S. Ramasubramanian, Recurrence and ergodicity of diffusions, J. Multivar. Anal., V. 12 (1982), N 1, 95–122.
- [20] V.I. Bogachev, Differentiable measures and the Malliavin calculus, J. Math. Sci. (New York), V. 87 (1997), N 5, 3577–3731.
- [21] V.I. Bogachev, Gaussian measures, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, Rhode Island, 1998.
  - 89

- [22] V.I. Bogachev, Differentiable measures and the Malliavin calculus, "Regular and Chaotic Dynamics", Moscow – Izhevsk, 2008 (in Russian); English transl.: Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, Rhode Island, 2010.
- [23] V.I. Bogachev, G. Da Prato, M. Röckner, Regularity of invariant measures for a class of perturbed Ornstein–Uhlenbeck operators, Nonlinear Diff. Equat. Appl., V. 3 (1996), N 2, 261– 268.
- [24] V.I. Bogachev, G. Da Prato, M. Röckner, Existence of solutions to weak parabolic equations for measures. Proc. London Math. Soc., V. 88 (2004), N 3, 753–774.
- [25] Bogachev V.I., Da Prato G., Röckner M. Invariant measures of generalized stochastic porous medium equations, Dokl. Russian Acad. Sci., V. 396 (2004), N 1, 7–11 (in Russian); English transl.: Dokl. Math., V. 69 (2004), N 3, 321–325.
- [26] V.I. Bogachev, G. Da Prato, Röckner M., On parabolic equations for measures, Comm. Partial Differ. Equat., V. 33 (2008), N 1-3, 397–418.
- [27] V.I. Bogachev, G. Da Prato, M. Röckner, Parabolic equations for measures on infinitedimensional spaces, Dokl. Russian Acad. Sci., V. 421 (2008), N 4, 439–444 (in Russian); English transl.: Dokl. Math., V. 78 (2008), N 1, 544–549.
- [28] V.I. Bogachev, G. Da Prato, M. Röckner, Infinite-dimensional Kolmogorov operators with time dependent drift coefficients, Dokl. Russian Acad. Sci., V. 419 (2008), N 5, 587–591 (in Russian); English transl.: Dokl. Math., V. 77 (2008), N 2, 276–280.
- [29] V.I. Bogachev, G. Da Prato, M. Röckner, Fokker–Planck equations and maximal dissipativity for Kolmogorov operators with time dependent singular drifts in Hilbert spaces, J. Funct. Anal., V. 256 (2009), N 3, 1269–1298.
- [30] V.I. Bogachev, G. Da Prato, M. Röckner, W. Stannat W., Uniqueness of solutions to weak parabolic equations for measures, Bull. Lond. Math. Soc., V. 39 (2007), N 4, 631–640.
- [31] V.I. Bogachev, N.V. Krylov, M. Röckner, Regularity of invariant measures: the case of nonconstant diffusion part, J. Funct. Anal., V. 138 (1996), N 1, 223–242.
- [32] V.I. Bogachev, N.V. Krylov, M. Röckner, Elliptic regularity and essential self-adjointness of Dirichlet operators on ℝ<sup>n</sup>, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), V. 24 (1997), N 3, 451–461.
- [33] V.I. Bogachev, N.V. Krylov, M. Röckner, On regularity of transition probabilities and invariant measures of singular diffusions under minimal conditions, Comm. Partial Diff. Equat., V. 26 (2001), N 11–12, 2037–2080.
- [34] V.I. Bogachev, N.V. Krylov, M. Röckner, Elliptic equations for measures: regularity and global bounds of densities, J. Math. Pures Appl., V. 85 (2006), N 6, 743–757.
- [35] V.I. Bogachev, E. Mayer-Wolf, Absolutely continuous flows generated by Sobolev class vector fields in finite and infinite dimensions, J. Funct. Anal., V. 167 (1999), N 1, 1–68.
- [36] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, Hypoellipticity and invariant measures for infinite dimensional diffusions, C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, T. 318 (1994), N 6, 553–558.
- [37] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, Regularity of invariant measures on finite and infinite dimensional spaces and applications, J. Funct. Anal., V. 133 (1995), N 1, 168–223.
- [38] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, A generalization of Hasminskii's theorem on existence of invariant measures for locally integrable drifts, Teor. Veroyatn. Primen., V. 45 (2000), N 3, 417–436; coorection: ibid., V. 46 (2001), N 3, 600 (in Russian); English transl.: Theory Probab. Appl., V. 45 (2000), N 3, 363–378.
- [39] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, Elliptic equations for measures on infinite dimensional spaces and applications, Probab. Theory Relat. Fields, V. 120 (2001), N 4, 445–496.
- [40] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, On L<sup>p</sup>-uniqueness of symmetric diffusion operators on Riemannian manifolds, Sbornik Math., V. 194 (2003), N 7, 15–24 (in Russian); English transl.: Sb. Math., V. 194 (2003), N 7, 969–978.
- [41] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, S.V. Shaposhnikov, Global regularity and estimates of solutions of parabolic equations for measures, Teor. Verojatn. Primen., V. 50 (2005), N 4, 652–674 (in Russian); English transl.: Theory Probab. Appl., V. 50 (2006), N 4, 561–581.
- [42] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, S.V. Shaposhnikov, Estimates of densities of stationary distributions and transition probabilities of diffusion processes, Teor. Veroyatn. Primen., V. 52 (2007), N 2, 240–270 (in Russian); English transl.: Theory Probab. Appl., V. 52 (2008), N 2, 209–236.
- [43] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, S.V. Shaposhnikov, Positive densities of transition probabilities of diffusion processes, Teor. Veroyatn. Primen., V. 53 (2008), N 2, 213–239 (in Russian); English transl.: Theory Probab. Appl., V. 53 (2009), N 2, 194–215.
- [44] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, S.V. Shaposhnikov, Lower estimates of densities of solutions of elliptic equations for measures, Dokl. Ross. Akad. Nauk, V. 426 (2009), N 2, 156–161 (in Russian); English transl.: Dokl. Math., V. 79 (2009), N 3, 329–334.

- [45] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, S.V. Shaposhnikov, Nonlinear evolution and transport equations for measures, Dokl. Russian Acad., V. 429 (2009), N 1, 7–11 (in Russian); English transl.: Dokl. Math., V. 80 (2009), N 3, 785–789.
- [46] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, W. Stannat, Uniqueness of invariant measures and maximal dissipativity of diffusion operators on L<sup>1</sup>, In: "Infinite Dimensional Stochastic Analysis" (Proceedings of the Colloquium, Amsterdam, 11–12 February, 1999), Ph. Clément, F. den Hollander, J. van Neerven and B. de Pagter eds., Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences, pp. 39–54, Amsterdam, 2000.
- [47] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, W. Stannat, Uniqueness of solutions of elliptic equations and uniqueness of invariant measures of diffusions, Mat. Sb., V. 193 (2002), N 7, 3–36 (in Russian); English transl.: Sbornik Math., V. 193 (2002), N 7, 945–976.
- [48] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, F.-Y. Wang, Elliptic equations for invariant measures on finite and infinite dimensional manifolds, J. Math. Pures Appl., V. 80 (2001), N 2, 177–221.
- [49] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, F.-Y. Wang, Invariance implies Gibbsian: some new results, Comm. Math. Phys., V. 248 (2004), N 2, 335–355.
- [50] V.I. Bogachev, M. Röckner, T.S. Zhang, Existence of invariant measures for diffusions with singular drifts, Appl. Math. Optim., V. 41 (2000), N 1, 87–109.
- [51] A.A. Borovkov, Ergodicity and stability of stochastic processes. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, 1998.
- [52] Z. Brzezniak, Y. Li, Asymptotic compactness and absorbing sets for 2D stochastic Navier– Stokes equations on some unbounded domains, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., V. 358 (2006), N 12, 5587–5629.
- [53] P. Cattiaux, M. Fradon, Entropy, reversible diffusion processes, and Markov uniqueness, J. Funct. Anal., V. 138 (1996), N 1, 243–272.
- [54] P. Cattiaux, A. Guillin, F.-Y. Wang, L. Wu, Lyapunov conditions for super Poincaré inequalities, J. Funct. Anal., V. 256 (2009), N 6, 1821–1841.
- [55] P. Cattiaux, C. Léonard, Minimization of the Kullback information of diffusion processes, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré, V. 30 (1994), N 1, 83–132; correction: ibid., V. 31 (1995), N 4, 705–707.
  [56] P. Cattiaux, S. Roelly, H. Zessin, Une approche gibbsienne des diffusions browniennes infini-
- dimensionnelles, Probab. Theory Relat. Fields, V. 104 (1996), N 2, 147–179. [57] S. Cerrai, M. Freidlin, Averaging principle for a class of stochastic reaction-diffusion equations,
- Probab. Theory Relat. Fields, V. 144 (2009), N 1-2, 137–177.
- [58] A. Chojnowska-Michalik, Transition semigroups for stochastic semilinear equations on Hilbert spaces, Disser. Math. (Rozprawy Mat.), V. 396 (2001), 59 pp.
- [59] P.L. Chow, R.Z. Khasminskii, Stationary solutions of nonlinear stochastic evolution equations, Stochastic Anal. Appl., V. 15 (1997), N 5, 671–699.
- [60] M. Cohen de Lara, Geometric and symmetry properties of a nondegenerate diffusion process, Ann. Probab., V. 23 (1995), N 4, 1557–1604.
- [61] A.-B. Cruzeiro, P. Malliavin, Nonperturbative construction of invariant measure through confinement by curvature, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9). V. 77 (1998), N 6, 527–537.
- [62] G. Da Prato, Kolmogorov equations for stochastic PDEs, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2004.
- [63] G. Da Prato, A. Debussche, Ergodicity for the 3D stochastic Navier–Stokes equations. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), V. 82 (2003), N 8, 877–947.
- [64] G. Da Prato, A. Debussche, Absolute continuity of the invariant measures for some stochastic PDEs, J. Stat. Phys., V. 115 (2004), N 1-2, 451–468.
- [65] G. Da Prato, A. Debussche, B. Goldys, Some properties of invariant measures of non symmetric dissipative stochastic systems, Probab. Theory Relat. Fields, V. 123 (2002), N 3, 355–380.
- [66] G. Da Prato, A. Lunardi, On a class of self-adjoint elliptic operators in  $L^2$  spaces with respect to invariant measures, J. Differ. Eq., V. 234 (2007), N 1, 54–79.
- [67] G. Da Prato, J. Zabczyk, Ergodicity for infinite-dimensional systems, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- [68] V.N. Denisov, On the behaviour of solutions of parabolic equations for large values of time, Usp. Mat. Nauk, V. 60 (2005), N 4, 145–212 (in Russian); English transl.: Russ. Math. Surv., V. 60 (2005), N 4, 721–790.
- [69] J.L. Doob, Asymptotic properties of Markoff transitions probabilities, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., V. 63 (1948), N 3, 394–421.
- [70] W. E, J.C. Mattingly, Ya. Sinai, Gibbsian dynamics and ergodicity for the stochastically forced Navier–Stokes equation, Commun. Math. Phys., V. 224 (2001), N 1, 83–106.
- [71] A. Eberle, Uniqueness and non-uniqueness of singular diffusion operators, Lecture Notes in Math., v. 1718, Springer, Berlin, 1999.

[73] P. Echeverria, A criterion for invariant measures of Markov processes, Z. Wahrsch. Verw. Gebiete, B. 61 (1982), N 1, 1–16.

[74] J.-P. Eckmann, M. Hairer, Invariant measures for stochastic partial differential equations in unbounded domains, Nonlinearity, V. 14 (2001), N 1, 133–151.

[75] S.D. Eidelman, S.D. Ivasyshen, A.N. Kochubei, Analytic methods in the theory of differential and pseudo-differential equations of parabolic type. Basel, Birkhäuser, 2004.

- [76] L. Escauriaza, Weak type-(1,1) inequalities and regularity properties of adjoint and normalized adjoint solutions to linear nondivergence form operators with VMO coefficients, Duke Math. J., V. 74 (1994), N 1, 177–201.
- [77] L. Escauriaza, Bounds for the fundamental solution of elliptic and parabolic equations in nondivergence form, Comm. Partial Differ. Eq., V. 25 (2000), N 5-6, 821–845.
- [78] A. Es-Sarhir, Sobolev regularity of invariant measures for generalized Ornstein–Uhlenbeck operators, Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top., V. 9 (2006), N 4, 595–606.
- [79] A. Es-Sarhir, W. Stannat, Invariant measures for semilinear SPDE's with local Lipschitz drift coefficients and applications, J. Evol. Equ., V. 8 (2008), N 1, 129–154.
- [80] E.B. Fabes, C.E. Kenig, Examples of singular parabolic measures and singular transition probability densities, Duke Math. J., V. 48 (1981), N 4, 845–856.
- [81] B. Farkas, A. Lunardi, Maximal regularity for Kolmogorov operators in L<sup>2</sup> spaces with respect to invariant measures, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), V. 86 (2006), N 4, 310–321.
- [82] F. Flandoli, Regularity theory and stochastic flows for parabolic SPDEs, Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, Yverdon, 1995.
- [83] H. Föllmer, Random fields and diffusion processes, Lect. Notes in Math., V. 1362 (1988), 101–203.
- [84] S. Fornaro, N. Fusco, G. Metafune, D. Pallara, Sharp upper bounds for the density of some invariant measures, Proc. Royal Soc. Edinburgh, Sect. A, V. 139 (2009), N 6, 1145–1161.
- [85] J. Fritz, Stationary measures of stochastic gradient systems, infinite lattice models, Z. Wahr. theor. verw. Geb., B. 59 (1982), N 4, 479–490.
- [86] J. Fritz, T. Funaki, J.L. Lebowitz, Stationary states of random Hamiltonian systems, Probab. Theory Related Fields, V. 99 (1994), N 2, 211–236.
- [87] Y. Fujita, On a critical role of Ornstein–Uhlenbeck operators in the Poincaré inequality, Differ. Integ. Eq., V. 19 (2006), N 12, 1321–1332.
- [88] B. Gaveau, J.-M. Moulinier, Régularité des mesures et perturbations stochastiques de champs de vecteurs sur des espaces de dimension infinie, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci., V. 21 (1985), N 3, 593–616.
- [89] D. Gilbarg, N.S. Trudinger, Elliptic partial differential equations of second order, Springer, 1977.
- [90] B. Goldys, B. Maslowski, Lower estimates of transition densities and bounds on exponential ergodicity for stochastic PDE's, Ann. Probab., V. 34 (2006), N 4, 1451–1496.
- [91] M. Hairer, J.C. Mattingly, Spectral gaps in Wasserstein distances and the 2D stochastic Navier–Stokes equations, Ann. Probab., V. 36 (2008), N 6, 2050–2091.
- [92] R.Z. Hasminskii, Ergodic properties of reccurent diffusion processes and stabilization of the solution of the Cauchy problem for parabolic equations, Teor. Verojatn. Primen., V. 5 (1960), 196–214 (in Russian); Englis tranls.: Theor. Probab. Appl., V. 5 (1960), 179–196.
- [93] R.Z. Hasminskii, Stochastic stability of differential equations, Sijthoff and Noordhoff, 1980.
- [94] U.G. Haussmann, E. Pardoux, Time reversal of diffusions, Ann. Probab., V. 14 (1986), N 4, 1188–1205.
- [95] M. Hino, Existence of invariant measures for diffusion processes on a Wiener space, Osaka J. Math., V. 35 (1998), N 3, 717–734.
- [96] R.A. Holley, D.W. Stroock, In one and two dimensions, every stationary measure for a stochastic Ising model is a Gibbs state, Comm. Math. Phys., V. 55 (1977), N 1, 37–45.
- [97] R. Holley, D. Stroock, Diffusions on an infinite dimensional torus, J. Funct. Anal., V. 42 (1981), N 1, 29–63.
- [98] T. Jin, V. Maz'ya, J. Van Schaftingen, Pathological solutions to elliptic problems in divergence form with continuous coefficients, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, T. 347 (2009), N 13-14, 773–778. Preprint arXiv:0904.1674v1 (2009).
- [99] A.I. Kirillov, Two mathematical problems of canonical quantization. I, II, III, IV. Teoret. Mat. Fiz., V. 87 (1991), N 1, 22–33; V. 87 (1991), N 2, 163–172; V. 91 (1992), N 3, 377–395; V. 93 (1992), N 2, 249–263 (in Russian); English transl.: Theor. Math. Phys., V. 87 (1991), N 1, 345–353; V. 87 (1991), N 2, 447–454; V. 91 (1992), N 3, 591–603; V. 93 (1992), N 2, 1251–1261.

- [100] A.I. Kirillov, Infinite-dimensional analysis and quantum theory as semimartingale calculi, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk, V. 49 (1994), N 3, 43–92 (in Russian); English transl.: Russian Math. Surveys, V. 49 (1994), N 3, 43–95.
- [101] A.I. Kirillov, A field of sine-Gordon type in space-time of arbitrary dimension: the existence of the Nelson measure, Teoret. Mat. Fiz., V. 98 (1994), N 1, 12–28 (in Russian); English transl.: Theor. Math. Phys., V. 98 (1994), N 1, 8–19; A field of sine-Gordon type in space-time of arbitrary dimension, II. Stochastic quantization, Teoret. Mat. Fiz., V. 105 (1995), N 2, 179–197 (in Russian); English transl.: Theor. Math. Phys., V. 105 (1995), N 2, 1329–1345.
- [102] A.I. Kirillov, On the reconstruction of measures from their logarithmic derivatives, Izv. Ross. Akad. Nauk Ser. Mat., V. 59 (1995), N 1, 121–138 (in Russian); English transl.: Izv. Math., V. 59 (1995), N 1, 121–139.
- [103] M. Kolb, On the strong uniqueness of some finite dimensional Dirichlet operators, Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top., V. 11 (2008), N 2, 279–293.
- [104] A.N. Kolmogoroff, Ueber die analytischen Methoden in der Wahrscheinlichkeitsrechnung, Math. Ann., B. 104 (1931), 415–458.
- [105] A.N. Kolmogoroff, Zur Umkehrbarkeit der statistischen Naturgesetze, Math. Ann., B. 113 (1937), 766–772.
- [106] N.V. Krylov, Controlled diffusion processes, Nauka, Moscow, 1977 (in Russian); English transl.: Springer-Verlag, New York, 1980.
- [107] N.V. Krylov, Parabolic and elliptic equations with VMO coefficients, Comm. Partial Diff. Equations, V. 32 (2007), N 1-3, 453–475.
- [108] N.V. Krylov, Lectures on elliptic and parabolic equations in Sobolev spaces, Amer. Math. Soc., Rhode Island, 2008.
- [109] N.V. Krylov, Second-order elliptic equations with variably partially VMO coefficients, J. Funct. Anal., V. 257 (2009), N 6, 1695–1712.
- [110] H.J. Kushner, Stochastic stability and control, Academic Press, New York, 1967.
- [111] O.A. Ladyz'enskaya, V.A. Solonnikov, N.N. Ural'tseva, Linear and quasilinear equations of parabolic type, Amer. Math. Soc.: Rhode Island, Providence, 1968.
- [112] M. Ledoux, On an integral criterion for hypercontractivity of diffusion semigroups and extremal functions, J. Funct. Anal., V. 105 (1992), N 2, 444–465.
- [113] G. Leha, G. Ritter, Lyapunov-type conditions for stationary distributions of diffusion processes in Hilbert spaces, Stochastics, V. 48 (1994), N 3-4, 195–225.
- [114] G. Leha, G. Ritter, A. Wakolbinger, An improved Lyapunov-function approach to the behavior of diffusion processes in Hilbert spaces, Stoch. Anal. Appl., V. 15 (1997), N 1, 59–89.
- [115] X.-D. Li, Liouville theorems for symmetric diffusion operators on complete Riemannian manifolds, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), V. 84 (2005), N 10, 1295–1361.
- [116] G.M. Lieberman, Second order parabolic differential equations, World Scientific, Singapore, 1996.
- [117] V. Liskevich, On the uniqueness problem for Dirichlet operators, J. Funct. Anal., V. 162 (1999), N 1, 1–13.
- [118] V. Liskevich, M. Röckner, Strong uniqueness for certain infinite-dimensional Dirichlet operators and applications to stochastic quantization, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), V. 27 (1998), N 1, 69–91.
- [119] V.A. Liskevich, Yu.A. Semenov, Dirichlet operators: a priori estimates and the uniqueness problem, J. Funct. Anal., V. 109 (1992), N 1, 199–213.
- [120] W. Littman, A strong maximum principle for weakly L-subharmonic functions, J. Math. Mech., V. 8 (1959), 761–770.
- [121] H. Long, Necessary and sufficient conditions for the symmetrizability of differential operators over infinite dimensional state spaces, Forum Math., V. 12 (2000), N 2, 167–196.
- [122] L. Lorenzi, M. Bertoldi, Analytical methods for Markov semigroups, Boca Raton, Florida, Chapman & Hall/CRC; 2007.
- [123] A. Lunardi, Analytic semigroups and optimal regularity in parabolic problems, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1995.
- [124] T.J. Lyons, W.A. Zheng, Diffusion processes with nonsmooth diffusion coefficients and their density functions, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, V. 115 (1990), N 3-4, 231–242.
- [125] Z.-M. Ma, M. Röckner, Introduction to the theory of (non-symmetric) Dirichlet forms, Springer, 1992.
- [126] P. Malliavin, E. Nualart, Density minoration of a strongly non-degenerated random variable, J. Funct. Anal., V. 256 (2009), N 12, 4197–4214.
- [127] L. Manca, Kolmogorov equations for measures, J. Evol. Equ., V. 8 (2008), N 2, 231–262.

- Arch. Math. (Brno). V. 34 (1998), N 1, 153–172.
- [129] G. Metafune, D. Pallara, A. Rhandi, Global regularity of invariant measures, J. Funct. Anal., V. 223 (2005), N 2, 396–424.
- [130] G. Metafune, D. Pallara, A. Rhandi, Global properties of transition probabilities of singular diffusions, Theory Probab. Appl., V. 54 (2009), N 1, 116–148.
- [131] G. Metafune, D. Pallara, M. Wacker, Compactness properties of Feller semigroups, Studia Math., V. 153 (2002), N 2, 179–206.
- [132] S. Meyn, R.L. Tweedie, Markov chains and stochastic stability. Prologue by Peter W. Glynn. 2nd ed. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- [133] A. Millet, D. Nualart, M. Sanz, Integration by parts and time reversal for diffusion processes, Ann. Probab., V. 17 (1989), N 1, 208–238.
- [134] A. Millet, D. Nualart, M. Sanz, Time reversal for infinite-dimensional diffusions, Probab. Theory Relat. Fields, V. 82 (1989), N 3, 315–347.
- [135] Y. Miyahara, Invariant measures of ultimately bounded stochastic processes, Nagoya Math. J., V. 49 (1973), 149–153.
- [136] C.B. Morrey, Multiple integrals in the calculus of variations, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg New York, 1966.
- [137] J. Moser, A Harnack inequality for parabolic differential equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., V. 17 (1964), N 1, 101–134; correction: ibid., V. 20 (1967), N 1, 231–236.
- [138] N. Namiki, Stochastic quantization, Lecture Notes in Physics. New Series: Monographs, 9. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992.
- [139] J.M.A.M. van Neerven, Second quantization and the  $L^p$ -spectrum of nonsymmetric Ornstein–Uhlenbeck operators, Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top., V. 8 (2005), N 3, 473–495.
- [140] E. Nualart, Exponential divergence estimates and heat kernel tail, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, T. 338 (2004), N 1, 77–80.
- [141] E. Pardoux, A.Yu. Veretennikov, On the Poisson equation and diffusion approximation. I, Ann. Probab., V. 29 (2001), N 3, 1061–1085; II, ibid., V. 31 (2003), N 3, 1166–1192; III, ibid., V. 33 (2005), N 3, 1111–1133.
- [142] R.G. Pinsky, Positive harmonic functions and diffusion, Cambridge University Press, 1995.
- [143] F.O. Porper, S.D. Eidelman, Two-sided estimates of fundamental solutions of second-order parabolic equations, and some applications, Usp. Mat. Nauk, V. 39 (1984), N 3, 107–156 (in Russian); English transl.: Russ. Math. Surv., V. 39 (1984), N 3, 119–178.
- [144] F.O. Porper, S.D. Eidelman, Properties of solutions of second order parabolic equations with lower order terms, Tr. Mosk. Mat. Ob., V. 54 (1992), 118–159 (in Russian); English transl.: Trans. Mosc. Math. Soc., 1993, 101–137.
- [145] N.I. Portenko, Generalized diffusion processes, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 1990.
- [146] A.F. Ramírez, Relative entropy and mixing properties of infinite dimensional diffusions, Probab. Theory Relat. Fields, V. 110 (1998), N 3, 369–395.
- [147] A.F. Ramírez, Uniqueness of invariant product measures for elliptic infinite dimensional diffusions and particle spin systems, ESAIM, Probab. Stat., V. 6 (2002), 147–155.
- [148] A.F. Ramirez, S.R.S. Varadhan, Relative entropy and mixing properties of interacting particle systems, J. Math. Kyoto Univ., V. 36 (1996), N 4, 869–875.
- [149] M. Röckner, F.-Y. Wang, Supercontractivity and ultracontractivity for (non-symmetric) diffusion semigroups on manifolds, Forum Math., V. 15 (2003), N 6, 893–921.
- [150] M. Röckner, F.-Y. Wang, Concentration of invariant measures for stochastic generalized porous media equations, Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top., V. 10 (2007), N 3, 397–409.
- [151] M. Röckner, T.S. Zhang, Uniqueness of generalized Schrödinger operators. Part II, J. Funct. Anal., V. 119 (1994), N 2, 455–467.
- [152] M.V. Safonov, An example of a diffusion process with the singular distribution at a fixed moment, In: Abstracts Communications of the Third International Vilnius Conference on Probability Theory and Mathematical Statistics, Vol. II, pp. 133–134, Vilnius, 1981.
- [153] M. Scheutzow, H. von Weizsäcker, Which moments of a logarithmic derivative imply quasiinvariance? Doc. Math., V. 3 (1998), 261–272.
- [154] E. Schrödinger, Uber die Umkehrung der Naturgesetze. Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin, Phys.-Math. Kl., 1931, 12. Marz, N 8-9, 144–153.

- [155] S.V. Shaposhnikov, On Morrey's estimate of the Sobolev norms of solutions of elliptic equations, Mat. Zametki, V. 79 (2006), N 3, 450–469 (in Russian); English transl.: Math. Notes, V. 79 (2006), N 3, 413–430.
- [156] S.V. Shaposhnikov, Positiveness of invariant measures of diffusion processes, Dokl. Akad. Nauk, Ross. Akad. Nauk, V. 415 (2007), N 2, 174–179 (in Russian); English transl.: Dokl. Math., V. 76 (2007), N 1, 533–538.
- [157] S.V. Shaposhnikov, On interior estimates for the Sobolev norms of solutions of elliptic equations, Mat. Zametki, V. 83 (2008), N 2, 316–320 (in Russian); English transl.: Math. Notes, V. 83 (2008), N 2, 285–289.
- [158] S.V. Shaposhnikov, The nonuniqueness of solutions to elliptic equations for probability measures, Dokl. Akad. Nauk, Ross. Akad. Nauk, V. 420 (2008), N 3, 320–323 (in Russian); English transl.: Dokl. Math., V. 77 (2008), N 3, 401–403.
- [159] S.V. Shaposhnikov, On nonuniqueness of solutions to elliptic equations for probability measures, J. Funct. Anal., V. 254 (2008), N 10, 2690–2705.
- [160] S.V. Shaposhnikov, Lower estimates for densities of solutions to parabolic equations for measures, Dokl. Akad. Nauk, Ross. Akad. Nauk, V. 429 (2009), N 5, 600–604 (in Russian); English transl.: . Dokl. Math., V. 80 (2009), N 3, 887–890.
- [161] S.J. Sheu, Some estimates of the transition density of a nondegenerate diffusion Markov process, Ann. Probab., V. 19 (1991), N 2, 538–561.
- [162] I. Shigekawa, Existence of invariant measures of diffusions on an abstract Wiener space, Osaka J. Math., V. 24 (1987), N 1, 37–59.
- [163] A. Shirikyan, Qualitative properties of stationary measures for three-dimensional Navier– Stokes equations, J. Funct. Anal., V. 249 (2007), N 2, 284–306.
- [164] V.M. Shurenkov, Ergodic Markov processes, Nauka, Moscow, 1989 (in Russian).
- [165] P. Sjögren, On the adjoint of an elliptic linear differential operator and its potential theory, Ark. Mat., V. 11 (1973), N 1-2, 153–165.
- [166] A.V. Skorohod, Asymptotic methods in the theory of stochastic differential equations, Naukova Dumka, Kiev, 1987 (in Russian); English transl.: Amer. Math. Soc., Rhode Island, 1989.
- [167] C. Spina, Kernel estimates for a class of Kolmogorov semigroups, Arch. Math., V. 91 (2008), N 3, 265–279.
- [168] W. Stannat, (Nonsymmetric) Dirichlet operators on L<sup>1</sup>: existence, uniqueness and associated Markov processes, Annali Scuola Normale Super. di Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), V. 28 (1999), N 1, 99–140.
- [169] W. Stannat, Time-dependent diffusion operators on  $L^1$ . J. Evol. Equ., V. 4 (2004), N 4, 463–495.
- [170] D.W. Stroock, S.R.S. Varadhan, Multidimensional diffusion processes, Springer-Verlag, Berlin – New York, 1979.
- [171] N.A. Tolmachev, On the smoothness and singularity of invariant measures and transition probabilities of infinite-dimensional diffusions, Teor. Veroyatn. Primen., V. 43 (1998), N 4, 798– 808 (in Russian); English transl.: Theory Probab. Appl., V. 43 (1998), N 4, 655–664.
- [172] N.S. Trudinger, Linear elliptic operators with measurable coefficients, Ann. Scuola Normale Super. Pisa (3), V. 27 (1973), 265–308.
- [173] N.S. Trudinger, Maximum principles for linear, non-uniformly elliptic operators with measurable coefficients, Math. Z., B. 156 (1977), N 3, 291–301.
- [174] S.R.S. Varadhan, Lectures on diffusion problems and partial differential equations, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay, 1980.
- [175] A.Yu. Veretennikov, On polynomial mixing bounds for stochastic differential equations, Stochastic Processes Appl., V. 70 (1997), N 1, 115–127.
- [176] A.Yu. Veretennikov, On polynomial mixing and convergence rate for stochastic difference and differential equations, Teor. Veroyatn. Primen., V. 44 (1999), N 2, 312–327 (in Russian); English transl.: Theory Probab. Appl., V. 44 (1999), N 2, 361–374.
- [177] A.Yu. Veretennikov, S.A. Klokov, On subexponential mixing rate for Markov processes, Teor. Veroyatn. Primen., V. 49 (2004), N 1, 21–35 (in Russian); English transl.: Theory Probab. Appl., V. 49 (2005), N 1, 110–122.
- [178] A.Yu. Veretennikov, E. Pardoux, On the smoothness of an invariant measure of a Markov chain with respect to a parameter, Dokl. Akad. Nauk, V. 370 (2000), N 2, 158–160 (in Russian); English transl.: Dokl. Math., V. 61 (2000), N 1, 31–33.
- [179] L.M. Wu, Y. Zhang, A new topological approach to the  $L^{\infty}$ -uniqueness of operators and the  $L^1$ -uniqueness of Fokker–Planck equations, J. Funct. Anal., V. 241 (2006), N 2, 557–610.
- [180] M. Zakai, A Lyapunov criterion for the existence of stationary probability distributions for systems perturbed by noise, SIAM J. Control, V. 7 (1969), N 3, 390–397.

<sup>[181]</sup> V.V. Zhikov, Remarks on the uniqueness of a solution of the Dirichlet problem for secondorder elliptic equations with lower-order terms, Funk. Anal. Pril., V. 38 (2004), N 3, 15-28 (in Russian); English transl.: Funct. Anal. Appl., V. 38 (2004), N 3, 173–183.